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■ *•

The Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation 

(FDIC) is the independent deposit insurance 

agency created by Congress to maintain stability 

and public confidence in the nation's banking system.

In its unique role as deposit insurer of banks and 

savings associations, and in cooperation with the 

other federal and state regulatory agencies, the 

FDIC promotes the safety and soundness of insured 

depository institutions and the U.S. financial system 

by identifying, monitoring and addressing risks to 

the deposit insurance funds.

The FDIC promotes public understanding and sound 

public policies by providing financial and economic 

information and analyses. It minimizes disruptive 

effects from the failure of banks and savings 

associations. It assures fairness in the sale of financial 

products and the provision of financial services.

The FDIC's long and continuing tradition of public 

service is supported and sustained by a highly skilled 

and diverse workforce that responds rapidly and 

successfully to changes in the financial environment.
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FDIC
Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation
Washington, DC 20429-9990 Office of the Chairman

August 5, 1999

Sirs,

In accordance with the provisions of section 17(a) 
of the Federal Deposit Insurance Act, 
the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation 
is pleased to submit its Annual Report 
for the calendar year 1998.

Sincerely,

Donna Tanoue 
Chairman

The President of the U.S.Senate
The Speaker of the U.S. House of Representatives
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Chairman's Statement

In terms of earnings, 1998 was 
an extraordinary year for banking. 
Despite declines in net income 
in the third and fourth quarters, 
commercial banks earned a record 
$61.9 billion for the year as a whole. 
Return on assets— or ROA, a basic 
yardstick for profitability— was 
1.19 percent. Savings institutions' 
earnings reached a record $10.2 
billion in 1998— $1.4 billion above 
the previous record set in 1997. 
That $10.2 billion translated into 
a 1.01 percent ROA— the highest 
annual ROA for savings institutions 
since 1946.

The Bank Insurance Fund grew 
4.7 percent during the year to 
$29.6 billion, and the Savings 
Association Insurance Fund grew 
5 percent to $9.8 billion. The funds 
are strong— in fact, they 
are at record levels.

Having strong deposit insurance 
funds is important to everyone.
In effect, deposit insurance makes 
a bank failure a nonevent for an 
average household customer. 
Because the government provides 
an absolute guarantee, people do 
not have to worry about the safety 
of their savings, and because they 
do not have to worry, they do not 
feel compelled to rush to the bank 
to get their money out in response 
to the news— or rumor— that their 
institution is troubled financially.
In the 1980s and early 1990s, 
nine percent of the banks in the 
United States— nearly one-out- 
of-10— either failed altogether or 
received FDIC financial assistance 
to stay open, and nearly 1,300 
savings and loan associations also 
failed. Because of federal deposit 
insurance, there was no wide
spread panic or bank runs.

Deposit insurance protects deposi
tors. But just as important— perhaps 
even more important— is the fact 
that, in preventing banking panics, 
deposit insurance keeps the 
payments system operating.

In recent years, we've seen 
financial crises in Asia and Latin 
America— crises that, in part, have 
led 21 countries to institute explicit 
deposit insurance programs since 
May of 1995. Today, 68 countries 
have such systems. Clearly, the 
benefits of deposit insurance are 
appreciated worldwide.

Deposit insurance, however, doesn't 
alone ensure stability in the financial 
marketplace. It addresses only 
one potential problem, albeit a 
problem that can cripple, or even 
bring down, a financial system: 
the evaporation of public confidence 
in banking. Stability also requires 
both effective economic policy and 
effective prudential supervision.

When the three contributors— 
effective economic policy, effective 
prudential supervision, and deposit 
insurance— are present, experi
ence has shown that stability in 
the financial marketplace can be 
achieved and maintained.

The conditions in the industry— 
and the strength of our insurance 
funds— in 1998 gave the FDIC 
opportunity to focus on three 
corporate priorities— Year 2000

readiness; emerging risks facing 
insured institutions, and, therefore, 
the insurance funds; and diversity 
in our workforce. Each in its way 
contributed to our efforts to ensure 
that the FDIC remains the world's 
leading deposit insurance authority.

Year 2000

The Year 2000, or Y2K, computer 
challenge was the FDIC’s highest 
safety-and-soundness priority 
during the year. Examiners visited 
all FDIC-supervised institutions 
at least once by May 31 to assess 
progress toward Y2K readiness, 
and thereafter began a second 
round of on-site assessments.
To maintain communication with 
the banking industry on the issue, 
the FDIC— along with the Federal 
Financial Institutions Examination 
Council and industry trade associa
tions— conducted an extensive 
nationwide outreach program for 
bankers. The FDIC participated in 
more than 130 seminars attended 
by more than 11,000 bankers.

▲ Chairman Donna Tanoue
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The FDIC also addressed consumer 
awareness and concerns on the 
Y2K issue with two publications. 
The first was a brochure, The Year 
2000 Date Change, which answers 
basic consumer questions. All FDIC- 
insured institutions were provided 
with camera-ready versions of 
the brochure, in both English and 
Spanish, so they could reproduce 
copies for their customers. More 
than 10 million copies of the 
brochure were distributed in 1998. 
The second was a special issue 
of the quarterly FDIC Consumer 
News, which was devoted entirely 
to Y2K, and included features on 
the efforts of federal banking regu
lators to protect bank customers 
and a list of steps that consumers 
can take to help protect them
selves. We arranged to distribute 
this issue of the FDIC Consumer 
News through the federal Consumer 
Information Center in Pueblo, CO, 
as well as through insured financial 
institutions.

As the year drew to a close, it 
became more apparent that main
taining public confidence in banking 
was an important element in the 
Y2K challenge. If the conventional 
wisdom during 1999 were for 
people to take sensible precautions, 
most would likely take sensible 
precautions. If the conventional 
wisdom were for people to take 
extreme measures, many would 
take extreme measures. To promote 
sensible conventional wisdom, 
the FDIC followed a simple com
munications strategy: The more 
people know about Y2K and 
banking— and about the efforts 
of both the industry and the regula
tors— the more comfortable they 
would be. Public confidence will 
be strengthened by regular, consis
tent and clear communications.

During 1998, we told a three-part 
story on banking and Y2K.
One, bankers have been working 
aggressively to meet the Y2K 
challenge. Two, regulators are 
aggressively supervising the 
banks' preparations to become 
Y2K-ready. While no one could 
say there won't be glitches, we 
have a great deal of confidence 
that the banking industry will be 
ready. (In fact, by summer 1999, 
virtually all banks and savings 
institutions had satisfactory Y2K 
ratings.) And three, money in an 
FDIC-insured account is safe— 
the Year 2000 will not affect our 
guarantee.

As the year ended, the Corporation 
began to refine and expand the 
information we would communicate 
on Y2K and banking to meet ever- 
shifting public concerns.

Lastly, along with the Federal 
Reserve, the FDIC in December 
hosted a Year 2000 summit on 
behalf of the President's Council 
on Year 2000 Conversion for 
financial institutions and members 
of the utilities and telecommunica
tions industries. The forum focused 
on the participants' progress in 
addressing the Y2K computer 
challenge.

Emerging Risks

As a risk to the banking industry, 
the Y2K challenge is unique, but 
FDIC-insured institutions face 
other emerging risks as well.

By most measures of prosperity, 
this is the best economy in a 
generation. Inflation and unemploy
ment are at levels not seen since 
the 1960s. Consumer spending 
and business investment are 
propelling growth even at this 
late stage of the expansion.
The recent performance of the 
U.S. economy is a triumph of 
technology, as well as of U.S. 
fiscal and monetary policy.

It is also uncharted territory, so this 
is no time for complacency.

Moreover, our economy has 
become linked to the health o f— 
and events in— foreign economies. 
This linkage has increased the 
potential for sudden adverse 
economic and financial events.

During the third quarter of 1998, 
for example, a default in Russian 
debt and the resultant difficulties 
with hedge funds, such as those 
experienced by Long Term Capital 
Management, LP, showed how 
interconnected the world had 
become and how quickly and 
dramatically events can affect 
world markets. That makes our 
job of watching the horizon all 
the more important.

Strong competition in the financial 
marketplace has placed pressure 
on banks to look for ways to main
tain market share and increase 
profitability— and these pressures 
may also be forcing institutions 
to compromise their underwriting 
standards. The market currently 
rewards high-performing banks to 
an unprecedented degree, giving 
some lenders incentive to take 
increased risk.

For example, we are seeing a 
proliferation of non-traditional 
consumer lending that is currently 
highly profitable— subprime and 
high loan-to-value home equity 
lending. These "new frontiers" 
in consumer lending are pushing 
institutions into riskier territory 
where some are having problems, 
even though times are good.
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Responding to risks on the horizon 
is a challenge, but the FDIC also 
must respond to the long-term 
changes in the banking industry 
that will ultimately shape the way 
we do our jobs. Among these 
trends are the growing concentra
tion of the FDIC's exposure in the 
largest banks we insure; expansion 
of business activities conducted by 
banks and their affiliates; globaliza
tion of banking and increasing 
affiliations with non-bank financial 
companies; electronic banking; and 
the growing segmentation of the 
industry into a few  large banks, 
and many small ones. The changes 
underway make it more challeng
ing— and more important— for the 
FDIC to understand the risks 
being underwritten by the deposit 
insurance funds.

In light of globalization, the Cor
poration in September hosted an 
international conference on deposit 
insurance— the first of its kind.
The conference brought together 
senior government authorities 
from 62 countries. Discussions 
focused on the role of deposit 
insurance in maintaining public 
confidence in the world's banking 
systems.

The widespread response to our 
invitation reflected global interest 
in deposit insurance issues— and 
their importance. Deposit insurance 
is becoming a frequent condition 
of international funding agreements, 
and there is substantial international 
demand for the FDIC's assistance— 
and leadership— in this area.

During the conference it became 
clear that the FDIC has expertise 
and leadership to offer by designing 
and publishing best practices for 
deposit insurance systems around 
the world. It also became clear 
that the FDIC should take advan
tage of opportunities, such as 
gatherings of international bankers, 
to describe our best practices 
concepts. The FDIC was also 
asked to consider investigating 
the creation of an international 
consortium for sharing information 
on deposit insurance.

Diversity

As the year drew to a close, we 
created an executive-level Diversity 
Steering Committee to ensure an 
inclusive workplace at the FDIC. 
Diversity is a business imperative 
for the Corporation for three rea
sons. The first is that trends and 
events in the financial-services 
industry and in society at large 
affect the FDIC—we do not operate 
in a vacuum. In that regard, 
the composition of the national 
employee pool is dramatically 
changing as a result of the increas
ing diversity of our society. The 
second reason is that one out of 
every six employees in the FDIC 
is eligible to retire in the next five 
years. As a result, we will need 
to conserve and replenish our insti
tutional knowledge and expertise. 
For the Corporation to continue to 
be successful, we must retain and 
recruit the most qualified and most 
motivated employees that we can. 
We must maintain and enhance 
our reputation as a place where 
people want to work. We must 
continue to be an employer of 
choice. The third reason is that the 
increasing diversity of our society 
directly effects the depositors 
we insure and the customers and 
employees of financial institutions. 
We need to understand their 
needs.

I would like to end on a personal 
note. Since becoming FDIC 
Chairman, I have been reminded 
every day that the men and women 
of the FDIC are extraordinarily 
dedicated and talented. It is a 
privilege to work with them. The 
Corporation has challenges ahead 
of it— challenges from a changing 
financial industry and a changing 
America. But the FDIC will rise to 
meet those challenges because of 
the men and women who stand 
behind it and who, day in and day 
out, maintain the FDIC seal as a 
symbol of confidence. Because 
of the work they have done, 
the FDIC has a proud history, but 
because of who they are, the 
Corporation's best years are yet 
to come.

Sincerely,

Donna Tanoue
Chairman
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Highlights

March 12

The FDIC reported that insured 
commercial banks earned record 
annual profits for 1997, reaching 
$59.2 billion, up $6.8 billion from 
1996 results. Strong growth in 
loans and other interest-earning 
assets was responsible for the 
earnings rise. In 1998, bank earn
ings set a new record for the 
seventh consecutive year at 
$61.9 billion (see Pages 10-11).

April 4

FDIC Board member Eugene A. 
Ludwig's tenure on the Board 
ended with the expiration of his 
five-year term as Comptroller of 
the Currency. On December 8, 
John D. Hawke, Jr., was sworn 
in as the 28th Comptroller of the 
Currency, filling the FDIC Board 
seat vacated by Mr. Ludwig. In 
the interim, Julie L. Williams, as 
Acting Comptroller, served on 
the FDIC Board {see Page 21),

April 9

Omnibank, River Rouge, Michigan, 
was the first FDIC-insured bank to 
fail since November 1997. Two 
more banks failed during 1998.
All three banks were insured 
by the Bank Insurance Fund 
(see Page 31).

April 28

The FDIC Board voted to simplify 
the deposit insurance rules, 
making them easier to understand 
and less burdensome without 
reducing the consumer protections 
or safety-and-soundness standards 
for institutions (see Pages 28, 50).

April 29

At a two-day symposium, "Manag
ing the Crisis: The FDIC and RTC 
Experience," current and former 
FDIC and Resolution Trust 
Corporation (RTC) executives 
discussed the strategies they used 
to resolve troubled banks and 
thrifts during the financial crisis 
of the 1980s and '90s. Between 
1980 and 1994, a total of 1,617 
banks and 1,295 thrifts failed 
(see Page 32).

A new Internet service was 
launched giving the public quick 
and easy access to Community 
Reinvestment Act evaluations for 
banks and thrifts supervised by 
the FDIC. The FDIC's ratings and 
evaluations can be accessed 
from the agency's Web site 
(see Page 127).

May 26

Donna Tanoue was sworn in 
as the 17th Chairman of the FDIC. 
Andrew C. Hove, Jr., who had 
served as Acting Chairman since 
June 1997, resumed his position 
as the agency's Vice Chairman 
(see Pages 20-21).

May 31

FDIC examiners had completed 
at least one on-site review at each 
institution the FDIC regulates to 
assess efforts to address Year 
2000 issues. At year-end 1998,
97 percent of the institutions 
were making satisfactory progress 
toward achieving Year 2000 
readiness (see Pages 14-15, 25).

June 18

The FDIC announced its 
"Suspicious Internet Banking" 
Web site designed to help detect 
potentially fraudulent Internet 
banking activity. The site provides 
the public and the industry with a 
"user-friendly" vehicle for report
ing entities on the Internet that 
may be misrepresenting them
selves as legitimately chartered 
or federally insured depository 
institutions (see Pages 35,127),

July 7

The FDIC Board voted to expedite 
the processing of applications filed 
by well-managed, well-capitalized 
institutions. More than 90 percent 
of all FDIC-supervised banks 
meet the eligibility standards 
(see Pages 27, 51).
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August 17

With the rapid growth of electronic 
commerce and the increased 
collection of consumers’ personal 
information over the Internet, the 
FDIC alerted bankers to the issue 
of online privacy. The FDIC encour
aged institutions to maintain an 
awareness of consumers' online 
privacy concerns, while taking 
voluntary, specific actions to 
address them (see Page 35}.

Septem ber 9

Top government officials from 
62 countries, including the leaders 
of deposit insurance agencies 
in more than 20 nations, met in 
Washington, DC, for a three-day 
FDIC-sponsored conference to 
discuss the role of deposit insur
ance in sustaining public confidence 
in the world's banking systems 
(see Pages 3, 17, 29).

Septem ber 28

The FDIC unveiled a new Internet 
service allowing the public easy 
access to a listing of banks' pend
ing applications that are subject to 
public comment (see Page 127).

Selected Statistics l l i r - / ;

D o l l a r s  i n  m i l  l i o n s For the year ended December 31 
1998 1997 1996

Bank Insurance Fund

Financial Results
Revenue $ 2,000 $ 1,616 $ 1,655
Operating Expenses $ 698 $ 605 $ ' 505....1
Insurance Losses and Expenses S (6) $ (428) $ (251)
Net Income s 1,309 $ 1,438 $ 1,401 1
insurance Fund Balance S 29,612 $ 28,293 $ 26,854
Fund as a Percentage of Insured Deposits 1.38% 1.38% 1.34% 1

Selected Statistics
Total BIF-Member Institutions* 9,031 9,403 9,822
Problem Institutions 68 73 . . . .86" |
Total Assets of Problem Institutions s 5,000 $ 5,000 $ 7,000
Institution Failures 3 .........  1 5 j
Total Assets o f Failed Institutions s 370 $ 26 $ 183
Number of Active Failed Institution Receiverships 219 302 408

Savings Association Insurance Fund

Financial Results
Revenue $ 584 $ 550 $ 5,502
Operating Expenses $ 85 $ 72 $ 6 3 " I
Insurance Losses and Expenses $ 32 $ (2) $ (92)
Net Income $ 467 $ 480 $ 5,531 J
Insurance Fund Balance s 9,840 $ 9,368 $ 8,888
Fund as a Percentage of Insured Deposits 1.39% 1.36%

Selected Statistics
Total SAIF-Member Institutions 1,430 1,519 1,630
Problem Institutions 16 19 31 |
Total Assets o f Problem Institutions $ 6,000 $ 2,000 $ 6,000
Institution Failures 0 0 1 |
Total Assets o f Failed Institutions $ 0 $ 0 $ 35
Number of Active Failed Institution Receiverships 2 2 2 |

Commercial banks and savings institu tions. Does not include U.S. branches o f fore ign banks. 

Savings institu tions and commercial banks.
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S ep tem b er 3 0

Joseph H. Neely resigned as a 
member of the FDIC's Board of 
Directors. He had served since 
January 29, 1996.

A "user-friendly" electronic deposit 
insurance estimator called "EDIE" 
became available on the FDIC's 
Web site. The service enables 
consumers and financial institution 
employees to quickly check 
whether a depositor with multiple 
accounts at the same institution 
has exceeded the $100,000 statu
tory limit for deposit insurance 
coverage (see Pages 19, 36, 127).

Decem ber 18

The FDIC Board approved a
1999 budget of $1,218 billion, an
11 percent decrease ($148 million) 
from the $1,366 billion authorized 
for 1998. The budget will allow the 
agency to pursue its supervisory 
plans to ensure the safety and 
soundness of insured financial 
institutions and the industry's 
Year 2000 compliance (see 
Page 42).

▲ Donna Tanoue at her April 22nd Senate
confirmation hearing. She was accompanied 
to the hearing by both of Hawaii's senators— 
Daniel K. Inouye (top) and Daniel K. Akaka (below).
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Condition of the Funds

The FDIC administers two deposit 
insurance funds, the Bank Insurance 
Fund (BIF) and the Savings 
Association Insurance Fund (SAIF). 
The agency also manages a third 
fund fulfilling the obligations of the 
former Federal Savings and Loan 
Insurance Corporation (FSLIC), 
called the FSLIC Resolution Fund 
(FRF). On January 1, 1996, the 
FRF assumed responsibility for 
the assets and obligations of the 
Resolution Trust Corporation (RTC).

The economic environment in 
1998 remained favorable for the 
banking and thrift industries, 
resulting in relatively few problem 
institutions, high profitability and 
increased capitalization. During the 
third quarter, a default in Russian 
debt and the resulting difficulties 
with hedge funds, such as those 
experienced by Long Term Capital 
Management, LP, illustrated the 
speed with which financial market 
volatility and foreign sector devel
opments can affect insured institu
tions. During 1998, some insured 
institutions continued to increase 
their exposures to an economic 
downturn through higher-risk 
lending and other practices. This 
is suggested by evidence of weak
ening underwriting standards, 
narrower interest-rate spreads, 
and increased concentrations in 
higher-risk loans. The potential 
effect of these trends on the 
deposit insurance funds depends 
on the nature of any national or 
regional economic downturns.

An overview of the funds' 
performance during 1998 follows. 
(Full details about the funds 
appear in the financial state
ments that begin on Page 57.)

FDIC-lnsured Deposits (as of December 31,1998}

D o l l a r s  i n  b i l l i o n s
■  SAIF-lnsured
■  BIF-lnsured

1960 70 80 90

3,000

2,500

2,000

1,500

1,000

500 .. . . . . . .  null

H i , . is i i
1 if i n
1 I I i i i
1 I I i

U l l i i i
Source: Commercial Bank Call Reports and Thrift Finanial Reports 
Note: For more details, see pages 57 (BIF) and 75 (SAIF).

Bank Insurance Fund

With banks experiencing another 
highly profitable year and only 
three bank failures, 1998 was 
another positive year for the BIF, 
despite adverse trends in the global 
economic picture. The BIF has 
grown steadily from a negative fund 
balance of $7 billion at year-end 
1991 to $29.6 billion at year-end 
1998. The 1998 fund balance 
represents a 4.7 percent increase 
over the 1997 balance of $28.3 bil
lion. BIF-insured deposits grew 
by 4.1 percent in 1998, yielding 
a reserve ratio of 1.38 percent of 
insured deposits at year-end 1998, 
unchanged from year-end 1997.

Deposit insurance assessment 
rates in 1998 were unchanged 
from 1997. For both semiannual 
assessment periods in 1998, the 
Board voted to retain rates ranging 
from 0 to 27 cents annually per 
$100 of assessable deposits. Under 
these rates, 95.1 percent of BIF- 
member institutions, or 8,808 
institutions, were in the lowest- 
risk assessment rate category and

paid no deposit-insurance assess
ments for the second semiannual 
assessment period of 1998. This 
rate schedule resulted in an average 
1998 BIF rate of 0.08 cents per 
$100 of assessable deposits.

As in 1997, interest earned on U.S. 
Treasury investments ($1.7 billion) 
exceeded assessment revenue 
($22 million) and was the primary 
source of revenue for the BIF in 
1998. This was a result of minimal 
insurance losses and receivership 
activity, the continued low assess
ment rate schedule and the 
concentration of institutions 
in the lowest-risk category.

Bank failures continued to be 
minimal in 1998. Only three BIF- 
member institutions, with assets 
totaling $370 million, failed during 
the year. In 1997, one BIF-member 
institution with assets of $25.9 mil
lion failed. Estimated insurance 
losses of the banks that failed in 
1998 were $179 million, compared 
to $4 million in estimated losses 
for the one failure in 1997.
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Risk-Related Premiums

The fo llow ing tables show the number and percentage o f institutions insured by the Bank Insurance 
Fund (BIF) and the Savings Association Insurance Fund (SAIF), according to  risk classifications effective 
fo r the second semiannual assessment period o f 1998. Each institution is categorized based on its 
capitalization and a supervisory subgroup rating (A, B, or C), w hich is generally determined by on-site 
examinations. Assessment rates are basis points, cents per $100 o f assessable deposits, per year.

BIF Supervisory Subgroups*

Well Capitalized:
Assessment Rate 
Number o f Institutions 

Adequately Capitalized: 
Assessment Rate 
Number o f Institutions 

Undercapitalized: 
Assessment Rate 
Number of Institutions

0
8,808(95.1%)

3
132(1.4%)

10
4 (0.0%)

248 (2.7%) 

10
18 (0.2%)

24 
0 (0 .0%)

17
33(0.4% )

24
15(0.2%)

27
7(0.1% )

SAIF Supervisory Subgroups'

Well Capitalized:
Assessment Rate 
Number o f Institutions 

Adequately Capitalized:
Assessment Rate 
Number o f Institutions 

Undercapitalized:
Assessment Rate 
Number o f Institutions

0
1,354(91.9%)

14 (0.9%)

10
1(0.1%)

3
83(5.6% )

10
7 (0.5%)

24
0 (0 .0%)

24
5 (0.3%)

27 
1 (0 .1% )

BIF data exclude 111 SAIF-member "Oakar" institutions that hold BIF-insured deposits. The assessment rate 
reflects the rate for BIF-assessable deposits, which remained the same throughout 1998.

SAIF data exclude 760 BIF-member “Oakar" institutions that hold SAIF-insured deposits. The assessment rate 
reflects the rate for SAIF-assessable deposits, which remained the same throughout 1998.

For the BIF in 1998, investments 
in U.S. Treasury obligations contin
ued to be the main component 
of total assets, at 94.4 percent, 
compared to 93.8 percent in 1997. 
The financial position of the BIF 
continued to improve as cash and 
investments at year-end were 92 
times total liabilities, up from 85.6 
times the total liabilities in 1997.
In 1998, the BIF had operating 
expenses of $697.6 million and net 
income of $1.3 billion, compared 
to operating expenses of $605 mil
lion and net income of $1.4 billion 
in 1997.

Savings Association  
Insurance Fund

The SAIF ended 1998 with a fund 
balance of $9.8 billion, a 5.0 percent 
increase over the year-end 1997 
balance of $9.4 billion. Estimated 
insured deposits increased by 
2.8 percent in 1998. During the 
year, the reserve ratio of the SAIF 
grew from 1.36 percent of insured 
deposits to 1.39 percent.

For both semiannual assessment 
periods of 1998, the Board retained 
the rate schedule in effect for 
1997, a range of 0 to 27 cents 
annually per $100 of assessable 
deposits. Under this schedule, the 
percentage of SAIF-member insti
tutions that paid no assessments 
increased from 90.9 percent in the 
first semiannual assessment peri
od to 91.9 percent in the second 
half of the year, as more institutions 
qualified for the lowest-risk assess
ment rate category. This rate 
schedule resulted in an average 
1998 SAIF rate of 0.21 cents per 
$100 of assessable deposits.
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The SAIF earned $15 million in 
assessment income in 1998, com
pared to $563 million in interest 
income. In 1998, the SAIF had 
operating expenses of $85 million 
and net income of $467 million, 
compared to operating expenses 
of $72 million and net income 
of $480 million in 1997. For the 
second consecutive year, no SAIF- 
member institution failed in 1998.

Under the Deposit Insurance 
Funds Act of 1996, the FDIC must 
set aside all SAIF funds above 
the statutorily required Designated 
Reserve Ratio (DRR) of 1.25 per
cent of insured deposits in a Special 
Reserve on January 1,1999. No 
assessment credits, refunds or 
other payments can be made from 
the Special Reserve unless the 
SAIF reserve ratio falls below 
50 percent of the DRR and is 
expected to remain below 50 per
cent for the following four quarters. 
Effective January 1,1999, the 
Special Reserve was funded with 
$978 million, reducing the SAIF 
unrestricted fund balance to 
$8.9 billion and the SAIF reserve 
ratio to 1.25 percent.

The SAIF Special Reserve was 
mandated by Congress in the 
Deposit Insurance Funds Act.
It was not proposed in order to 
address any deposit-insurance 
issues. However, by eliminating 
any cushion above the DRR, the 
creation of the Special Reserve 
on January 1, 1999, increases the 
likelihood of the SAIF dropping 
below the DRR. This, in turn, 
increases the possibility that the 
FDIC would be required to raise 
SAIF assessment rates sooner or 
higher than BIF assessment rates, 
resulting in an assessment rate 
disparity between the SAIF and 
the BIF. In 1998, legislation that 
would have eliminated the Special 
Reserve was introduced in the 
Congress but did not pass.

FSLIC Resolution Fund

The FRF was established by law 
in 1989 to assume the remaining 
assets and obligations of the former 
FSLIC arising from thrift failures 
before January 1,1989. Congress 
placed this new fund under FDIC 
management on August 9, 1989, 
when FSLIC was abolished. On 
January 1,1996, the FRF also 
assumed the RTC's residual 
assets and obligations.

Today, the FRF consists of two dis
tinct pools of assets and liabilities. 
One pool, composed of the assets 
and liabilities of the FSLIC, trans
ferred to the FRF upon the dissolu
tion of the FSLIC on August 9,1989 
(FRF-FSLIC). The other pool, com
posed of the RTC's assets and 
liabilities, transferred to the FRF 
on January 1, 1996 (FRF-RTC). The 
assets of one pool are not available 
to satisfy obligations of the other. 
The FRF-FSLIC had resolution 
equity of $2,098 billion as of 
December 31, 1998, and the 
FRF-RTC had resolution equity 
of $8,224 billion as of that date.

Digitized for FRASER 
http://fraser.stlouisfed.org/ 
Federal Reserve Bank of St. Louis



Annual Return on Assets (ROA) 
FDIC-insured Institutions 1 9 3 4 - 1 9 9

■  Commercial Banks 
Savings Institutions

Savings institu tion  data not available prior to  1947.

The economic environment 
remained largely favorable for 
commercial banks and savings 
institutions in 1998. These favorable 
conditions were reflected in 
record earnings for both industries. 
Commercial bank earnings set a 
new record for the seventh con
secutive year, surpassing $60 billion 
for the first time, while savings 
institutions enjoyed their second 
consecutive year of record profits, 
passing $10 billion for the first 
time. Never before had both indus
tries registered a return on average 
assets (ROA) above one percent. 
They overcame declining net inter
est margins and higher expenses 
related to mergers and restructur
ing charges with the help of strong 
growth in assets and fee income, 
and relatively low expenses for 
credit-quality problems. Only three 
commercial banks failed during the 
year and, for the second consecu
tive year, no insured savings insti
tution failed. The following is an 
overview of conditions in these 
two industries.

Com m ercial Banks

Insured commercial banks posted 
record earnings of $61.9 billion in 
1998, an increase of $2.8 billion 
(4.7 percent) from 1997 results. 
Commercial bank performance 
benefited from strong asset 
growth and a continued rise in 
fee income. Industry assets rose 
by $425 billion (8.5 percent) during 
the year, led by a $264 billion 
(9.1 percent) increase in loans. The 
growth in interest-earning assets 
helped lift net interest income by 
$8.3 billion (4.7 percent) above 
the 1997 level. Noninterest income 
was $19.2 billion higher than in
1997, reflecting very strong growth 
in fee income. In addition to these 
positive factors, banks earned 
$1.3 billion more from sales of 
securities in 1998 than in 1997.

The improvement in earnings was 
limited by a $24.1 billion increase in 
noninterest expense, a $2.4 billion 
increase in loan-loss provisioning, 
and a 14-basis point decline in 
the average net interest margin. 
Restructuring charges related to 
mergers at several large institu
tions accounted for much of the 
rise in noninterest expenses. The 
higher provisions for credit losses 
mirrored an increase in charge-offs 
and noncurrent loans. The decline 
in the industry's net interest 
margin— the difference between 
the average yield on interest-bear
ing assets and the average cost 
of funding those assets— was 
caused by a combination of declin
ing asset yields and rising funding 
costs. The year marked the sixth 
consecutive time that the industry's 
margin declined, and the 14-basis 
point drop was the steepest year- 
to-year decline since 1974-75, 
when it fell by 30 basis points.

The average ROA fell to 1.19 per
cent in 1998 from 1.23 percent in
1997. Despite the decline, 1998 
was the sixth consecutive year 
that the industry's ROA had been 
above one percent, a level first 
achieved by the industry in 1993. 
Almost two out of every three 
banks (63.2 percent) registered 
an ROA of one percent or better 
in 1998. Almost as many (61.8 per
cent) reported higher earnings 
than in 1997.

Business loan growth was espe
cially strong in 1998. Loans to 
commercial and industrial borrow
ers increased by $103 billion 
(12.9 per-cent), while real estate 
loans secured by commercial prop
erties grew by $30 billion (8.9 per
cent) and construction and land 
development loans rose by
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Cred it  Card Losses and
Person al B a n k ru p tcy  F il ings 1986-1998 (by quarter)

$18 billion (20.9 percent). In addition 
to the growth in direct loans, banks' 
holdings of mortgage-backed 
securities increased by $86 billion 
(22.4 percent). Banks continued 
to expand their credit card lending, 
but the amount of credit card loans 
on banks' balance sheets declined 
by $2 billion during 1998 because 
of an increase in securitization 
activity. The amount of credit 
card loans securitized and sold by 
banks rose by $63 billion in 1998 
to $254 billion at year-end. These 
securitized receivables now exceed 
the amount of credit card loans 
remaining on banks' balance 
sheets.

A fourth-quarter surge helped 
deposits register their largest 
annual percent increase since 
1986. Total deposits increased 
by $260 billion (7.6 percent) during 
1998. Nevertheless, deposit growth 
failed to keep pace with growth 
in total assets, and the share of 
commercial bank assets that are 
funded by deposits declined for 
the seventh consecutive year. As 
recently as 1991, deposits funded 
78.3 percent of commercial bank 
assets. At the end of 1998, deposits 
funded slightly more than two 
out of every three dollars of assets 
(67.7 percent). The shortfall in 
deposit funding was covered by 
growth in nondeposit borrowings 
and equity capital.

Asset quality deteriorated slightly 
in 1998, as both credit losses and 
noncurrent loans increased. Banks 
charged off $20.7 billion in loans 
in 1998, an increase of $2.4 billion 
(13.0 percent) over 1997. Non- 
current loans increased for the 
first year since 1990, rising by 
$2.7 billion. For the fourth time in 
as many years, credit card loans 
comprised more than half of all 
loans charged off by commercial 
banks. Net charge-offs of credit

Personal Bankruptcy Filings (thousands) 
■  Credit Card Charge-Off Rates

1986  87 88  89  90  91 92 93 9 4  95  96  9 7  98

card loans totaled $11.5 billion 
in 1998, or 55.4 percent of all 
loan charge-offs. The increase 
in noncurrent loans was led by 
a $2.2 billion rise in noncurrent 
commercial and industrial loans. 
Despite the growth in noncurrent 
loans, the percentage of loans 
that were noncurrent at year-end 
(0.96 percent) was unchanged 
from a year earlier because of 
growth in banks' loan portfolios. 
This noncurrent rate is only slightly 
above the record low level of 
0.94 percent, reached at the end 
of the second and third quarters 
of 1998.

The number of insured commercial 
banks declined for the 14th year 
in a row. At year-end 1998, there 
were 8,774 commercial banks 
reporting financial results, a decline 
of 368 banks during the year. 
Mergers absorbed 557 banks, and 
three banks failed, while there 
were 190 new banks chartered 
and two noninsured institutions

became insured. At year-end 1998, 
there were 5,708 fewer insured 
commercial banks than at the end 
of 1984, a decline of 39.4 percent. 
The number of commercial banks 
on the FDIC's "Problem List" 
declined from 71 institutions to 
69 (with $5.4 billion in assets) 
during the year.

Savings Institutions

Insured savings institutions earned 
$10.2 billion in 1998, an increase 
of $1.4 billion (15.6 percent) from 
1997. Noninterest income was 
$2.2 billion (30.9 percent) higher 
than in 1997, and gains from sales 
of securities and other assets were 
$1.2 billion (95.0 percent) higher. 
Earnings also received a boost 
from increased net interest income
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(up $554 million, or 1.9 percent) 
and lower credit-loss provisions 
(down $413 million, or 18.9 per
cent). These improvements were 
partially offset by a $2.5 billion 
(11.7 percent) rise in noninterest 
expenses. The industry's ROA 
rose to 1.01 percent in 1998 from 
0.93 percent in 1997. For the first 
year since 1946, federally insured 
thrifts posted an ROA above one 
percent. Unlike the commercial 
banking industry, high profitability 
was not as widespread among 
insured savings institutions.
Fewer than one in three thrifts 
(30.5 percent) had an ROA of one 
percent or higher in 1998, but this 
group included many of the largest 
savings institutions. Smaller thrifts 
were generally less profitable than 
their larger counterparts.

As with commercial banks, insured 
savings institutions experienced 
a sharp decline in net interest 
margins in 1998. For the year, the 
thrift industry's net interest margin 
was 3.10 percent, down from 
3.23 percent in 1997. The modest 
improvement in net interest income 
in 1998 was entirely the result of 
strong asset growth. Assets of 
savings institutions increased by 
over $61 billion (6.0 percent) 
during 1998, the largest increase 
in industry assets in 10 years.

The increase in thrift industry 
assets in 1998 consisted primarily 
of assets other than loans. In an 
environment of low interest rates, 
most residential mortgage loan 
demand was for fixed-rate loans; 
a considerable share of mortgage 
lending in 1998 represented refi
nancing of higher-rate, fixed-rate 
mortgages and adjustable-rate 
mortgages. Lenders preferred 
not to retain these long-term, 
fixed-rate assets, opting instead

to securitize and sell many new 
mortgage loans. While thrifts'
1-to-4 family residential mortgage 
loans increased by $11 billion 
(2.2 percent) in 1998, their holdings 
of mortgage-backed securities 
grew by $26 billion (14.6 percent).

Deposit growth at savings institu
tions in 1998 was negligible. Total 
deposits increased by only $395 
million (0.1 percent). Funding for 
asset growth came from nonde
posit borrowings, including Federal 
Home Loan Bank advances. Equity 
capital increased by over $5 billion 
(5.7 percent) in 1998, but the 
industry's equity-to-assets ratio 
fell slightly, from 8.71 percent 
at year-end 1997 to 8.68 percent 
atyear-end 1998.

The number of insured savings 
institutions declined by 93 institu
tions in 1998. Mergers absorbed 
114 thrifts, while 28 new savings 
institutions were chartered— the 
largest number since 1990. Thrifts 
converting to commercial bank 
charters accounted for most 
of the remaining reduction in 
thrift numbers. For the second 
consecutive year, no insured 
savings institutions failed. The 
number of insured thrifts on the 
FDIC's "Problem List" fell from 
21 to 15 during 1998. Assets of 
"problem” thrifts totaled $5.9 billion 
at year-end.
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The Year 2000 date change presents 
challenges for the financial services 
industry and its regulators. If this 
issue is not addressed, computers 
may be unable to record and 
process information accurately.

The Year 2000 challenge was 
the FDIC's highest safety-and- 
soundness priority in 1998. The 
Corporation took aggressive action 
during the year to address the 
Year 2000 date change, including 
issuing guidance to financial insti
tutions, performing outreach 
activities, conducting comprehen
sive on-site assessments at 
banks, training staff and preparing 
contingency plans. The FDIC also 
addressed the effects of the Year 
2000 date change on its own 
automated systems.

The FDIC, in partnership with 
the other agencies of the Federal 
Financial Institutions Examination 
Council (FFIEC), issued substantial 
guidance to the industry in 1998 
on how to address certain Year 
2000-related issues. The guidance 
states that banks should ensure 
the involvement of the board of 
directors and management in Year 
2000 efforts, adopt written project 
plans, renovate mission-critical 
systems, complete tests of the 
renovated systems by specific 
deadlines, plan for contingencies, 
appropriately manage Year 2000 
risk posed by customers and 
develop Year 2000 customer 
awareness programs. Milestone 
dates by which financial institu
tions should accomplish certain 
Year 2000-related responsibilities 
are prescribed in the guidance.

To maintain open communication 
with the banking industry about 
Year 2000 issues, the FDIC and 
the FFIEC conducted an extensive 
nationwide banker outreach program 
in conjunction with industry trade

organizations in 1998. The FDIC 
took part in more than 130 one-day 
seminars addressing regulatory 
expectations in the areas of testing 
and contingency planning. More 
than 11,000 bankers attended 
these sessions. Other Year 2000 
outreach activities in 1998 included 
co-sponsoring a summit meeting 
on behalf of the President's Council 
on Year 2000 Conversion Financial 
Institution Sector Group; and 
monthly publication of an FDIC 
Year 2000 newsletter, which 
discusses important current issues 
and reminds bankers of regulatory 
expectations.

Custom er Awareness

The FFIEC guidance requiring all 
FDIC-insured financial institutions 
to establish Year 2000 customer 
awareness programs underscores 
the FFIEC's belief that institutions 
have a responsibility to inform 
bank customers about the Year 
2000 issue and the steps they are 
taking to minimize the potential for 
glitches. To help insured financial 
institutions comply with the FFIEC's 
guidance, the FDIC developed 
several publications in 1998 that 
bankers can use to educate their 
customers about the Year 2000 
issue.

The first was a consumer 
brochure, The Year 2000 Date 
Change, which answers basic 
consumer questions about the 
Year 2000 issue. The brochure, 
developed by the FDIC in conjunc
tion with the FFIEC, has a two
pronged message: first, that the 
FDIC and other federal banking 
agencies are taking strong action 
to assure the banking industry is 
ready for the new millennium; and 
second, that depositors' funds will 
continue to be protected by FDIC 
insurance. The FDIC provided all 
FDIC-insured institutions with 
camera-ready versions of the 
brochure, in both English and 
Spanish, so they could reproduce 
copies of the brochure for their 
customers. The brochure has been 
well-received by consumers and 
financial institutions alike, and 
more than 10 million copies were 
distributed to consumers in 1998. 
The brochure is also posted on 
the FDIC's Web site.

A  The FDIC's Year 2000 project managers meet 
frequently to discuss the banking industry's 
progress in achieving Y2K readiness.
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The Year 2000 Date Change brochure for 
banking customers highlights the efforts 
of financial institutions and the Federal 
Financial Institutions Examination Council 
(FFIEC) to address the potential effects 
of the Year 2000 date change.

To help insured financial institutions 
get the FDIC's Year 2000 message 
across to an even larger audience, 
the FDIC developed a "statement 
stuffer" that institutions can 
conveniently include in customer 
account mailings. The FDIC's Year 
2000 statement stuffer, which 
briefly emphasizes the two 
main messages in the consumer 
brochure, was sent to all insured 
financial institutions in late 1998. 
The statement stuffer is expected 
to be even more popular than 
the brochure.

In another major initiative to 
educate the public on the Year 
2000 issue, the FDIC has devoted 
substantial coverage to the topic 
in its quarterly FDIC Consumer 
News. Three of four issues of 
the newsletter published in 1998 
included articles on the Year 2000 
challenge. The fall issue was 
devoted entirely to Year 2000- 
related topics of interest to con
sumers, including features on the 
efforts of federal banking regulators 
and banking institutions to protect 
bank customers, a list of steps 
consumers can take to help protect 
themselves, and an interview with 
Chairman Tanoue. FDIC Consumer 
News has a regular distribution to 
more than 50,000 homes, banks, 
consumer organizations, and other 
readers. To assure that this special 
Year 2000 edition reaches as broad 
an audience as possible, the FDIC 
also arranged to make the publica
tion available through insured 
financial institutions and the federal 
Consumer Information Center 
in Pueblo, CO. FDIC Consumer 
News is also posted on the FDIC's 
Web site.

Along with these highly visible 
efforts, the FDIC took action to 
assure that its staff who answer 
consumer inquiries are trained on 
the Year 2000 issue. The volume 
of Year 2000 consumer inquiries

was relatively small in 1998— 
with only 38 inquiries for the 
year. However, consumer inquiries 
are expected to increase in 1999, 
and the FDIC has taken steps to 
ensure it is ready to handle con
sumer questions appropriately.
In early 1999, the FDIC established 
a toll-free Year 2000 Call Center 
to answer the public's calls about 
Y2K.

On-Site Assessments

By May 31,1998, the FDIC's bank 
examiners, with assistance from 
state bank regulators, completed 
the first round of on-site Year 2000 
assessments for FDIC-supervised 
institutions. FDIC examiners also 
completed on-site assessments 
of all data service providers and 
vendors that the FDIC is responsi
ble for examining. In these on-site 
assessments, examiners deter
mined whether the board and 
senior management were actively 
involved in their institution's Year 
2000 projects, whether their Year 
2000 programs were comprehen
sive, and whether they understood 
regulatory requirements. Examiners 
also assessed whether institutions 
properly identified the scope of 
the Year 2000 issue and the 
resources that would be required 
to address technical problems.
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The results indicated that the vast 
majority of financial institutions, 
as well as their service providers 
and software vendors, recognize 
the risk of the Year 2000 date 
change and are acting to address 
the issue. At year-end 1998, 
approximately 97 percent of 
FDIC-supervised institutions were 
making satisfactory progress 
toward achieving Year 2000 readi
ness. During 1999, examiners will 
continue to follow up on weak
nesses detected in the first round 
of on-site examinations and, by 
March 31, will complete a second 
round that began in the latter half 
of 1998.

Internal Compliance

The FDIC has a rigorous, centralized 
strategy to address internal Y2K 
issues that should result in a 
smooth transition of its automated 
systems in the Year 2000.

The Corporation is adhering to 
timeframes established in guidance 
from the U.S. Office of Manage
ment and Budget (OMB) and the 
U.S. General Accounting Office for 
five stages of Year 2000 project 
management: awareness, assess
ment, renovation, validation, and 
implementation. The FDIC com
pleted the renovation phase at the 
end of August 1998 in accordance 
with the OMB schedule, and 
at year-end was on schedule to 
continue meeting the other time
frames in the guidance.

The FDIC's strong management 
efforts should enable the Corpor
ation to continue business as usual 
after January 1, 2000.
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The Year 2000, Your Bank and You
T he government and the banking industry are 
working to keep the Y2K computer bug from 
affecting bank customers. H ere’s an FDIC guide to 
what you need to know and do to  be ready.
T h e scenario for the “Year 
2000” situation may seem like 
something created by 
Hollywood. Computer experts 
warn that systems worldwide 
could go haywire when 
midnight strikes on January 1, 
2000. The news touches off a 
global rescue effort—a race 
against the clock—to ensure 
that our most basic services,

from water and electricity to 
medical care and banking, will 
continue with little or no 
interruption.
In the movies, the “good guys” 
usually have just seconds or 
minutes to solve the problem. 
But in the real-world story of 
the Year 2000 (also known as

continued o» next page

The fa ll 1998 issue of the FDIC Consumer 
News was devoted entirely to Year 2000 
topics, including government efforts to 
protect bank customers and steps consumers 
can take to help protect themselves.
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The FDIC faced the challenge of 
supervising an increasingly global 
banking industry during 1998. In 
that role, the Corporation took a 
number of steps in the international 
arena, such as monitoring foreign 
economies, supervising interna
tional banking activities, providing 
technical assistance to foreign 
supervisors and deposit insurers, 
and promoting cooperation and 
coordination among foreign bank 
supervisors.

M onitoring  
Foreign Economies

By monitoring foreign economies, 
the agency was able to assess 
the risks of current and emerging 
international issues to the FDIC's 
deposit insurance funds. The 
continued deterioration in global 
economies, particularly in Asia 
and among emerging economies, 
was probably the most significant 
international issue the FDIC 
monitored during 1998. In many 
countries throughout the world, 
the economic turmoil contributed 
to deterioration in the international 
banking sector's capital levels, 
asset quality and profitability. As 
a result, bank failures in some 
countries increased and worldwide 
confidence in the global economic 
system declined.

During 1998, the FDIC took appro
priate actions to minimize any 
adverse impact on its deposit 
insurance funds resulting from 
deterioration in foreign economies. 
For instance, FDIC economists 
from the Division of Research 
and Statistics and Division of 
Insurance studied the indirect 
risks to U.S. banks of international 
lending resulting from the increased 
linkages of world economies. These 
linkages have become stronger

in recent years due to increased 
international trade and increased 
capital flows to and from emerging 
economies around the world, par
ticularly East Asia, Eastern Europe 
and Latin America. Greater eco
nomic linkages among world 
economies increase the likelihood 
that one country's economic woes 
will adversely affect other countries. 
In an attempt to quantify the 
effects of indirect risks caused 
by trade fluctuations, FDIC econo
mists are developing statistical 
models to measure the degree 
of international linkages and risks 
among world financial markets. 
These models will better enable 
the FDIC to determine the degree 
of risk to the insurance funds that 
may result from the international 
activities of FDIC-insured institutions.

Supervising International 
Banking A ctivities

The FDIC Division of Supervision's 
(DOS) on-site and off-site supervi
sory programs continued to focus 
on the increasing globalization of 
banking during 1998. DOS staff 
conducted quarterly reviews of 
foreign banking operations (FBOs) 
that have insured operating sub
sidiaries or branches in the U.S. 
These quarterly FBO reviews 
included detailed analyses of parent 
institutions, financial issues and 
current developments in home 
countries. The FDIC also closely 
reviewed U.S. banking organizations'

cross-border exposures, which 
result from their issuance of debt 
or off-balance sheet contracts to 
international entities. Along with 
the Board of Governors of the 
Federal Reserve System and the 
Office of the Comptroller of the 
Currency, the FDIC is a member 
of the Interagency Country 
Exposure Review Committee 
(ICERC), which assesses transfer 
risk (the risk that a foreign debtor 
will not be able to obtain dollars 
to repay U.S. creditors) in those 
countries to which U.S. banks 
have cross-border exposures.
The FDIC chaired the ICERC 
during 1998.

Sharing Expertise 
W ith Other Countries

Over its 65-year history, the FDIC 
has accumulated a wealth of 
knowledge and experience that it 
shares with bank supervisors and 
deposit insurers around the world. 
Of particular interest is the FDIC's 
success in resolving the banking 
crisis that occurred in the 1980s 
and early 1990s, without a single 
loss to an insured depositor. The 
FDIC's success in resolving failing 
institutions enabled the nation 
to maintain confidence in the 
U.S. banking system.

Vi ja y  Deshpande II), Director o i FDIC's Office 
of Internal Control Management, talks with 
Central Bank officials from Sri Lanka Icenter) 
and Malaysia at the FDIC-sponsored inter
national conference on deposit insurance 
in September.

A
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The FDIC shared its expertise by 
providing technical advice to for
eign supervisory authorities and 
deposit insurers. Technical advice 
is a relatively low-cost method of 
helping to improve the operations 
of foreign supervisory authorities 
and deposit insurers. It may con
tribute to the stability of foreign 
markets and reduce any adverse 
impact that international events 
may have on the FDIC's deposit 
insurance funds. During 1998, 
the FDIC met with representatives 
from Japan, Korea, Nigeria, Kenya, 
Croatia, Malaysia, Lithuania, England, 
Thailand, Slovakia, the Philippines, 
and other countries. The FDIC 
addressed a number of the foreign 
representatives' concerns, includ
ing how to liquidate failed-bank 
asset portfolios without damaging 
market or investor confidence.

The FDIC also provided training 
to supervisory personnel of foreign 
banking authorities. In conjunction 
with the Association of Banking 
Supervisory Authorities of Latin 
America and the Caribbean, the 
Corporation established a training 
curriculum on internal routines and 
controls, and the resolution process 
for failing institutions. The FDIC, 
through DOS, also participates in 
an ongoing effort with the Asian- 
Pacific Economic Cooperation 
Forum (APEC) to improve bank 
supervisory training in APEC- 
member countries. Further, the 
FDIC provided foreign supervisory 
authorities with the opportunity 
to gain hands-on experience in 
U.S. bank examinations. Throughout 
1998, a number of foreign bank 
supervisors observed on-site 
examinations of banks to learn 
more about how the FDIC super
vises U.S. institutions.

Prom oting Cooperation  
Am ong Foreign Bank 
Supervisors

The FDIC consistently promotes 
cooperation and coordination 
among international supervisory 
authorities, resulting in stronger 
and more consistent supervisory 
standards. This, in turn, decreases 
risk to the FDIC's deposit insurance 
funds.

During 1998, the FDIC participated 
in a number of international efforts 
that promoted cooperation and 
coordination among bank supervi
sors around the world. The FDIC is 
a member of the Basle Committee 
on Banking Supervision, which 
formulates broad standards and 
guidelines for each of the member 
countries. The FDIC is an active 
participant in many facets of the 
Basle Committee's work, including 
subgroups and task forces that 
focus on such issues as capital, 
risk management and the Year 2000. 
During 1998, the FDIC provided 
extensive input on a number of 
important supervisory topics, includ
ing managing risks associated 
with electronic banking, improving 
public disclosure of international 
banking organizations and imple
menting strong internal control 
systems. Throughout 1998, DOS 
staff also worked with the U.S. 
Department of the Treasury on 
projects mandated by the Group of 
Seven (G-7) countries and the Group 
of Twenty-Two (G-22) countries.
The G-7 and G-22 projects focused 
on strengthening international 
financial systems, including banking 
systems, improving information- 
sharing between domestic and 
foreign regulators and improving 
disclosure by banking organizations.

In September 1998, the FDIC 
hosted the International Deposit 
Insurance Conference in 
Washington, DC. The conference 
was the first of its kind to bring 
together deposit insurance authori
ties from around the world. Top 
government officials from 62 coun
tries, including leaders of deposit 
insurance agencies from more 
than 20 nations, attended the 
conference. Keynote speakers 
included FDIC Chairman Donna 
Tanoue; Deputy Secretary of the 
Treasury Lawrence FI. Summers; 
First Deputy Managing Director, 
International Monetary Fund, 
Stanley Fisher; and former FDIC 
Chairman Ricki Heifer. Discussion 
focused on the role of deposit 
insurance in maintaining public 
confidence in the world's banking 
systems. Other topics addressed 
were past strategies used to 
restore stability to various financial 
sectors, and the strategies' applic
ability in addressing problems that 
may arise in the international arena 
in the future.

Supervising an increasingly global 
banking industry will likely continue 
to be one of the FDIC's primary 
challenges in the future. The 
Corporation will remain diligent in 
its efforts to respond to interna
tional issues in order to maintain 
the stability of the FDIC's deposit 
insurance funds and further 
strengthen public confidence in 
the U.S. banking system.
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Deposit Insurance

Since 1933, the FDIC has con
tributed to the stability of the 
U.S. banking system. The FDIC's 
insurance program is designed to 
achieve three goals: provide insured 
depositors timely access to their 
funds in the event of a bank failure; 
ensure the viability of the insurance 
funds as risks and economic 
conditions change; and promote 
bank customers' understanding 
of the deposit insurance rules.

In 1998, the FDIC gave much 
attention to the scope and nature 
of deposit insurance in light of 
several ongoing trends. One was 
financial modernization, or the 
actual or proposed expansion of 
banking organizations into additional 
lines of business. Another was 
the changing nature of the global 
marketplace, where larger and 
more complex banks are taking on 
new businesses and risks. These 
and other trends spurred the FDIC 
to undertake a variety of initiatives 
in the administration of its insurance 
program in 1998.

Addressing Risks 
to  the Funds

The ongoing debate over financial 
modernization raises fundamental 
questions with respect to the 
structure of banks and the role of 
deposit insurance. As continued 
innovations in technology and 
information services allow financial 
service providers to offer a full 
range of products, the distinction 
between banking and nonbanking 
organizations has become increas
ingly blurred. The challenge for 
policymakers is to provide a statu
tory and regulatory framework 
that allows the financial services 
industry to evolve while maintain
ing the safety and soundness of

individual insured institutions, the 
stability of the financial system and 
a level competitive playing field.
The FDIC has supported initiatives 
that would expand the range of 
activities permissible for banking 
organizations, if the activity poses 
no significant safety-and-soundness 
concerns. Further, the FDIC has 
supported the ability of banking 
organizations to have the flexibility 
to choose the corporate or organi
zational structure that best suits 
their needs, provided adequate 
safeguards exist to protect the 
insurance funds and the taxpayer.

On January 29, 1998, the FDIC 
sponsored a symposium to pro
mote a discussion of the role and 
nature of deposit insurance. The 
audience included bankers, regula
tors, consumer and trade group 
representatives, academics and 
congressional staff members.
A wide range of opinions was 
expressed and a number of inter
esting ideas deserving further 
consideration were discussed. 
Among the issues covered were 
the use of additional information 
for determining risk-based insurance 
premiums; the appropriate reserve- 
ratio target and other matters 
relating to management of the 
deposit insurance funds; proper 
coverage levels and funding 
arrangements for small versus 
large institutions; and ways to 
enhance the FDIC's ability to 
identify, analyze and act on risks 
to the insurance funds and the 
banking industry.

In an effort to identify and respond 
to these risks more quickly and 
effectively, the FDIC continued 
to refine the examination process 
to emphasize an institution's risk- 
management systems and the 
risks each individual institution 
faces. Examiners look beyond the 
static condition of an institution 
to how well it can respond to 
changing market conditions.

In addition, analysts in the Division 
of Insurance (DOI) closely monitor 
trends in the financial services 
industry and the economy, and 
work closely with FDIC examiners 
to help assess emerging risk 
exposure for individual banks and 
groups of banks by providing 
comprehensive regional economic 
data and analysis. Articles in the 
1998 issues of Regional Outlook, 
DOI's quarterly publication, 
addressed topics such as mergers 
and consolidations in the banking 
and thrift industries, lending 
concentrations in real estate, the 
Asian crisis, volatility in financial 
markets, and the Year 2000 issue. 
Another resource, "The Regional 
Economic Condition Report for 
Examiners," or RECON, is an 
Internet-based application introduced 
by the FDIC in 1998 to provide 
supervisory personnel quick and 
easy access to a wealth of local 
economic data.

The risk-related premium system 
is another means through which 
the FDIC can address risks in the 
banking industry. The Corporation 
is required to maintain a deposit 
insurance premium schedule that 
reflects the risks posed to the 
insurance funds by member insti
tutions. While the current nine- 
category premium schedule is 
based primarily on capital ratios 
and examination ratings, the FDIC 
is authorized to consider other 
information when assigning institu
tions to particular risk categories.

Twice a year, the FDIC sets deposit 
insurance assessment rates for 
members of the Bank Insurance 
Fund (BIF) and the Savings 
Association Insurance Fund (SAIF). 
These rate schedules are supported 
by analysis of the probable losses 
to the funds, failure-resolution 
expenditures and income, expect
ed operating expenses, revenue 
needs of the insurance funds, 
the impact of assessments upon 
insured institutions, and any other 
factors that the Board deems 
relevant.
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Throughout 1998, the FDIC and 
other banking agencies identified 
the possible build-up of risk in 
the banking system due to easing 
credit standards. Regulators 
observed that a growing number 
of institutions exhibited risky loan 
concentrations, poor underwriting 
practices, and weak internal 
controls. These signals were 
particularly troubling because they 
appeared against a backdrop of 
global instability, as the financial 
crisis in Asia deepened and eco
nomic shock waves from Russia 
jolted Brazil and other countries.

In light of these indications of 
increased risk at the same time 
that 95 percent of all insured insti
tutions were classified into the 
lowest risk category of the premium 
schedule, the Corporation intensi
fied its efforts to ensure that the 
risk-based premium system 
incorporates all relevant informa
tion regarding fund risk exposure. 
As 1998 ended, the FDIC was 
engaged in discussions with 
bankers and other banking regula
tors on ways to use additional 
information from the supervisory 
process, financial reports, and the 
market to enhance the risk classifi
cations used for setting deposit 
insurance premiums.

Efforts to  Prom ote  
Public Understanding

In 1998, the FDIC employed a 
variety of methods to provide 
deposit insurance information to 
insured financial institutions and 
the public. The FDIC's primary 
means of answering questions from 
bankers and the public is through 
its toll-free Consumer Affairs Call 
Center (1-800-934-3342). During 
the year, more than half of the 
inquiries answered by the Call 
Center concerned FDIC deposit

insurance. The FDIC answered 
another 730 deposit insurance 
inquiries received through regular 
mail and electronic mail. The volume 
of deposit insurance inquiries 
increased approximately 50 percent 
in 1998, due largely to the FDIC's 
efforts to increase public aware
ness of its deposit insurance 
education program.

A major FDIC initiative during the 
year was developing the Electronic 
Deposit Insurance Estimator, or 
"EDIE," a user-friendly Internet 
application that consumers and 
bankers can use to calculate the 
amount of insurance coverage for 
deposit accounts at FDIC-insured 
institutions. EDIE is accessible to 
novice computer users with no 
prior knowledge of deposit insur
ance. EDIE also provides links to 
other FDIC Web sites that provide 
useful information for consumers. 
EDIE can be found on the FDIC's 
Web site at www2.fdic.gov/edie.

The FDIC maintains a number of 
consumer brochures and banker 
training guides on deposit insurance. 
These documents, which are pub
lished by the FDIC and disseminated 
widely by the agency and FDIC- 
insured institutions, are tailored 
to the specific needs of financial 
institution customers and employ
ees. In 1998, the FDIC updated 
its most popular brochure for 
consumers, Your Insured Deposit, 
to reflect simplified amendments 
to the deposit insurance rules 
adopted by the FDIC during the

year. The FDIC distributed more 
than 10 million copies of Your 
Insured Deposit in 1998. Copies 
of all the FDIC consumer brochures 
and training materials for bankers 
are available on the FDIC's Web site.

The FDIC routinely publishes articles 
on deposit insurance topics of 
interest to consumers and bankers 
in quarterly editions of FDIC 
Consumer News, a free publication 
distributed to consumer organiza
tions, individual consumer 
subscribers and bankers. FDIC 
Consumer News is also available 
on the FDIC's Web site.

Another facet of the FDIC's deposit 
insurance education program is 
training seminars for employees 
of FDIC-insured institutions. During 
1998, the FDIC conducted 29 
seminars on the deposit insurance 
rules. These seminars were held 
across the nation and attended 
by approximately 2,000 representa
tives from almost 700 FDIC-insured 
financial institution employees. 
Participants received an in-depth 
review of the deposit insurance 
regulations and interagency 
guidelines for the retail sale of 
mutual funds and other nondeposit 
investments by financial institutions.

W m £ D (£ /

A  The FDIC's electronic deposit insurance estimator- 
"EDIE"— allows consumers and bankers to easily 
calculate the amount of insurance coverage for 
deposit accounts at FDIC-insured institutions.
EDIE land the onscreen helper, "Edie") appears 
on the FDIC's Web page.
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▲ FDIC Board of Directors:
(seated) Donna Tanoue,
(standing, l-r) John D. Hawke, Jr., 
Ellen S. Seidman, Andrew C. Hove, Jr.

Donna Tanoue

Ms. Tanoue is the 17th Chairman 
of the Federal Deposit Insurance 
Corporation. Appointed Chairman 
by President William Clinton, she 
took office on May 26, 1998. Prior 
to her appointment, she was a 
partner in the Hawaii law firm of 
Goodsill Anderson Quinn & Stifel, 
where she specialized in banking, 
real estate finance and govern
mental affairs.

From 1983 to 1987, Ms. Tanoue 
was Commissioner of Financial 
Institutions for the State of Hawaii. 
As Commissioner, her responsibili
ties included the enforcement of 
state laws governing banks, savings 
and loan associations, trust compa
nies, industrial loan companies 
and credit unions. She is noted for 
having provided the stewardship 
for the smooth conversion of 
industrial loan companies from 
private insurance coverage to FDIC 
membership after an unprecedent
ed series of loan company failures 
shook the financial community.

Ms. Tanoue served as Special 
Deputy Attorney General to the 
Department of Commerce and 
Consumer Affairs for the State of 
Hawaii from 1981 to 1983, upon 
her return from the Georgetown 
University Law Center, where she 
received her Juris Doctor degree 
in 1981.

In 1995, Ms. Tanoue was appoint
ed to serve as a member of the 
Board of Regents of the University 
of Hawaii, where she had received 
her undergraduate degree in 1977. 
She was elected Vice Chair of the 
Board of Regents in June 1997, 
serving until March 1998.

Ms. Tanoue held positions as an 
officer, director, or trustee for the 
following community organizations: 
the Aloha United Way, Palama 
Settlement, High Technology 
Development Corporation, 
Maximum Legal Services 
Corporation, Legal Aid Society 
of Hawaii, and Historic Hawaii 
Foundation. She also served 
as a community advisory board 
member for Time-Warner 
Communications of Hawaii, L.P., 
and Oceanic Cablevision.
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A n d re w  C. H ove, Jr. Ellen S. Seidm an John D. H a w k e , Jr.

Mr. Hove was appointed to his 
second term as Vice Chairman 
of the FDIC in 1994. His first term 
as Vice Chairman began in 1990. 
Since 1991, Mr. Hove has served 
as Acting Chairman of the FDIC 
three times, most recently from 
June 1, 1997, when Chairman Ricki 
Heifer resigned, to May 26, 1998, 
when Donna Tanoue was sworn 
in as the 17th Chairman. Before 
joining the FDIC, Mr. Hove was 
Chairman and Chief Executive 
Officer of the Minden Exchange 
Bank & Trust Company, Minden, 
Nebraska, where he served in 
every department during his 
30 years with the bank.

Also involved in local government, 
Mr. Hove was Mayor of Minden 
from 1974 until 1982 and was 
Minden's Treasurer from 1962 
until 1974.

Other civic activities included 
serving as President of the 
Minden Chamber of Commerce, 
President of the South Platte 
United Chambers of Commerce 
and positions associated with the 
University of Nebraska. Mr. Hove 
also was active in the Nebraska 
Bankers Association and the 
American Bankers Association.

Mr. Hove earned his B.S. degree at 
the University of Nebraska-Lincoln. 
He also is a graduate of the 
University of Wisconsin-Madison 
Graduate School of Banking. After 
serving as a U.S. naval officer and 
naval aviator from 1956 to 1960,
Mr. Hove was in the Nebraska 
National Guard until 1963.

Ms. Seidman became Director 
of the Office of Thrift Supervision 
(OTS) on October 28, 1997. As 
OTS Director, Ms. Seidman is also 
an FDIC Board member.

Ms. Seidman joined the OTS 
from the White House, where 
from 1993 to 1997 she was 
Special Assistant to President 
Clinton for economic policy at the 
White House National Economic 
Council. She chaired the intera
gency working group on pensions 
and dealt with such issues as 
financial institutions, natural disaster 
insurance, bankruptcy and home 
ownership.

From 1987 to 1993, Ms. Seidman 
served in various positions at 
Fannie Mae, ending her career 
there as Senior Vice President 
for Regulation, Research and 
Economics. Other prior positions 
include Special Assistant to the 
Treasury Undersecretary for 
Finance from 1986 to 1987, 
and Deputy Assistant General 
Counsel at the Department of 
Transportation from 1979 to 1981. 
Ms. Seidman also practiced law for 
three years beginning in 1975 with 
Caplin & Drysdale, a Washington, 
DC, law firm specializing in tax, 
securities and bankruptcy issues.

Ms. Seidman received an 
A.B. degree in government from 
Radcliffe College, an M.B.A. from 
George Washington University and 
a J.D. from Georgetown University 
Law Center.

Mr. Hawke was sworn in as the 
28th Comptroller of the Currency 
on December 8, 1998. As Comp
troller, Mr. Hawke serves as an 
FDIC Board member.

Before his appointment as Comp
troller, Mr. Hawke served for three- 
and-a-half years as Under Secretary 
of the Treasury for Domestic 
Finance. He oversaw the develop
ment of policy and legislation in 
the areas of financial institutions, 
debt management and capital 
markets.

Prior to joining the Treasury Depart
ment, Mr. Hawke was a senior 
partner at the Washington, DC, 
law firm of Arnold & Porter, which 
he first joined as an associate in 
1962. At Arnold & Porter, he head
ed the financial institutions practice 
and, from 1987 to 1995, served as 
Chairman of the firm. In 1975, he 
left the firm to serve as General 
Counsel to the Board of Governors 
of the Federal Reserve System, 
but then returned in 1978.

From 1970 to 1987, Mr. Hawke 
taught courses on federal regulation 
of banking at the Georgetown 
University Law Center. He has also 
taught courses on bank acquisitions 
and financial regulation at the Morin 
Center for Banking Law Studies 
in Boston, where he continues 
to serve as Chairman of the Board 
of Advisors.

Mr. Hawke has written extensively 
on matters relating to the regulation 
of financial institutions, including 
the book Commentaries on Banking 
Regulation published in 1985.
He received a B.A. in English from 
Yale University and is a graduate 
of the Columbia University School 
of Law, where he was Editor-in- 
Chief of the Columbia Law Review.

Mr. Hawke succeeded Eugene A. Ludwig, whose five-year term 
as Comptroller o f the Currency expired on April 4, 1998. Until 
Mr. Hawke's appointment, Julie L. Williams, Chief Counsel at the 
Office o f the Comptroller o f the Currency, was Acting Comptroller, 
also serving on the FDIC Board.
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Supervision and Enforcement

At year-end 1998, the FDIC was 
the primary federal regulator of 
5,321 state-chartered banks that 
are not members of the Federal 
Reserve System and 544 state- 
chartered savings banks. The FDIC 
also had back-up examination and 
enforcement authority for the 
remaining 4,596 federally insured 
state member banks, national 
banks and savings associations.

The Division of Supervision (DOS) 
leads the FDIC's supervisory 
efforts through on-site examina
tions and off-site analyses. When 
DOS identifies an institution that 
operates in a weakened or an 
unsafe and unsound condition, or 
encounters practices that might 
lead to future difficulties, it 
employs various corrective meth
ods or enforcement actions to cur
tail activities that might otherwise 
result in significant losses to the 
insurance funds. DOS also works 
with other divisions to identify 
emerging risks and to develop 
timely policies and procedures to 
help examiners assess each bank's 
ability to identify, measure, moni
tor, and control those risks.

Taking the opportunity provided by 
the continued good health of the 
banking industry in 1998, the FDIC 
addressed several challenges and 
provided a more dynamic approach 
to its mission. The FDIC continued 
to address Year 2000 challenges, 
refine examination and risk assess
ment procedures, streamline or 
consolidate regulations, initiate 
outreach programs for bankers and 
other regulators, manage enforce
ment actions and applications, and 
otherwise prepare for the future. 
These actions illustrate the FDIC's 
continued commitment to improve 
efficiency throughout the organiza
tion and to reduce regulatory bur
den on the industry.

Addressing Year 2000  
Challenges

During 1998, DOS spearheaded 
the agency's efforts to address 
potential supervisory-related prob
lems associated with the Year 2000 
date change.

DOS worked with the other Federal 
Financial Institutions Examination 
Council (FFIEC) agencies to issue 
industry guidance on the Year 2000 
issue and to train examiners. During 
1998, examiners completed the 
first round of comprehensive on-site 
assessments for FDIC-supervised 
institutions. At year-end, 97 percent 
of institutions were satisfactorily 
addressing the Year 2000 issue.
For the remaining institutions, the 
FDIC implemented supervisory 
action to ensure that those institu
tions take corrective action.

The FDIC will continue to work 
closely with banks during the 
coming year on this enormous 
task. During 1999, examiners will 
complete a second phase of on
site examinations focusing on the 
critical steps of systems testing 
and contingency planning. By 
June 30, 1999, insured institutions 
should be using computer programs 
that have been fixed and tested to 
deal with Year 2000 challenges.

For more information on 
the challenges faced by 
the Year 2000 date change, 
see Pages 13-15.

Refining Exam ination and 
Risk-Assessment Procedures

The FDIC implemented several 
programs in 1998 that improved 
the agency's risk-assessment 
capabilities and streamlined exami
nations and other supervisory func
tions.

On October 19, the FDIC launched 
the General Examination System 
(GENESYS), a software application 
that automates the preparation of 
the entire examination report. 
GENESYS improves the examina
tion process by integrating infor
mation from other automated sys
tems, including the Automated 
Loan Examination Review Tool 
(ALERT). The GENESYS software 
features a more comprehensive 
database of financial and examina
tion information than previous sys
tems, which enhances the risk- 
focused examination process. 
GENESYS also includes advanced 
data-query and analysis tools that 
allow examiners to perform a sig
nificant portion of their analysis off- 
site, thereby minimizing time spent 
in a financial institution.

▲ Kari Walter (I), Chief of the Division of 
Supervision's (DOS) International Branch, 
and DOS Assistant Director Jesse Snyder 
handle numerous requests from foreign 
government agencies asking the FDIC to 
share its expertise.

Digitized for FRASER 
http://fraser.stlouisfed.org/ 
Federal Reserve Bank of St. Louis



! FDIC Examinations 1996-1998
■.......................... ............

1998 1997 1996
Safety and Soundness:

State Nonmember Banks 2,170 2,515 2,789
Savings Banks 221 224 297
National Banks 1 6 11
State Member Banks 6 0 2
Savings Associations 1 4 7

Subtotal 2,399 2,749 3,106
Compliance/CRA 1,989 1,990 2,033
Trust Departments 542 552 637

| Data Processing Facilities 1,335 1,514 1,681

Total 6,265 6,805 7,457

DOS worked closely with the 
Federal Reserve Board (FRB) and 
the Conference of State Bank 
Supervisors (CSBS) to develop 
GENESYS. This cooperation pro
moted consistency among the 
agencies and reduced regulatory 
burden on state banks. During 
1998, the FDIC, the FRB and the 
CSBS also formed a steering com
mittee to better coordinate risk- 
focused examination procedures 
among the agencies and to over
see ongoing enhancements to the 
supporting software.

The FDIC also developed other 
automation tools that make exami
nations and off-site analyses more 
productive, efficient and risk- 
focused. For instance, DOS 
worked with the FDIC's Division of 
Research and Statistics (DRS) to 
develop the Statistical Camels 
Offsite Rating (SCOR) program. 
SCOR is an "early warning" appli
cation that uses statistical mea
sures to identify institutions that 
are likely to receive a downgrade 
at the next examination in their 
Uniform Financial Institution 
Rating.

Additional automation projects 
completed during 1998 that improve 
the examination process included:

•  The Division of Insurance's 
(DOI) Regional Economic Con
ditions Report for Examiners 
(RECON), which provides 
timely, comprehensive regional 
economic data to examiners 
and other staff members 
through the FDIC's internal 
computer network;

•  A commercial real estate 
database that provides recent 
sales information and assists 
FDIC staff in the assessment 
of large, complicated real 
estate loans or other real 
estate: and

•  A new CD-ROM that provides 
examiners with commonly 
used reference materials
in an electronic format.

During 1998, DOS implemented 
new examination procedures for 
securities and derivatives activities 
at institutions. The new procedures 
place primary emphasis on man
agement's ability to identify, mea
sure, monitor and control the risks 
of investment activities. The new 
procedures also require examiners 
to evaluate whether an institution's 
management understands the 
risks in securities activities, both 
prior to purchases and on an 
ongoing basis.

The FDIC has taken a leading role 
in recognizing and responding to 
electronic banking developments, 
which present unique risks and 
supervisory issues to the financial 
system. During 1998, DOS devel
oped streamlined examination 
procedures for telephone banking 
activities and enhanced the risk- 
focused examination modules to 
reflect recent changes in the elec
tronic banking industry. DOS also 
implemented an electronic banking 
data-entry system that collects 
key data from examinations and 
improves off-site risk monitoring 
capabilities. To address the growing 
complexity of electronic banking 
activities, DOS appointed nearly 
200 electronic banking specialists 
and trained these specialists in 
technical examination procedures 
that evaluate the safety of various 
operating systems and firewalls.

The FDIC Safety and Soundness 
Examination Questionnaire, imple
mented in 1995, solicits quarterly 
opinions and suggestions from 
bankers on how to improve the 
quality and efficiency of the exami
nation process. The FDIC received 
more than 1,300 responses to the 
questionnaire in 1998. The respons
es show that institutions continue 
to submit positive reviews of 
the examination process, teams, 
reports and other examination 
activities.
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Identifying and Addressing 
Emerging Risks

During 1998, the FDIC identified 
several emerging risks and devel
oped timely guidelines to address 
those risks. DOS, together with 
DOI, identified the expansion of 
loans to "subprime" borrowers 
(those presenting higher risk of 
default characteristics than most 
others). Faced with strong compe
tition and shrinking margins on 
loans to high-quality borrowers, 
some lenders extended their risk 
selection standards to include 
these higher-rate, higher-risk loans. 
Because of the relatively high 
default rates on such loans, sub
prime lending requires institutions 
to have strong internal controls and 
risk management practices. As a 
result of this trend, DOS worked 
with DOI and other regulatory 
agencies to develop interagency 
guidance to ensure that institutions 
both understand the risks inherent 
in subprime lending and manage 
those risks in a safe and sound 
manner.

The quarterly Report on Under
writing Practices is another primary 
early warning mechanism for 
detecting emerging risks in the 
banking system. While underwriting 
practices remained sound overall 
in 1998, the underwriting surveys 
that examiners completed indicated 
an easing of standards for com
mercial real estate as well as 
acquisition, development, and 
construction lending. In addition,

various studies by DOI detected 
early indicators of potential imbal
ances in a number of real estate 
markets. As a result of these 
studies, the FDIC issued guidance 
to bankers reminding them of 
the regulatory guidelines for under
writing real estate loans.

The FDIC also is addressing the 
potential outcomes that may result 
from continued industry consolida
tion. As the industry stratifies into 
large multi-tiered organizations and 
small community banks, the FDIC 
is working to preserve the "dual 
banking system" of national and 
state banks by allowing small, 
state-chartered banking organiza
tions to remain competitive in an 
interstate banking environment.
For example, DOS is evaluating 
the merits of establishing a sepa
rate capital framework for nation
wide and multinational banks.
DOS also is working closely with 
DOI, DRS, and DRR (Division of 
Resolutions and Receiverships) to 
simulate the impact that the failure 
of one or more of the nation's 
largest financial institutions may 
have on the deposit insurance 
funds. These studies will enable 
the FDIC to prepare for future 
events and continue to serve as 
a source of stability to the nation's 
banking system in a changing 
environment.

During 1998, the FDIC also was 
faced with the challenge of super
vising an increasingly global indus
try. Foreign banking organizations 
operating in the U.S. control nearly 
one-fifth of the U.S. banking indus
try's asset base. The international 
branch of DOS monitors the activi
ties of U.S. banks operating abroad 
and foreign banks operating in the 
U.S. The international branch also 
completes risk profiles of various 
countries whose banking systems

are of potential interest to the 
FDIC. The continued deterioration 
in global economies, particularly 
in Asia and among emerging 
economies, was probably the most 
significant international issue the 
FDIC monitored during 1998.
For more information on 
international banking, see 
Pages 16-17.

Reducing Regulatory Burden

The FDIC continued to streamline 
its regulations and policies as 
mandated by the Riegle Community 
Development and Regulatory 
Improvement Act of 1994 (CDRI). 
Throughout 1998, FDIC staff 
worked to develop and implement 
recommendations that originally 
called for the rescission or revision 
of 85 of the 120 FDIC and intera
gency regulations and policy 
statements.

Perhaps the most important accom
plishment resulting from the 1998 
CDRI reviews was the implemen
tation of a final rule governing the 
FDIC's application process. The 
revised rule (Part 303) allows well- 
managed and well-capitalized 
institutions to take advantage of 
expedited applications processing 
for deposit insurance, mergers, 
branches, trust powers, stock 
buy-backs and certain international 
activities. More than 90 percent of 
all FDIC-supervised banks currently 
meet the eligibility standards for 
the expedited processing, so the 
new applications procedures will 
significantly reduce regulatory 
burden for the banking industry.
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The FDIC also adopted a final rule 
(Part 362) that consolidated into a 
single regulation what previously 
were several regulations governing 
activities and investments of 
FDIC-supervised institutions. The 
consolidated regulation both sim
plifies existing limitations applica
ble to certain real estate and secu
rities activities and streamlines the 
application process. Because the 
FDIC retains the ability to place 
restrictions on an activity or prohibit 
a particular institution from engag
ing in the activity, the final rule 
relieves regulatory burden signifi
cantly without affecting safety 
and soundness.

Other significant actions taken in 
1998 as a result of the CDRI review 
included:

•  Revising and consolidating 
three different groups of rules 
and regulations governing 
international banking:

•  Removing inconsistencies 
or outdated procedures in 
policy statements involving 
applications and bank merger 
transactions;

•  Simplifying deposit insurance 
rules; and

Revising and consolidating 
two policy statements 
concerning participation in the 
conduct of the affairs of an 
institution by persons who 
have been convicted of certain 
crimes or who entered pretrial 
diversions for such offenses.

Examiner Brian Looft from the Division of 
Supervision's Kansas City office answers 
bankers' Y2K questions at the FutureBank ‘38 
exhibit in Kansas City sponsored by the 
Community Bankers Associations of Kansas 
and Minnesota.

M aintaining Open 
Com m unication

The FDIC also established and 
maintained open lines of communi
cation regarding supervisory matters 
with the financial services industry 
and other regulators. FDIC repre
sentatives routinely attended or 
participated in events sponsored 
by trade associations and foreign 
and domestic regulatory agencies 
(including FDIC-sponsored outreach 
meetings). The FDIC also serves 
as a chief source of public informa
tion on banking industry supervision 
through a variety of publications 
and an extensive Internet site 
(www.fdic.gov). For example, 
quarterly publications of DOI's 
Regional Outlook and Bank Trends 
provide in-depth analyses of trends 
that affect the financial services 
industry from national and regional 
perspectives.

Digitized for FRASER 
http://fraser.stlouisfed.org/ 
Federal Reserve Bank of St. Louis

http://www.fdic.gov


Additional communication efforts
in 1998 include:

•  The FDIC's International 
Deposit Insurance Conference, 
which was held in Washing
ton, DC, in September. The 
conference primarily addressed 
the role of deposit insurance 
in maintaining public confi
dence and was attended by 
top government officials from 
62 countries. For more 
details, see Pages 5 and 17.

•  A Year 2000 summit, which 
was held in Washington, DC, 
in December. The FDIC and 
the Federal Reserve Board 
hosted this summit for financial 
institutions and members
of the utilities and telecom
munications industries. The 
forum focused on the partici
pants' progress in addressing 
the Year 2000 computer 
challenge.

•  FDIC-sponsored seminars, 
in cooperation with the 
Independent Bankers 
Association of America and 
the American Bankers 
Association, on nondeposit 
investment products, securities 
activities, interest rate risk and 
trust activities. Nearly 1,000 
bankers attended these 
seminars.

| FDIC Applications 19 9 6 - 1 9 9 8
H I

1998 1997 1996
Deposit Insurance 296 238 192

Approved 296 238 192
Denied 0 0 0

New Branches 1,450 1,436 2,054
Approved 1,450 1,435 2,054

Branches 1,450 1,435 1,352
Remote Service Facilities’ NA NA 702

Denied 0 0
I Mergers 390 419 392

Approved 390 419 392
Denied 0 0 0

Requests for Consent to Serve* 304 261 873
Approved 258 873

Section 19 145 76 77
Section 32 154 182 796

Denied 3 0
Section 19 3 2 0
Section 32 2 i t 0

Notices of Change in Control 34 28 46
Letters of Intent Not to Disapprove 34 28 46
Disapproved 0 0 0

Conversions of Insurance Coverage* 0 0 0
Approved 0 0 2
Denied 0 0 0

Brokered Deposit Waivers 10 17 15
Approved 9 17 15
Denied 1 0 0

! Savings Association Activities 0 2 2
Approved 0 2 2
Denied 0 0 0

| State Bank Activities/Investments7 23 46 167
Approved 23 46 164
Denied 0 0 3

Conversions of Mutual Institutions 30 15 26
Non-Objection 30 15 26
Objection

.......... :......... • • • . ........ . •
0 0 0

*  Effective September 30 ,1996 , th e  Economic Growth and Regulatory Paperwork Reduction A c t of 1996 (EGRPRA) 
excluded remote service fa c ilitie s  from  the defin ition  o f a dom estic branch under Section 3 (o) o f the  FDI Act.

*  Under Section 19 o f the  Federal Deposit Insurance Act, an insured institu tion  m ust receive FDIC approval before 
em ploying a person convicted o f d ishonesty or breach o f trust. Under Section 32, the FDIC must approve any 
change o f d irectors or senior executive officers a t a state nonmember bank tha t is not in  compliance w ith  capita l 
requirem ents o r is o therw ise in troubled condition.

*  App lica tions to  convert from  the  SAIF to  the  BIF or vice versa.

T Section 24 o f the FDI Act, in general, precludes an insured state  bank from  engaging in an activ ity not permissible 
fo r a national bank and requires notices be filed  w ith  the FDIC.
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Managing Enforcem ent 
Actions and Applications Com pliance, Enforcem ent and Other Related  Legal Act ions  1996-1991

DOS works closely with the Legal 
Division to initiate supervisory 
enforcement actions against FDIC- 
supervised institutions and their 
employees. The FDIC initiated 
143 enforcement actions in 1998, 
representing a continued decline 
from the 338 actions initiated just 
six years ago. These figures indi
cate the continued health of the 
banking industry.

The trends of continued health 
and further consolidation of the 
industry are also evident in both 
the number and types of applica
tions that the FDIC processed. 
New bank applications increased 
significantly for the sixth consecu
tive year, as record profits attracted 
new entrants to the marketplace. 
Nevertheless, merger applications 
continued to outnumber new 
entrants as the industry con
solidates. Several revisions to 
regulations governing the FDIC's 
applications procedures will 
further reduce regulatory burden 
and likely result in a decline in 
future applications.

1998 1997 1996
Total Number of Actions Initiated by the FDIC 143 127 186 §

Termination of Insurance
Involuntary Termination

Sec. 8a For Violations, Unsafe/Unsound Practices or Condition 0 0 1 :
Voluntary Termination

Sec.8a By Order Upon Request 0 0 0
Sec.8p No Deposits 5 6 3
Sec.8q Deposits Assumed 4 7 17 ■

Sec. 8b Cease-and-Desist Actions
Notices o f Charges Issued 2 3 3
Consent Orders 21 15 1 C  16 ;

Sec. 8e Removal/Prohibition of Director or Officer
Notices o f Intention to Remove/Prohibit 2 11 7
Consent Orders 15 33 60

Sec. 8g Suspension/Removal When Charged With Crime 0 1 ....1......■

Civil Money Penalties Issued
Sec.7a Call Report Penalties 41 24 19
Sec.Si Civil Money Penalties 35 10 19

Sec. 10c Orders of Investigation 6 6 1 1 1

Sec. 19 Denials of Service After Criminal Conviction 3 1 1

Sec. 32 Notices Disapproving Officer or Director 0 0 0

Truth in Lending Act Reimbursement Actions
Denials of Requests fo r Relief 1 3 6
Grants of Relief 0 0 0
Banks Making Reimbursement* 161 139 162

Criminal Referrals Involving Open Institutions* 5,786 12,689 8,201 ;

Other Actions Not Listed 8 7 22

•  These actions do not constitute the in itia tion  o f a form al enforcement action and, therefore, are not included 
in the to ta l number o f actions in itiated.
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Failed Institutions

The FDIC has the unique mission 
to protect depositors of insured 
banks and savings associations.
No depositor has ever experienced 
a loss of insured funds in an FDIC- 
insured institution due to a failure. 
The FDIC protects depositors by 
managing the Bank Insurance 
Fund (BIF) and the Savings 
Association Insurance Fund (SAIF). 
The FDIC also manages the 
remaining assets and liabilities of 
the former Federal Savings and 
Loan Insurance Corporation 
(FSLIC) and the former Resolution 
Trust Corporation (RTC) through 
the FSLIC Resolution Fund (FRF).

Once an institution is closed by 
its chartering authority— the state 
for state-chartered institutions, the 
Office of the Comptroller of the 
Currency (OCC) for national banks 
and the Office of Thrift Supervision 
(OTS) for federal savings associa
tions— the FDIC is responsible for 
resolving that failed bank or sav
ings association. The Division of 
Resolutions and Receiverships 
(DRR) staff gathers data about the 
troubled institution, estimates the 
potential loss from a liquidation, 
solicits and evaluates bids from 
potential acquirers, and recom
mends the least costly resolution 
to the FDIC's Board of Directors.

banks and savings associations 
minimizes the disruption to cus
tomers and allows some assets 
to be returned to the private sector 
immediately. Assets remaining 
after resolution are liquidated by 
DRR in an orderly manner and the 
proceeds are used to pay credi
tors, including depositors whose 
accounts exceeded the insured 
$100,000 limit, as well as the FDIC 
for repayment to the insurance 
fund.

During 1998, the FDIC resolved 
three BIF-insured institutions that 
failed. OmniBank, River Rouge, Ml, 
with a total of $38 million in assets, 
was closed on April 9. The majority 
of the bank's assets and all of the 
deposits were acquired under a 
"loss-share agreement" (explained 
in the next section). BestBank, 
Boulder, CO, with total assets of 
$318 million, was closed on July 
23. Its insured deposits and certain 
assets were acquired by an assum
ing bank. Q Bank, Fort Benton, MT, 
with total assets of $14 million, 
was closed on August 7. The failed 
bank's insured deposits and some 
assets were acquired by an 
assuming bank.

Protecting Insured 
Depositors

Although the focus of the FDIC 
in recent years has shifted from 
resolving large numbers of failed 
institutions to addressing existing 
and emerging risks in insured 
depository institutions, the FDIC 
continues to protect deposits in 
those institutions that fail. The 
FDIC's ability to attract healthy 
institutions to assume deposits 
and purchase assets of failed

Asset Disposition

To keep as many of a failed institu
tion’s assets in the private sector 
as possible (as opposed to being in 
a liquidation mode if left behind in 
receivership), the FDIC developed 
several new procedures and con
cepts. One such concept included 
opening the competition to bidders 
who might want to buy the troubled 
institution's loans, but not its 
branches. The expansion of 
potential acquirers was designed 
to decrease the cost of failures 
through increased competition.

In addition, previously used resolu
tion tools and methods were rein
troduced. Typically used in larger 
transactions, the FDIC utilized the 
loss-sharing agreement with the 
OmniBank resolution. The loss- 
share transaction allows flexibility 
for the potential acquirers of failing 
banks. The structure provides for 
the FDIC and the acquirer to share 
future losses and recoveries on 
specified assets within a limited 
time from the failure— generally 
two years for loss-sharing, with 
recovery-sharing extending an 
additional year.

Assets not sold at the time of 
resolution are retained by the FDIC 
for later sale, workout or other 
disposition. During the year, the 
FDIC had reduced the book value 
of the combined FDIC/RTC assets

▲ Regulators and former regulators, bankers and 
members of the academic community joined in 
a wide-ranging discussion at the April 23 FDIC- 
sponsored symposium "Managing the Crisis: 
The FDIC and HTC Experience."

Digitized for FRASER 
http://fraser.stlouisfed.org/ 
Federal Reserve Bank of St. Louis



Liquidation Highlights 1996-1998 £  ^

D o l l a r s  i n  b i l l i o n s
1998 1997 1996

Total Failed Banks 3 1 5
jjAssets of Failed Banks $ .37 $ .03 S .18
Total Failed Savings Associations 0 0 1

[Assets of Failed Savings Associations S 0 S 0 $ .04
Net Collections from Assets in Liquidation S 3.55 $ 3.57 $ 5.94

To ta l Assets in L iquidation* $ 2.38 S 4.12 S 8.71
Net Collections from Assets Not in Liquidation* S .38 $ .48 $ .65

JTotal Assets Not in Liquidation (year-end)* $ 6.71 $ 8.17 $ 13.31

•  Also includes assets from th r ifts  resolved by the form er Federal Savings and Loan Insurance Corporation (FSLIC) 
and the Resolution Trust Corporation (RTC). These assets are serviced by the FDIC as well as by asset management 
contractors and national servicers.

in liquidation from $4.1 billion to 
$2.4 billion, a reduction of 42 per
cent. In addition to the $2.4 billion 
in assets in liquidation, the FDIC 
was also managing $6.7 billion in 
assets not in liquidation, consisting 
of cash, securitization reserves and 
residuals. During the year, 806 real 
estate properties were sold for 
a total of $148.7 million, which 
yielded a recovery of 88.9 percent 
of their average appraised value 
as determined by independent 
appraisers. Also, 6,545 loans and 
other assets were sold for a total 
of $203.8 million.

Receivership M anagem ent 
A ctivities

Once the assets of the failed 
institutions have been sold and the 
final distribution of any proceeds 
made, the FDIC terminates the 
receivership estates. During 1998, 
the FDIC terminated 274 receiver
ships. Of these, 155 were RTC 
pass-through receiverships (where 
assets and liabilities are passed 
to an acquirer while certain claims 
were retained by the RTC as

receiver), 14 were FRF receiver
ships (commonly referred to as 
"Southwest Plan" institutions), 
and the remaining 105 were BIF 
or FRF/RTC receiverships. A total 
of 140 receiverships are currently 
in termination status, which 
means that expenses are no longer 
charged to the receiverships in 
anticipation of their termination.

The FDIC in 1998 created a new 
team approach to administering 
receiverships. The Receivership 
Management Oversight program 
is designed to increase efficiency 
and reduce receivership costs.
Each receivership created from 
a failed institution was assigned 
a team of experts to oversee the 
liquidation of the assets, manage 
the costs charged to the receiver
ship and facilitate the receiver
ship's timely termination. These 
experts created a business plan 
for the receivership that broadly 
defined the anticipated life cycle 
of the receivership.

The FDIC has also targeted specific 
older receiverships to be terminated 
by a streamlined process intended 
to resolve receiverships sooner. 
This streamlining was fully explored 
during the fourth quarter of 1998 
and will be in place for 1999.

Historical Studies

During 1998, the FDIC continued 
its studies on the banking crisis of 
the late 1980s and early 1990s. In 
August 1998, DRR issued a publica
tion entitled Managing The Crisis — 
The FDIC and RTC Experience. 
Virtually every division of the FDIC 
contributed to the study. This book 
provides a historical summary of 
the policies and procedures used 
by the FDIC and RTC in resolving 
the large volume of banks and 
thrifts that failed during the crisis.
It studies the various asset disposi
tion and bank resolution methods 
used and the lessons learned by 
both the FDIC and the RTC. This 
publication complements a previous 
study completed by the FDIC 
in 1997 entitled History o f the 
Eighties—Lessons for the Future: 
An Examination o f the Banking 
Crises o f the 1980s and Early 
1990s. The 1998 publication, 
which has been widely distributed, 
is accessible through the Internet 
and numerous libraries. The infor
mation from this study was the 
centerpiece of an FDIC-sponsored 
public symposium in April 1998.

A second book, entitled Resolutions 
Handbook, was also published in 
1998 by the same FDIC groups that 
completed Managing the Crisis. 
This 90-page book focuses on the 
resolution process of bank failures. 
It relates the historical efforts and 
experience of the FDIC and RTC 
and is an aid for the many foreign 
governments that have requested 
the FDIC's assistance. Numerous 
FDIC seminars involving partici
pants from foreign countries have 
used or are expected to use this 
book as their reference guide.
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These three publications establish 
permanent resource documents of 
the nation's most troubled financial 
crisis since the Great Depression. 
In addition, as the United States is 
now being called upon to provide 
international fiscal guidance, these 
publications will aid countries that 
are now struggling through their 
own banking difficulties.

FSLIC Resolution Fund

The FRF was established by law 
in 1989 to assume the remaining 
assets and obligations of the former 
FSLIC arising from thrift failures 
before January 1, 1989. Congress 
placed this new fund under FDIC 
management on August 9, 1989, 
when the FSLIC was abolished.
On January 1, 1996, the FRF also 
assumed the RTC's residual assets 
and obligations.

Today, the FRF consists of two 
distinct pools of assets and liabili
ties: one from the former FSLIC 
(FRF-FSLIC) transferred on 
August 9, 1989, and the other 
from the former RTC (FRF-RTC) 
transferred to the FRF on 
January 1, 1996. The assets of 
one pool are not available to satisfy 
obligations of the other.

At year-end 1998, the FRF-FSLIC 
had resolution equity of $2.1 billion, 
and the FRF-RTC had resolution 
equity of $8.2 billion. The FRF 
will continue to exist until all of 
its assets are sold or liquidated 
and all of its liabilities are satisfied. 
Any funds remaining in the FRF- 
FSLIC will be paid to the U.S. 
Treasury. Any remaining funds of 
the FRF-RTC will be distributed to 
the U.S. Treasury to repay RTC 
Completion Act appropriations and 
to the REFCORP to pay the inter
est on the REFCORP bonds.

Professional Liability  
Recoveries

The FDIC's Legal Division and DRR 
work together to identify claims 
against directors and officers, 
accountants, appraisers, attorneys 
and other professionals who may 
have contributed to the failure of 
an insured financial institution. 
During the year, the FDIC recovered 
more than $186.5 million from 
these professional liability suits. In 
addition, as part of the sentencing 
process for those convicted of 
criminal wrongdoing against failed 
institutions, the court may order 
a defendant to pay restitution 
to the receivership. The FDIC, 
working in conjunction with the 
U.S. Department of Justice, 
collected more than $17 million 
in criminal restitution and asset 
forfeiture during the year.

The Corporation also investigates 
the circumstances surrounding 
the failure of every institution and, 
where appropriate, sends suspi
cious activity reports to the Justice 
Department. In recent years,
6,434 such reports have been 
issued regarding failures. The 
FDIC's caseload at the end of 
1998 included investigations, law
suits and ongoing settlement 
collections involving 141 institutions, 
down from 180 at the beginning 
of 1998. This caseload includes 
RTC cases that the FDIC assumed 
on January 1, 1996.
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Consumer Protection Activities

The FDIC has a significant con
sumer protection responsibility.
The agency enforces compliance 
with consumer protection laws, 
including the Community Reinvest
ment Act (CRA) and fair lending 
laws. It also educates insured 
depository institutions and con
sumers in areas such as fair lend
ing, community reinvestment and 
deposit insurance. The FDIC's 
Division of Compliance and 
Consumer Affairs (DCA) primarily 
carries out the Corporation's 
consumer protection activities, 
with support from other divisions 
and offices.

C om m unity Reinvestm ent 
A ct

The FDIC continued working with 
the other federal banking agencies, 
financial institutions and community 
organizations to better implement 
the CRA regulations. The CRA is a 
law that encourages FDIC-insured 
lenders to help meet their commu
nities' credit needs.

One option for CRA compliance— 
the "strategic plan"— offers 
banks both flexibility and certainty, 
regardless of their asset size or 
product mix. The plan allows an 
institution to tailor its CRA goals 
and objectives to address its com
munity's needs, consistent with 
the institution's business strategy, 
operational focus, capacity and 
constraints. Once an institution 
has proposed specific goals, the 
FDIC will work with the institution 
to determine the goals' appropri
ateness and reasonableness. If the 
goals meet the criteria for either a 
satisfactory or outstanding rating, 
the FDIC will approve the goals 
and the institution will know its 
CRA performance rating provided 
it achieves those goals.

The FDIC's Guidelines for Strategic 
Plan Submissions, issued in 
March 1998, presents existing 
FDIC policy guidance in a more 
user-friendly format. Since the 
CRA strategic plan became an 
alternative CRA assessment 
method in January 1996, relatively 
few banks have exercised the 
option. This publication encourages 
institutions to consider the strategic 
plan method by providing "how-to" 
guidance for developing a work
able strategic plan. It also includes 
references to help with data- 
gathering and analysis over the 
Internet.

Also during 1998, the FDIC, the 
Office of the Comptroller of the 
Currency, and the Federal Reserve 
Board initiated a three-part project 
to promote consistency in the CRA

examination process for "large" 
banks. The project included eight 
joint interagency examinations, a 
review of sample CRA performance 
evaluations from each agency, and 
an interagency-sponsored CRA 
forum in October to address ways 
for improving examination consis
tency. The agencies will review 
the project results and consider 
recommendations for developing 
more consistent application of 
CRA examination procedures.

Com pliance Examinations

DCA examines FDIC-supervised 
banks for compliance with con
sumer protection, fair lending, 
and community reinvestment laws 
and regulations. During 1998, the 
FDIC initiated 1,989 examinations. 
At year-end, 96 percent of FDIC- 
supervised banks were rated satis
factory or outstanding for compli
ance with consumer protection 
and fair lending laws, while 99 per
cent were rated satisfactory or 
outstanding for compliance with 
the CRA. These percentages were 
fairly similar to 1997 levels.

During 1998, a total of 161 FDIC- 
supervised banks were required 
to reimburse over $1 million to 
31,222 consumers for violations 
of the Truth in Lending Act, which 
requires accurate disclosures of 
interest rates and finance charges. 
The reimbursements ordered in 
1998 stem from compliance 
examinations conducted in 1998 
and in previous years.

To improve risk management,
DCA increased the focus of the 
examination process on areas of 
highest risk to the public, financial 
institutions and the FDIC. This 
"scoping" policy ensures an on
site presence in all FDIC-supervised 
institutions every three years..

%

▲ Kate Spears of the Division of Compliance 
and Consumer Affairs (DCA) discusses deposit 
insurance with bank employees during one 
of the many educational outreach seminars 
conducted by DCA around the country.
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Another risk-management effort 
is relying more on an institution's 
internal and external audit programs, 
which promote self-regulation. For 
example, under the Community 
Reinvestment Act, institutions are 
not required to perform any internal 
assessment of their CRA perfor
mance. However, if in the normal 
course of business, an institution 
conducted an analysis of its lending, 
service or investment activity, 
assessment area, community 
development lending, or other 
activities reviewed for CRA pur
poses, an examiner might request 
that information to review and 
use for the CRA examination. This 
would, in effect, reduce or limit 
CRA examination procedures.

Also, new interagency procedures 
were issued in August 1998 to 
assist compliance examiners when 
reviewing an interstate branch 
that has been operating for more 
than one year. Section 109 of the 
Reigle-Neal Interstate Banking and 
Branching Efficiency Act of 1994 
prohibits banks from establishing 
or acquiring interstate branches 
primarily for deposit production.

To ensure quality and efficiency in 
the FDIC's fair lending examination 
program, the Corporation in 1998 
helped create interagency fair 
lending examination procedures 
and conducted new training and 
development programs for its 
compliance examiners.

The goal of the new fair lending 
examination procedures was to 
give examiners guidance in taking 
an efficient risk-based approach 
to examining for compliance with 
the Fair Flousing Act and the Equal 
Credit Opportunity Act. The proce
dures also are a blueprint for finan
cial institutions wishing to conduct 
a thorough self-assessment.

Two new training and development 
programs were created for compli
ance examiners in 1998. One gave 
examiners practical knowledge of 
existing fair lending examination 
methodologies, familiarized them 
with the new interagency fair lend
ing examination procedures and 
identified emerging issues. The 
other program sharpened senior 
compliance examiners' fair lending 
expertise.

Electronic Banking

Financial institutions are continuing 
to use the Internet as an alternative 
delivery channel for offering an 
increasing number of consumer 
products and services online, such 
as deposit account applications, 
bill payment, and funds transfers. 
At year-end 1998, more than 950 
FDIC-supervised institutions oper
ated on the Internet. Over 200 
were "transactional" sites that 
provided customers the ability to 
pay bills, transfer funds and open 
accounts— an increase of 500 per
cent over 1997. The FDIC respond
ed to emerging electronic banking 
issues in areas such as consumer 
protection and fair lending laws 
and regulations, consumer privacy 
concerns, and bank fraud on the 
Internet.

The FDIC and other members of 
the Federal Financial Institutions 
Examination Council issued intera
gency guidance on the applicability 
of federal consumer protection and 
fair lending laws and regulations. 
The same guidance stressed the 
importance of a compliance review 
of electronic banking operations. 
During 1998, DCA also trained its 
compliance examiners nationwide 
on electronic banking systems, 
risks, and compliance examination 
guidelines.

Changes in the financial services 
industry, such as industry consoli
dation, new business affiliations 
with brokerage and insurance 
firms, and increasing use of tech
nology, have renewed consumers' 
concern about the privacy of per
sonal information. Of particular 
concern to the public is financial 
institutions' participation in the 
rapid growth of electronic com
merce online, primarily over the 
Internet. In 1998, the FDIC issued 
guidance to financial institutions to 
raise awareness about consumer 
privacy concerns. Institutions were 
encouraged to take voluntary 
actions to provide consumers with 
privacy protections in the online 
environment. The FDIC also issued 
its own privacy policy statement 
to demonstrate its commitment 
to maintain the privacy of informa
tion. That policy statement has 
been posted on the FDIC’s 
Web site.

During 1998, the FDIC launched 
a "Suspicious Internet Banking" 
Web site, allowing the public to 
check whether an online institution 
is chartered by a legitimate regula
tory authority and insured by the 
FDIC before transacting business 
with it. The site also allows the 
public to report any Internet 
banking sites they believe may 
be fraudulent.

Educating Consumers 
and Bankers

The FDIC offers a wide range 
of information and assistance to 
thousands of consumers and 
depository institution employees 
each year in areas ranging from 
federal deposit insurance to banking 
industry practices. DCA coordinates 
the agency's efforts to educate 
consumers and bankers on these 
important topics.
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Since 1980, the FDIC's primary 
means of disseminating informa
tion to the public and banking 
community has been its toll-free 
Consumer Affairs Call Center 
(1-800-934-3342 or 1-800-925-4618 
for the hearing impaired).
Beginning in 1997, the FDIC 
increased public awareness of its 
Call Center and, as a result, the 
Call Center received more than 
90,000 calls from consumers and 
bankers in 1998, approximately 
30 percent more than in 1997. 
DCA regional offices received 
another 13,500 calls from 
consumers and bankers during 
the year.

DCA also received 2,300 written 
inquiries from consumers and 267 
written inquiries from bankers in 
1998, over one-third more than in
1997. The increase is attributed 
primarily to the success of DCA's 
efforts to raise public awareness 
of the FDIC's educational services. 
Another 2,399 inquiries were 
referred to other state and federal 
agencies.

To make it faster and easier for 
consumers and depository institu
tion employees to obtain information 
from the FDIC, consumers and 
bankers can send questions and 
requests to the agency electronically 
at consumer@fdic.gov and receive 
a quick response via electronic 
mail. More than 1,000 of the 
inquiries received were submitted 
by electronic mail to the FDIC's 
"consumer mailbox" in 1998, 
compared to 555 in 1997 and 
120 in 1996.

Most consumer inquiries received 
by DCA— whether by telephone, 
electronic mail or traditional mail — 
involved requests to verify whether 
specific financial institutions are

insured by the FDIC or questions 
about FDIC deposit insurance 
coverage. Other common inquiries 
were requests for copies of FDIC 
consumer publications, questions 
about banking practices and 
consumers’ rights under federal 
consumer protection laws, and 
requests for guidance on filing 
a consumer complaint against 
a financial institution. Most 
inquiries from financial institutions 
concerned the deposit insurance 
rules, requests for FDIC publica
tions and consumer brochures, 
and questions about regulatory 
matters, including requests for 
guidance on the fair lending, 
community reinvestment, and 
consumer protection laws.

The FDIC develops educational tools 
designed to promote consumer 
and banker understanding of feder
al deposit insurance, banking, and 
federal consumer protection laws. 
An example is the recently devel
oped Electronic Deposit Insurance 
Estimator, known as "EDIE." EDIE 
is a user-friendly Internet applica
tion that consumers and bankers 
can use to calculate the amount 
of insurance coverage for deposit 
accounts at FDIC-insured financial 
institutions. EDIE can be found 
on the FDIC's Web site at 
www2.fdic.gov/edie.

The FDIC also initiated a public 
awareness campaign regarding the 
Year 2000 challenge. During 1998, 
the FDIC published a brochure 
and a "statement stuffer" to help 
bankers educate their customers 
about the Year 2000 computer 
issue and what is being done to 
assure that the banking industry is 
ready for the new millennium. The 
FDIC also devoted an entire issue 
of its quarterly FDIC Consumer 
News to the Year 2000. More 
information on these and other 
efforts to educate consumers 
and bankers on Y2K can be 
found on Pages 13-15.

Responses to  Consumer 
Com plaints

The FDIC investigates complaints 
it receives from consumers about 
FDIC-supervised financial institu
tions. It also tracks the volume 
and nature of these complaints 
to monitor trends and identify 
emerging issues that may raise 
consumer protection concerns.
In 1998, the FDIC received almost 
3,900 written consumer complaints 
against state-chartered nonmember 
banks. Nearly two-thirds of these 
complaints concerned consumer 
credit card accounts issued by 
FDIC-supervised credit card banks. 
The most common complaints 
about credit card banks in 1998 
involved billing disputes and account 
errors, disclosure of reasons for 
denying credit requests, misdirected 
credit card applications, reporting 
consumers' credit history, and 
credit card fees and service 
charges.

To improve consumer awareness 
and understanding of credit card 
issues, DCA:

•  Centralized credit card 
complaints and inquiries to 
ensure greater consistency
in its responses, and stepped 
up analysis and monitoring 
of specific issues.

•  Prepared a brochure that 
describes what consumers 
need to know when applying 
for credit cards. This brochure 
will be used at outreach 
events, mailed to major 
consumer organizations and 
placed on the FDIC’s Web site.

•  Included articles about 
emerging credit card issues 
in FDIC Consumer News.
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Com m unity A ffairs  
and Outreach

The FDIC frequently meets with 
community and consumer groups, 
financial institution representatives 
and government officials to 
exchange views or provide infor
mation about community reinvest
ment, community and economic 
development, and fair lending 
issues. In 1998, the FDIC's 
Community Affairs Program spon
sored or participated in over 200 
such events across the country. 
The activities were primarily of 
two types— those focusing on 
educating and those fostering 
partnerships between financial 
institutions and community-based 
organizations to promote commu
nity and economic development 
in low- and moderate-income 
communities.

The educational activities focused 
largely on encouraging insured 
depository institutions' under
standing of and compliance with 
CRA. They often were conducted 
in cooperation with state banking 
associations.

The FDIC also held several meet
ings and conferences to promote 
CRA compliance. Their size and 
purpose ranged from small meet
ings on the bank examination 
process with community-based 
organizations to co-sponsoring 
conferences in Miami and 
Las Vegas attended by more 
than 250 financial institutions, 
real estate developers, community- 
based organizations and others 
involved in community develop
ment. The FDIC reached more 
than 6,000 financial institution 
representatives through these 
initiatives.

The Corporation also made major 
strides in fostering ongoing com
munication between banks and 
community organizations. These 
efforts are expected to result in 
new partnerships, strengthen 
existing alliances, increase lending 
activities, improve lending perfor
mance or develop strategies to 
help meet identified credit needs. 
For the first time, the FDIC 
co-sponsored a national conference 
that focused on community and 
economic development. The theme 
of the conference co-sponsored 
with the American Bankers 
Association was "Revitalization 
and Development: Joining Forces 
for Healthy Communities." 
Attended by more than 250 finan
cial institution representatives, 
community based-organizations 
and government representatives, 
the conference confirmed the 
FDIC's strong commitment to 
helping the financial institutions 
it supervises further community 
development.

Two other 1998 events demonstrate 
the success of the FDIC's partner- 
ship-building efforts and show the 
FDIC's commitment to using a 
variety of techniques to address 
the needs of the communities of 
FDIC-supervised institutions. One 
event was a regional conference in 
Chattanooga, TN, which the FDIC 
co-sponsored with the Appalachian

Regional Commission. The confer
ence was designed to bring atten
tion to the needs of the communi
ties located within the Appalachian 
Region. Cooperating in the 
effort were the Tennessee Valley 
Authority, the Small Business 
Administration, the Department 
of Agriculture, and various devel
opment districts and government 
officials throughout the region.
The second event was a hands- 
on effort to form a "micro-loan" 
program for small businesses in 
the Greater Flumboldt Park area 
of Chicago, IL. A micro-loan pool 
involving eight financial institutions 
and an intermediary to serve small 
businesses was established in 
this predominantly low-income 
Hispanic community.
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Significant Court Cases

Matters in litigation covered a 
broad spectrum including issues 
relating to the supervision of 
insured institutions, the resolution 
of failed banks and savings associ
ations, the liquidation of assets, 
and the pursuit of liability claims 
against failed institution officers, 
directors and professionals. The 
FDIC's litigation caseload declined 
50 percent, from about 8,550 
matters at year-end 1997 to 
approximately 4,280 at year-end 
1998. That decline was due primar
ily to the resolution of cases from 
the bank and thrift crisis of the 
late 1980s and early 1990s, the 
decrease in new bank failures, 
and the ending of litigation caused 
by asset sales in the liquidation 
process. Noteworthy developments 
in 1998 are described below.

Professional Liability  
and Crim inal Recoveries

The Legal Division and the Division 
of Resolutions and Receiverships 
recovered $186.5 million during 
1998 from professional liability 
settlements or judgments. At year- 
end, the FDIC's professional liability 
caseload included investigations, 
lawsuits and settlement collections 
involving 141 institutions, a 
decrease of 39 institutions from 
the prior year.

The FDIC also collected more than 
$11.4 million from criminal restitu
tion payments and $5.6 million in 
asset forfeitures ordered by the 
Courts as part of the judgments 
against defendants in criminal 
cases brought by the U.S. Depart
ment of Justice.

Statutes of Lim itation  
Defenses

In professional liability matters, the 
applicable "statutes of limitation" 
(the state laws that determine 
the period during which an action 
against directors, officers or others 
who contributed to the failure of 
federally insured depository institu
tions may be brought) continued 
to be a hotly contested issue in
1998. The FDIC argues that when 
wrongdoers dominated the board 
of a failed institution, the agency 
should get additional time to file 
suit against them because these 
controlling board members would 
not have sued themselves, and 
no one else could sue them while 
they were in power. For many 
years the FDIC successfully 
asserted this doctrine of "adverse 
domination" as a matter of 
federal common law, until the 
U.S. Supreme Court's decision in 
O'Melveny & Myers v. FDIC in 
1994. As a result of the O'Melveny 
decision, these issues are now 
determined by state laws, which 
vary widely.

For example, in Texas, the 1993 
decision in Dawson v. FDIC by 
the U.S. Court of Appeals for the 
Fifth Circuit in New Orleans, and 
subsequent decisions interpreting 
it, limit the FDIC's use of the 
doctrine of adverse domination 
to cases where the defendants 
engaged in intentional misconduct 
or fraud, as opposed to gross 
negligence. In 1998, in a variation 
on this issue, the Fifth Circuit 
rejected the FDIC's argument in a 
Louisiana case, FDIC v. Abraham, 
that 15 former directors of a failed 
savings institution should be 
held accountable under a 10-year 
statute of limitation for claims of 
breach of fiduciary duty instead 
of a one-year statute of limitation 
for claims of gross negligence.
The Fifth Circuit concluded that 
a claim for breach of fiduciary duty,

and thus application of the 10-year 
statute of limitation, requires a 
showing of fraud, self-dealing, bad 
faith, breach of trust, or other "ill 
acts." It rejected the FDIC's posi
tion, and a recent Louisiana appel
late court decision, that grossly 
negligent conduct is sufficient 
for a claim of breach of fiduciary 
duty. The Abraham ruling caused 
the FDIC to lose approximately 
$54 million in dismissed claims 
in four Louisiana suits.

The statute of limitation precedents 
are not uniform in all circuits. For 
example, in 1998 the U.S. Court 
of Appeals for the Ninth Circuit 
in San Francisco held in FDIC v. 
Jackson that an Arizona statute of 
limitation is tolled (that is, extend
ed) during the time that grossly 
negligent directors adversely domi
nate an institution. Thus, in Arizona 
(unlike Texas), fraudulent or inten
tional concealment of facts is 
not necessary in order to toll the 
statute of limitation. As a result of 
the significant differences in state 
laws regarding statutes of limitation, 
as well as differing interpretations 
of such statutes by the courts, this 
area will likely continue to be hotly 
contested for years to come.

Directors' and O fficers' 
Liability

The case of FDIC v. Jackson 
mentioned previously dates back 
to 1992, when the FDIC brought a 
professional liability lawsuit against 
the former directors of Century 
Bank, a failed Arizona bank. The 
suit involved claims that the for
mer directors negligently approved 
improper loans that later went into 
default. In October 1992, the 
U. S. District Court for the District 
of Arizona ruled against the FDIC 
on claims for negligence, gross 
negligence and breach of fiduciary 
duty brought against the former 
directors. The FDIC appealed the 
case, and on January 5, 1998, the 
U.S. Court of Appeals for the Ninth 
Circuit issued a mostly favorable 
decision in FDIC v. Jackson.
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The Ninth Circuit determined that 
the district court had improperly 
dismissed all of the FDIC's claims 
for simple negligence without 
regard to whether they fell within 
the Arizona law on "business judg
ment" (i.e., a rule that corporate 
officers and directors acting in 
good faith are not liable for errors 
in judgment unless they engage 
in unauthorized or illegal acts). The 
appellate court found that under 
Arizona law, bank directors should 
be held to a gross negligence stan
dard of liability when the business 
judgment rule applies, but a simple 
negligence standard when the 
alleged wrongful acts fall outside 
the scope of the business judg
ment rule. The Ninth Circuit also 
concluded that a long-time bank 
director's greater knowledge and 
historical perspective regarding 
regulatory problems may be 
considered in determining whether 
a director had acted negligently 
in approving a loan.

In its decision, the Court also 
addressed when the statute of 
limitation started to run on the 
FDIC's claims. It determined that 
under Arizona law, the earliest 
that the claims could have been 
brought against the former directors 
was when the improper loans 
were made or approved, not, as 
the FDIC had argued, at the later 
time when the loans actually went 
into default. This ruling by the 
Court did not bar the FDIC's claims, 
however, because the Court also 
found that the doctrine of adverse 
domination (described previously 
in this chapter) applied to the 
FDIC's claims.

The Ninth Circuit's analysis of 
these significant issues— the 
standard of care for bank directors, 
the business judgment rule and 
adverse domination— provides 
favorable precedent for the FDIC's 
future professional liability cases.

Goodwill L itigation

As a result of the Financial 
Institutions Fieform, Recovery, 
and Enforcement Act of 1989 
(FIRREA), the Office of Thrift 
Supervision (OTS) in 1990 changed 
the regulations governing the 
capital requirements for thrift 
institutions to make them conform 
to those for commercial banks. 
Consequently, certain forms of 
intangible capital, such as supervi
sory goodwill, were no longer 
allowed to be counted as part 
of a thrift's capital. Acquirers of 
thrift institutions sued the govern
ment, alleging that they had 
purchased failed or failing thrifts 
prior to the passage of FIRREA 
based on a promise from the 
Federal Savings and Loan Insurance 
Corporation (FSLIC) that they could 
count such intangibles toward 
their capital requirements. Plaintiffs 
allege that FIRREA's changes 
resulted in a breach of contract or 
a taking of their property without 
just compensation.

In July 1996, in Winstar Corporation 
v. United States (Winstar), the 
U.S. Supreme Court ruled in three 
consolidated goodwill cases 
(Winstar, Statesman and Glendale) 
that the United States is liable 
for a breach of contract based on 
FIRREA's change in capital stan
dards and remanded those cases 
for a trial on damages. More than 
120 goodwill cases were pending 
in the U.S. Court of Federal Claims 
as of year-end 1998. The major 
issues include breach of contract 
liability in many cases and the 
appropriate legal standards for the 
recovery of damages (the recovery 
of future lost profits being the 
most controversial issue). Four 
cases were settled, in whole or

in part, during 1998 (Statesman, 
Union, Winstar and Dollar). Twelve 
"priority" cases are scheduled to 
go to trial in 1999. Upon completion 
of the priority cases, the remaining 
cases are expected to go to trial 
at a rate of 12 or 15 per year. In 
addition, five cases, known as the 
Guarini cases, involve challenges 
to legislation passed after FIRREA 
that changed the method for com
puting certain tax benefits given to 
acquirers of failed or failing thrifts.

The FDIC, as successor to the 
rights of failed institutions with 
potential goodwill claims against 
the United States, is a co-plaintiff 
or plaintiff in more than 40 good
will cases. The FDIC, as successor 
to the FSLIC, is providing support 
to the Department of Justice in 
its defense of the United States. 
Appropriate "fire walls" have been 
established within the FDIC to 
keep the two groups of employees 
supporting these different roles 
separate and apart in order to 
preserve confidentiality and avoid 
conflicts of interest.

In October 1998, Congress passed 
legislation appropriating necessary 
sums to pay judgments and settle
ments arising out of goodwill 
litigation. Pursuant to a Memo
randum of Understanding between 
the FDIC and the Department of 
Justice, the litigation expenses 
incurred by the United States are 
to be funded separately by the 
FDIC from other resources. That 
portion of the FSLIC Resolution 
Fund that contains the assets and 
liabilities of the former FSLIC shall 
be the funding source for goodwill 
litigation expenses.
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On April 10, 1999, the United States 
Court of Federal Claims ruled that 
the federal government must pay 
Glendale Federal Bank $908.9 mil
lion for breaching a contract that 
allowed the thrift to count goodwill 
toward regulatory capital. Both 
the plaintiffs and the Department 
of Justice are expected to appeal 
the decision. Additionally, on 
April 16, 1999, in a similar case, 
another judge of the U.S. Court 
of Federal Claims, using a different 
analysis than the one used by the 
judge in the Glendale case, awarded 
California Federal Bank $23 million. 
California Federal Bank was seeking 
more than $1.5 billion in damages 
and is expected to appeal the deci
sion. The analyses of the damage 
issues in the two cases appear to 
be irreconcilable. Due to the antici
pated appeals and the conflicting 
analyses in the two cases, the 
ultimate outcome is uncertain.

Tax Penalties

FIRREA precludes state and local 
governments from imposing any 
taxes, fees or penalties on real 
property owned by the FDIC except 
for real property taxes based on 
value. The statute was in part 
a codification of the well-settled 
doctrine announced by the Supreme 
Court in 1819 in McCulloch v. 
Maryland that the national govern
ment is generally immune from 
taxes by state and local govern
ments. To enforce this statute and 
the related FDIC policy, the FDIC 
as receiver of various failed finan
cial institutions and as manager of 
the FRF filed suit in 1998 against 
28 California counties to recover 
in excess of $5 million in overpaid 
property tax penalties paid in viola
tion of FIRREA. These cases are 
significant both because they 
concern a challenge to the FDIC's 
express statutory immunity from 
state and local taxes and because 
they raise the issue of whether the 
Tax Injunction Act of 1948 or the 
11th Amendment to the Consti
tution preclude federal courts from 
enforcing that immunity.

Bank Holding Company 
Litigation

In the case of Branch v. FDIC, 
the bankruptcy trustee for a bank 
holding company in 1992 alleged 
that it was due $2.1 billion as a 
result of money and assets the 
company "downstreamed" to its 
subsidiary banks (including the 
Bank of New England) when the 
parent company was insolvent.
The plaintiff cited the Bankruptcy 
Code, which allows a trustee to 
avoid transfers of a debtor's prop
erty made when the debtor was 
insolvent, without regard to the 
motives of the parties involved, 
if the debtor did not receive 
reasonably equivalent value in 
exchange. The case highlighted 
an inherent conflict between 
the bank regulatory and statutory 
systems (which require holding 
companies to provide financial 
support to their subsidiary banks) 
and the Bankruptcy Code (which 
focuses exclusively on recovering 
the debtor's property regardless 
of the legitimacy of the reasons 
transfers were made). The FDIC 
argued that it could not be held 
liable for transfers under the 
Bankruptcy Code's fraudulent 
transfer section (or a corresponding 
state law) when the transfer was 
made pursuant to a valid regulatory 
directive. The district court in 1993 
rejected this argument, made in 
a motion to dismiss in 1993, and 
allowed the plaintiff to proceed 
to trial on the merits.

In 1998 the FDIC prevailed on its 
motion to dismiss plaintiff's largest 
claim for more than $1.6 billion 
in federal funds from two of the 
subsidiary banks. These efforts 
reduced the claims to be tried to 
about $400 million. After engaging 
in mediation, the FDIC in 1998 
settled the remaining claims by 
paying $140 million.

Insurance Assessments

In 1996, the FDIC revised the 
assessment schedule for the 
Savings Association Insurance 
Fund (SAIF) for the fourth quarter 
of 1996 because a special assess
ment authorized by Congress had 
recapitalized the insurance fund. 
The revised assessment schedule 
resulted in a refund of most of 
the SAIF assessments previously 
collected for the fourth quarter 
but not the money collected at 
the same time to service bonds 
of the Financing Corporation (FICO). 
America's Community Bankers 
(ACB), an industry trade association, 
sued the FDIC to have the FICO 
assessment refunded. ACB argued 
that since the SAIF had been 
recapitalized in the fourth quarter, 
the FDIC was precluded from 
collecting the FICO assessment 
that quarter.

In November 1998, the District 
Court for the District of Columbia 
rejected the ACB's challenge. It 
found that the FDIC's interpreta
tion of the statute was entitled 
to deference and was reasonable 
in light of the statute's conflicting 
goals and the broad discretion 
afforded the FDIC in setting assess
ments. The court also concluded 
that because the FICO assessment 
had already been transferred to 
the FICO prior to enactment of 
the SAIF special assessment, the 
FICO funds did not belong to the 
FDIC and therefore an award of 
money damages was precluded by 
the Administrative Procedure Act.
In early 1999, ACB announced 
its intention to appeal the court's 
decision.
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D'Oench Duhme

The D'Oench doctrine, which is 
traced to a 1942 Supreme Court 
ruling, protects the FDIC against 
any arrangements, including oral 
or secret agreements, that are 
likely to mislead bank examiners in 
the review of a bank's records.
On May 8, 1996, the U.S. Court 
of Appeals for the Eleventh Circuit 
in Atlanta, sitting en banc (with 
all active judges participating), 
held in Motorcity o f Jacksonville v. 
Southeast Bank that the D'Oench 
doctrine survives the passage 
of FIRREA and remains a viable 
protection for the FDIC. However, 
that decision disagreed with a
1995 opinion by the U.S. Court of 
Appeals for the District of Columbia. 
On February 28, 1997, the FDIC 
issued its operative Statement of 
Policy on D'Oench to deal with the 
concerns raised in the courts as to 
the D'Oench doctrine's continuing 
viability after FIRREA. The FDIC 
determined in the policy statement 
that agreements made pre-FIRREA 
will be governed by D'Oench: 
FIRREA will not be applied retroac
tively to agreements entered into 
before the enactment of FIRREA 
on August 9, 1989. In addition, the 
FDIC determined that agreements 
made after the enactment of FIR
REA will be governed by sections 
of FIRREA barring claims against 
the FDIC that do not meet specific 
recording requirements set forth 
in the statute.

The plaintiff in Motorcity also had 
appealed to the U.S. Supreme 
Court, arguing that the "split" 
between the two circuits needed 
to be resolved. In January 1997, 
the U.S. Supreme Court instructed 
the Eleventh Circuit to reconsider 
its decision and determine whether 
a previous U.S. Supreme Court 
case involving federal common law

(Atherton v. FDIC) affected the 
outcome. In August 1997, the 
Eleventh Circuit held that nothing 
in Atherton altered the outcome 
of its earlier decision and, conse
quently, it was not necessary 
to address the FDIC's policy 
statement. The Motorcity 
plaintiff filed its second appeal 
to the U.S. Supreme Court on 
December 18, 1997. On April 27,
1998, the Supreme Court denied 
the plaintiff's petition, bringing an 
end to this litigation. Although the 
Eleventh Circuit's favorable deci
sion stands, the FDIC will continue 
to apply the provisions of the 1997 
policy statement in determining 
whether to apply the D'Oench 
doctrine.

FIRREA's Anti-In junction  
Provision

When Congress enacted FIRREA 
in 1989, it gave the FDIC broad 
powers to resolve failed financial 
institutions efficiently and expedi
tiously. One of these powers was 
an anti-injunction statute that 
enables the FDIC, in its capacity as 
receiver or conservator for a failed 
bank, to operate quickly and with
out interference. In particular, the 
statute prohibits judicial action 
that would "restrain or affect the 
exercise of powers or functions" 
of the FDIC.

In 1994, five former shareholders 
of Meritor Savings Bank sued 
the FDIC and the Pennsylvania 
Secretary of Banking, challenging 
the 1992 closure of the bank and 
the appointment of the FDIC as 
receiver. In this case (Hlndes v. 
FDIC), the plaintiffs argued that 
the FDIC had wrongfully issued 
advance "notification" of its intent 
to terminate Meritor's deposit 
insurance in order to provide the 
Pennsylvania banking supervisor 
with a pretext for seizing the 
institution. On February 19, 1998, 
the U.S. Court of Appeals for the 
Third Circuit in Philadelphia, upheld

a district court ruling dismissing 
the shareholders' action because a 
review of the FDIC's "notification" 
was barred by the anti-injunction 
statute. In addition, the Court stated 
that even if the anti-injunction 
provision did not apply, the agency's 
issuance of the notification was 
not subject to judicial review 
because it was not a final action 
that could be reviewed by the 
Court.

This case is significant because 
the Third Circuit determined that 
the shareholders' failure to timely 
challenge the FDIC's appointment 
as receiver under state procedures 
precluded them from later seeking 
to remove the FDIC. In addition, 
it is the first court of appeals 
decision to hold that shareholders 
could not assert a claim under 
FIRREA against the FDIC challeng
ing the appropriateness of the 
receivership accounting.
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Internal Operations

Building on the groundwork laid in 
previous years, the FDIC continued 
to focus on improving the opera
tional efficiency and effectiveness 
of the Corporation in 1998. A strong 
banking industry and the small 
number of institution failures 
resulted in a continued decline 
in the FDIC's resolutions and liqui
dation workload. This led to more 
office closings and further staff 
reductions at the FDIC in 1998.
At the same time, the Corporation 
allocated additional resources to 
ensure that insured institutions 
were effectively addressing Year
2000 technology issues, and to 
identify and analyze other potential 
emerging risks to the insurance 
funds. Here is an overview of the 
most significant activities in these 
areas in 1998.

Focusing on Planning 
and Efficiency

The FDIC Strategic Plan provides 
a framework for accomplishing the 
Corporation's mission. The plan 
sets a course for the organization 
and guides decisions on the use 
of Corporation resources. In 1998, 
the FDIC revised its Strategic Plan 
to emphasize the results to 
be achieved and to realign the 
Corporation's activities around 
three major program areas: insur
ance, supervision and receivership 
management. A section was added 
to address the FDIC's management 
of its human, technological and 
information resources and internal 
controls.

The corporate-level strategic plan 
is augmented by three additional 
strategic plans that address infor
mation technology, corporate 
diversity and the activities of the 
Office of Inspector General (OIG).
In accordance with the Government 
Performance and Results Act of 
1993, the FDIC's annual budget 
is linked to the FDIC Strategic Plan.

Regular performance reports allow 
management to evaluate actual 
performance and to adjust strategic 
goals and the allocation of resources 
as needed. They also provide 
important information for future 
planning efforts.

The FDIC developed new tools 
during 1998 to integrate its planning 
activities with established manage
ment functions. For example, a 
new Business Planning System 
facilitates budget development, 
provides a link to the FDIC Strategic 
and Annual Plans, and enables 
improved cost management by 
furnishing FDIC managers with 
information not previously available. 
Another new tool, the Business 
Planning Information Application, 
enables quicker access to expense 
information, which allows the 
Corporation to make more timely, 
informed decisions that can help 
control costs.

Controlling Expenses 
and Reducing Costs

The FDIC's budget is the culmina
tion of the Corporation's annual 
planning process. The largest 
component of the annual budget 
is staffing-related costs. Staffing 
estimates are developed by each 
division and office, and are based 
on corporate-wide workload 
assumptions and division and 
office annual performance plans. 
Additional resource needs are 
also identified during the budget 
process.

In 1998, the FDIC continued to 
contain expenses and reduce costs. 
Actual expenditures for 1998 were 
$1.2 billion, or 12.7 percent less 
than 1997 spending and 12 percent 
below the approved 1998 budget. 
Actual 1998 spending was below 
budgeted levels primarily due to 
lower costs for asset liquidation- 
related contracting and the hiring 
of fewer Division of Supervision 
(DOS) examiners than initially 
planned.

Downsizing and 
Consolidation

The Corporation continued to 
reduce the size of its workforce 
in 1998 to levels consistent with 
its declining resolutions and liqui
dation workload. Total FDIC staffing 
decreased to 7,359 at year-end
1998, down 5.7 percent from year- 
end 1997. Staffing reductions 
were primarily due to further 
declines in the inventory of assets 
in liquidation and related workload. 
They were accomplished largely 
through the expiration of non
permanent appointments and by 
consolidating field operations.

▲ Members of the FDIC's information management 
staff test the Corporation's internal software 
systems for Y2K compliance.
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Number of Officials and Employees of the FDIC 1997 -1998  (ye a r-e n d) m
Total Washington Regional/Field

1998 1997 1998 1997 1998 1997

Executive Offices* 110 127 110 127 0 0
(D ivis ion o f Supervision 2,655 2,550 197 191 2,458 2,359

Division o f Compliance and Consumer A ffa irs 646 618 59 56 587 562
■Division of Resolutions and Receiverships 795 1,093 134 153 661 940
Legal Division 907 1,035 482 425 563

(D ivision of Finance 570 606 298 307 272 299
Division o f Information Resources Management 505 502 429 421 76 81
Division of Research and Statistics 94 94 94 94 0 0
Division o f Insurance 69 56 36 32 33 24

{Division o f Administration 687 758 417 429 270 329
Office of Inspector General 218 145 147 73 69
Office of Diversity and Economic Opportunity 45 63 33 45 12 18
Office o f the Ombudsman 37 57 15 23 22 34

■Office of Internal Control Management 21 18 21 18 0 0

Total 7,359 7,793 2,470 2,515 4,889 5,278

*  Includes the  Offices o f the Chairman, Vice Chairman, Director (Appointive), Chief Operating Officer, C h ief Financial Officer, Chief Inform ation Officer, Executive Secretary, 
|  Corporate Communications, Legislative A ffa irs, and Policy Development.
1

In accordance with a 1996 plan 
for a phased consolidation of its 
field operations, the Division of 
Resolutions and Receiverships 
(DRR) in 1998 closed field offices 
in Irvine, CA; Jersey City, NJ; and 
Boston, MA; and consolidated the 
residual workload from those sites 
into the Dallas and Washington 
offices. Only the Hartford, CT, 
office remains to be closed under 
DRR's 1996 field consolidation 
plan. In December 1998, the FDIC 
Board of Directors delayed the 
Hartford office's projected closing 
date until June 30, 2000. This will 
allow the Corporation to retain a 
large number of experienced staff 
as part of a contingent workforce

ready to respond to any unexpect
ed increase in bank failures in early 
2000 due to Y2K technical issues. 
The Division of Supervision also 
continued to streamline its field 
office structure in 1998 by closing 
small field offices in Bath, OH; 
Cincinnati, OH; Macon, GA; and 
Fort Wayne, IN.

Throughout 1998, the Corporation 
continued to provide job placement 
and training opportunities to 
employees affected by downsizing. 
Approximately 350 employees 
in closing offices (including 
150 employees with permanent 
appointments) left the Corporation 
during the year, and another 
150 permanent employees in 
these offices were placed in other 
positions within the Corporation. 
Many employees took advantage 
of the FDIC's Career Transition 
and Outplacement Program, which 
provides job search assistance and

resources to employees affected 
by downsizing. To further cushion 
the impact of downsizing, the 
Corporation also made new buyout 
and early retirement opportunities 
available to selected employees 
in overstaffed divisions and offices. 
The Corporation will continue 
many of these initiatives in 1999 
as it continues to pursue further 
downsizing and realignment of 
the Corporation's workforce.

Ensuring a Diverse  
and Productive W orkforce  
Into the Future

The Corporation took steps in
1998 to ensure that it maintains 
a capable, productive, diverse and 
motivated workforce into the 
future.
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The FDIC is strongly committed 
to maintaining a workplace that 
is fair and inclusive. An executive- 
level Diversity Steering Committee 
was created during the year to 
help ensure that the FDIC benefits 
from the dedication, experience 
and diversity of its employees. This 
committee will promote among 
employees an environment of 
mutual respect, an appreciation 
of differing perspectives and talents, 
and an opportunity to work 
cooperatively together to achieve 
their full potential pursuing the 
Corporation's mission. The Steering 
Committee will unveil the Cor
poration’s first diversity strategic 
plan in 1999.

As part of this diversity effort, 
a corporate-wide mentoring 
program was developed that will 
encourage senior managers to 
share their knowledge, skills and 
organizational insights with partici
pating employees to help them 
realize their full potential. Another 
element of the diversity effort is 
the Corporation's career manage
ment program, to be started on 
a pilot basis in 1999. It will provide 
career planning, counseling, 
reference tools and other resources 
to help employees better manage 
their careers.

The FDIC's external recruitment 
efforts are designed to attract 
a well-qualified and diverse pool 
of applicants. In 1998, about 200 
new examiners were hired from 
outside the Corporation for posi
tions in DOS and the Division of 
Compliance and Consumer Affairs 
(DCA). While the Corporation 
had made substantial progress in 
downsizing its liquidation staff, 
it still had a large number of bank 
examiner vacancies in DOS and 
DCA at the beginning of the year. 
About 300 employees from other

divisions undergoing downsizing 
had been retrained in recent years 
to fill examiner positions, but these 
transfers were not sufficient to fill 
the growing number of examiner 
vacancies. To ensure that the 
Corporation could adequately fulfill 
its supervisory responsibilities, the 
FDIC began in early 1998 to recruit 
new examiners from outside the 
Corporation for the first time in 
six years.

Com pensation and Benefits

The FDIC's compensation and 
benefits program underwent signif
icant changes in 1998 as a result 
of a 1997 agreement between the 
FDIC and the National Treasury 
Employees Union.

Compensation changes included 
eliminating a 19-step pay system 
and replacing it with minimum and 
maximum salary ranges for each 
grade. Beginning in January 1999, 
FDIC employees will no longer 
receive automatic, across-the- 
board salary increases. Instead, 
pay raises will be based upon 
performance.

Special legislation was also passed 
in 1998 to convert health insurance 
coverage for FDIC employees and 
retirees to the Federal Employees 
Health Benefits (FEHB) program. 
Beginning in 1999, the FDIC 
will terminate its separate corpo
rate-sponsored health insurance 
program. This will result in long
term savings for the Corporation.

Audits, Investigations  
and Reviews

The FDIC Office of Inspector 
General performed numerous 
independent audits, investigations 
and other reviews related to 
corporate programs and operations 
in 1998. The OIG's mission is to 
promote economy and efficiency 
and to detect and prevent fraud 
and abuse. The Inspector General 
keeps the FDIC Board of Directors 
and the Congress fully informed 
about possible problems and 
deficiencies in corporate activities.

For the 12-month period ending 
September 30, 1998 (the OIG’s 
reporting period to the Congress), 
the office issued 103 audit and 
evaluation reports with questioned 
costs totaling nearly $22 million 
and recommendations for putting 
more than $1 million to better use. 
These reports also included 129 
non-monetary recommendations 
to improve corporate programs 
and operations. OIG investigations 
resulted in nearly $30 million in 
fines, restitutions and recoveries. 
Indictments and criminal charges 
were brought against 26 individuals, 
two of whom were FDIC employ
ees. Over the same period, 21 
individuals were convicted, including 
one employee and one former 
employee.

During the year, the OIG assisted 
management in closing out over 
400 former Resolution Trust 
Corporation (RTC) contracts that 
transitioned to the FDIC at year- 
end 1995. During the 12-month 
period, OIG efforts resulted in 
questioned costs of over $2.8 mil
lion for these RTC contracts. Since
1996, the FDIC has disallowed 
$94.6 million in contractor fees 
and expenses and agreed to 
seek recovery of an additional 
$28.8 million as a result of the 
OIG's work.
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The OIG manages a hotline 
(1-800-964-FDIC) for employees, 
contractors and others to report 
incidents of fraud, waste, abuse 
and mismanagement that could 
threaten the effectiveness and 
efficiency of corporate programs 
and operations. The OIG continues 
to review all draft corporate policy 
and procedural directives, and 
proposed legislation and regulations 
before they are finalized.

For additional information about 
the OIG's activities, please refer 
to its two Semiannual Reports to 
the Congress dated April 30,1998, 
and October 30,1998.

Internal Controls

During 1998, the FDIC significantly 
strengthened its internal controls 
program. The Office of Internal 
Control Management (OICM) 
developed a manual with guidance 
on corporate-wide internal control 
policies and risk-management 
procedures. OICM also issued 
an employee brochure to enhance 
employees' understanding of risk 
management and how internal 
controls play an integral part in 
their daily on-the-job activities.

At internal conferences and work
shops, OICM provided training to 
over 700 managers, supervisors 
and professional employees. In 
December 1998, OICM hosted 
a Best Practices Conference and 
apprised FDIC senior managers 
and internal review staff of new 
and innovative approaches to man
aging risk. OICM also participated 
in a number of internal control 
reviews to better understand the 
operations of selected divisions 
and offices.

Internal Year 2000  
Challenges

The FDIC is committed to ensuring 
that its computer hardware, soft
ware and communications infra
structure will continue to function 
appropriately in the Year 2000, 
when many current computer 
systems may have difficulty distin
guishing the numbers 2000 and 
1900. The Corporation is adhering 
to timeframes established by the 
U.S. Office of Management and 
Budget and the U.S. General 
Accounting Office for completing 
each of the five stages of Year 
2000 project management: aware
ness, assessment, renovation, 
validation and implementation.
The FDIC completed the renovation 
stage in August 1998, and was on 
schedule at year-end to complete 
the validation and implementation 
stages within established time
frames. The FDIC's rigorous, 
centralized strategy should result 
in a smooth transition of its auto
mated systems in the Year 2000. 
For more in form ation on the 
Year 2000 issue, see Pages 13-15.
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Legislation Enacted

Although Congress did not enact 
comprehensive banking legislation 
in 1998, lawmakers approved 
several measures directly affecting 
the FDIC or insured depository 
institutions. Among the topics 
addressed in laws enacted in 1998 
were legislation on the Year 2000 
computer issue, private mortgage 
insurance, and the termination of 
the Thrift Depositor Protection 
Oversight Board. Congress also 
appropriated funds for the FDIC 
Office of Inspector General and 
for judgments and settlements 
of "goodwill" lawsuits related 
to savings and loan association 
failures.

The Year 2000  Com puter 
Issue

The Examination Parity and Year 
2000 Readiness for Financial 
Institutions Act (Public Law 
105-164) was signed into law on 
March 20, 1998. The Act requires 
the FDIC, as well as the other 
federal banking agencies and the 
National Credit Union Administration 
(NCUA), to offer seminars to all 
institutions under its jurisdiction on 
the safety and soundness implica
tions of the Year 2000 computer 
issue. The law also requires the 
agencies to give insured depository 
institutions model approaches to 
common Year 2000 challenges in 
such areas as project management, 
vendor contracts, testing regimes 
and business continuity planning. 
The Act also amends the Home 
Owners' Loan Act and the Federal 
Credit Union Act to give express 
authority to the Office of Thrift 
Supervision and the NCUA to 
examine and regulate service 
companies and third-party service 
providers such as data processing 
firms.

Private M ortgage Insurance

The Homeowners Protection Act 
of 1998 (Public Law 105-216) was 
signed into law on July 29, 1998. 
The Act provides a statutory 
framework for canceling or auto
matically terminating private mort
gage insurance (PMI). PMI is an 
insurance policy that protects the 
lender from losses when a mort
gage with a low down payment 
is in default. In general, most PMI 
requirements in connection with 
a residential mortgage transaction 
entered into after July 29, 1999, 
will terminate when the mortgage 
is scheduled to reach 78 percent 
of the original value of the property. 
A mortgagor with a good payment 
history and who meets other 
requirements of the Act may 
request the cancellation when 
the mortgage balance reaches 
80 percent of the property's value. 
The federal banking agencies, 
the NCUA, and the Farm Credit 
Administration are directed 
to enforce these requirements.

T h rift Depositor Protection  
Oversight Board

Also as part of the Homeowners 
Protection Act, Congress abolished 
the Thrift Depositor Protection 
Oversight Board, which was created 
in 1991 to monitor the operations 
of the Resolution Trust Corporation. 
The Act transfers the Oversight 
Board's authority over the Resolution 
Funding Corporation—an entity 
created by the Financial Institutions 
Reform, Recovery, and Enforcement 
Act of 1989 to provide funding for 
use in thrift resolutions— to the 
Secretary of the Treasury. The Act 
also amended provisions governing 
the frequency and location of the 
Affordable Housing Advisory Board's 
(AHAB) meetings. The AHAB, 
which terminated by law on 
September 30, 1998, advised the 
FDIC and the Oversight Board on 
policies and programs related to 
the provision on affordable housing.

FDIC Employees' Health 
Insurance

The Federal Employees Health 
Care Protection Act of 1998 (Public 
Law 105-266) was signed into 
law on October 19, 1998. The Act 
includes provisions permitting 
FDIC retirees and employees who 
are within five years of retirement 
to participate in the Federal 
Employees Health Benefits 
Program during retirement.

Appropriations

Congress provided funding for the 
FDIC Office of Inspector General 
as part of the Departments of 
Veterans Affairs, Housing and Urban 
Development and Independent 
Agencies Appropriations Act, 1999 
(Public Law 105-276), enacted on 
October 21,1998. The Act appro
priates approximately $34.6 million 
from the Bank Insurance Fund, 
the Savings Association Insurance 
Fund and the FSLIC Resolution 
Fund for necessary expenses of 
the Office of Inspector General 
in fiscal year 1999.

Also, Congress appropriated funds 
for payments of judgments and 
settlements related to the Winstar 
(goodwill) cases in the Omnibus 
Consolidated and Emergency 
Supplemental Appropriations 
Act for Fiscal Year 1999 (Public 
Law 105-277), enacted on 
October 21, 1998. For more 
inform ation about these cases, 
see Pages 39-40.
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Regulations Adopted and Proposed

Publication date refers to the date published 
in the Federal Register.

Final Rules

Interest on Deposits
The FDIC amended Part 329 of 
its regulations relating to interest 
on deposits. The Federal Deposit 
Insurance Act requires that the 
FDIC prohibit insured nonmember 
banks and insured branches of 
foreign banks from paying interest 
or dividends on demand deposits. 
Under the amended rule, these 
institutions automatically become 
subject to exceptions to the prohi
bition adopted by the Federal 
Reserve Board for demand deposits 
in its member banks, regardless 
of whether the FDIC authorized 
the specific exception.

Approved:
Published:

February 10, 1998 
February 19, 1998

Determination of Economically 
Depressed Regions____________
The FDIC amended Part 357 of 
its regulations used to determine 
whether an insured savings associ
ation is in an "economically 
depressed region" and therefore 
qualifies for financial assistance to 
prevent default. The FDIC changed 
the manner in which it defines 
geographic units as "economically 
depressed regions" for an institu
tion to a case-by-case basis, rather 
than the previous statewide desig
nation. After an institution's geo
graphic market is defined, the 
FDIC will determine whether that 
market falls within an "economical
ly depressed region." This revision 
to Part 357 will apply to cases 
where an institution's geographic 
market is limited to some portion 
of a state, or crosses two or more 
states.

Approved:
Published:

February 10, 1998 
March 3,1998

Expanded Examination Cycle 
for Certain Small Insured 
Institutions___________________
The FDIC, along with the other 
bank and thrift regulatory agencies, 
amended Part 337 of its regula
tions to implement section 306 of 
the Riegle Community Development 
and Regulatory Improvement Act 
of 1994, and section 2221 of the 
Economic Growth and Regulatory 
Paperwork Reduction Act of 1996. 
The amendment increases from 
$100 million to $250 million the 
asset size of certain financial 
institutions that may be examined 
once every 18 months instead of 
every 12 months, if certain other 
criteria are met. In effect, the 
amendment increases the number 
of institutions that are eligible 
for the 18-month examination 
schedule.

Approved: March 24, 1998 
Pub lished^^

Disclosure of Information_______
The FDIC amended Part 309 of 
its regulations regarding the pub
lic disclosure of information under 
changes in the Freedom of 
Information Act (FOIA) made 
by the Electronic Freedom of 
Information Act Amendments of
1996 (EFOIA). The amendment 
implements expedited and "m ulti
track" FOIA processing proce
dures and the processing dead
lines and appeal rights created by 
electronic FOIA. The amendment 
also notes the expanded range of 
records available through the 
FDIC's Internet site.

Approved: March 24, 1998 
Published^^ A £ r i^ J 9 9 ^ ^ ^ ^

Consolidation and Simplification 
of International Banking 
Regulations___________________
The FDIC amended Part 347 
of its regulations to consolidate, 
update and streamline rules that 
apply to foreign banking opera
tions. The FDIC's international 
rules, which had been in effect 
since 1979 without significant 
revision, were divided into three 
separate parts. Those rules were 
consolidated into a new Part 347.
In particular, the amendment: 
reduces filing requirements for 
most banks wishing to open a 
foreign branch or make a foreign 
investment; defines permissible 
activities in which bank branches, 
foreign joint ventures and sub
sidiaries may engage, within 
specific dollar limits; eliminates 
a general limit on foreign invest
ment of 25 per cent of capital; 
simplifies accounting for fees on 
international loans; and requires 
banks to either establish reserves 
to account for transfer risk in 
international assets, or use an 
alternate method consistent with 
generally accepted accounting 
principles (GAAP).

Approved: March 24, 1998 
Published: April 8, 1998______

Deposit Insurance Simplification
The FDIC clarified and simplified 
its deposit insurance regulations 
to benefit both consumers and 
bankers. The amended Part 330 
of the FDIC's regulation now con
tains plainer, more understandable 
language as well as examples 
illustrating the rules that govern 
the most basic types of consumer 
accounts. The amendment also 
relaxed the FDIC's recordkeeping 
requirements for certain agency 
or fiduciary accounts, created a 
six-month grace period for the 
restructuring of accounts after a 
depositor's death, and clarified the 
insurance coverage of revocable 
trust accounts.

Approved: April 28,1998
P u b lish ed ^ ^ V |a^ 1^ 9 9 8
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Final Rules

Resolution and
Receivership Rules_____________
The FDIC amended Part 360 of 
its regulations regarding resolution 
and receivership rules. The amend
ment made only clarifying, techni
cal modifications to the regulation, 
correcting an erroneous statutory 
reference and amending certain 
sections to achieve uniform lan
guage throughout the regulation.

Approved: July 7, 1998______
Published: July 14, 1998

Capital Treatment
of Servicing Assets____________
The FDIC, along with the other 
bank and thrift regulatory agencies, 
amended Part 325 of its regulations 
regarding capital treatment of 
"servicing assets," which arise 
from contracts to service loans or 
other financial assets. The amend
ment relaxes the regulatory capital 
limitations on servicing assets 
and modifies certain terms used 
in the agencies' capital rules to be 
more consistent with accounting 
standards prescribed by the 
Financial Accounting Standards 
Board. Specifically, the final rule 
increases the amount of mortgage 
servicing assets recognized for 
regulatory capital purposes and, 
for the first time, recognizes 
limited amounts of nonmortgage 
servicing assets in regulatory 
capital calculations.

Approved: __July 7, 1998______
Published: August 10,1998

Applications, Filing Procedures 
and Delegations of Authority
The FDIC amended Part 303 of its 
regulations and related statements 
of policy regarding applications, 
notice and request procedures, 
and delegations of authority. The 
final rule provides qualifying well- 
capitalized and well-managed 
insured depository institutions 
expedited processing procedures 
for several types of filings, including 
deposit insurance, branch, and 
merger applications. For ease of 
reference, the amendment also 
centralizes within Part 303 sub
stantially all filing procedures found 
throughout the FDIC's regulations.

Approved: July 7, 1998______
Published: August 20, 1998

Capital Treatment of Unrealized 
Gains on Available-for-Sale 
Eauitv Securities______________
The FDIC, along with the other 
bank and thrift regulatory agencies, 
amended Part 325 of its regulations 
regarding the treatment of unreal
ized gains on equity securities. The 
amendment permits institutions 
holding equity securities that have 
appreciated in value since the insti
tution purchased them to include 
up to 45 percent of these gains 
as a component of Tier 2 capital. 
For the gains to be eligible for 
inclusion in Ter 2 capital, the equity 
securities must be available-for- 
sale and have readily determinable 
fair values in accordance with 
GAAP. If an institution holds equity 
securities meeting the rule's 
requirements, the institution's total 
risk-based capital ratio will improve 
as a result of this rule change.

Approved: August 25,1998

Activities of Insured State Banks 
and Insured Savinas Associations
The FDIC amended Part 362 of its 
regulations, which requires a state 
bank to obtain the FDIC's approval 
before engaging in an activity or 
making an equity investment that 
would not be authorized for a 
national bank. Several rules cover
ing state bank and savings associa
tion activities were combined with 
Part 362, establishing greater 
consistency among the activities 
authorized under each rule and 
greater consistency among 
restrictions on conducting the 
activities. Part 362 now includes 
rules previously located in Part 303, 
requiring state savings associations 
to obtain the FDIC's approval 
before engaging in activities or 
equity investments that would not 
be authorized for a federal savings 
association, and rules previously 
located in Part 337, applicable 
to state nonmember banks that 
engage in securities underwriting, 
dealing, and public sale. The 
amendments also allow qualifying 
well-capitalized and well-managed 
state banks and savings associa
tions to obtain the FDIC's approval 
to engage in some activities 
covered by the rules through an 
expedited notice process, if the 
institution conducts the activity in 
the manner spelled out in the rule.

Approved: November 5, 1998 
Published: December 1, 1998

Published: September 1,1998
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InterimRules Proposed Rules

Extended Examination Cycle 
for U.S. Branches and Agencies 
of Foreign Banks______________
The FDIC, along with the other 
bank and thrift agencies, issued 
an interim amendment to Part 347 
of its regulations regarding exami
nation cycles for U.S. branches and 
agencies of foreign banks. This 
interim rule reduces the regulatory 
burden on certain branches and 
agencies of foreign banks with 
total assets of $250 million or less 
by making them eligible for an 
18-month examination cycle, as 
opposed to a 12-month cycle. To 
be eligible, the branches or agencies 
must meet criteria involving asset 
size, supervisory rating, and 
management.

Approved: July 7, 1998______
Published^^August^ZS^iggS^

Year 2000 Safety
and Soundness Standards______
The FDIC, along with the other 
bank and thrift agencies, issued 
an interim amendment to Part 364 
of its regulations to incorporate 
appropriate references to the 
interagency Year 2000 safety and 
soundness guidelines. The guide
lines establish standards for bank 
management and boards of direc
tors in developing and managing 
their institutions' Year 2000 project 
plans for achieving Y2K readiness, 
validating remediation efforts, 
and planning for contingencies. 
For more information about 
the FDIC's Year 2000 initiatives, 
please see Pages 13-15, 25,

Approved: October 8, 1998 
Published: October 15, 1998

Simplification of Insurance 
Rules for Joint Accounts and 
Pavable-on-Death Accounts
The FDIC issued proposed amend
ments to Part 330 of its regulations 
that would simplify the agency's 
deposit insurance rules governing 
the coverage of joint accounts and 
"payable-on-death" accounts. The 
FDIC is considering the changes 
because the current rules are 
frequently misunderstood by both 
consumers and bankers. That 
confusion can create losses for 
depositors if their insured institution 
fails and they mistakenly believed 
their funds were within the 
$100,000 insurance limits. The 
proposed rule would eliminate 
the first step in the current two- 
step process for determining 
the insurance coverage of joint 
accounts. The proposed rule 
also would change the insurance 
coverage of payable-on-death 
accounts by adding parents and 
siblings to the current list of 
qualifying beneficiaries.

Approved: July 7, 1998 
Published: July 17, 1998

Management Official Interlocks
The FDIC, along with the other 
bank and thrift agencies, proposed 
amendments to Part 348 of its 
regulations that generally prohibit 
bank managers from serving 
simultaneously with two unaffiliated 
depository institutions or their 
holding companies. The proposed 
amendments would provide an 
exemption from the general 
prohibition against any manage
ment interlock between insured 
depository institutions located 
in the same community if their 
combined share of the total 
deposits in the community is 20 
percent or less. Another provision 
reflects a statutory change that 
prohibits management officials of 
depository institutions with total 
assets of $2.5 billion from serving 
as management officials of unaffili
ated depository institutions with 
assets exceeding $1.5 billion.
These thresholds were raised from 
$1 billion and $500 million, respec
tively. The proposed rule would 
also create a general exemption 
that would allow an otherwise 
prohibited management interlock 
if dual service would not create 
a monopoly, substantially lessen 
competition, or threaten safety 
and soundness.

Approved: May 18, 1998_____
Published: August 11, 1998
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Proposed Rules______________

"Know Your Customer"
The FDIC, along with the other 
federal bank and thrift regulatory 
agencies, proposed an amendment 
to Part 326 of its regulations that 
is designed to deter and detect 
financial crimes, such as money 
laundering and fraud at banks and 
savings institutions. The proposed 
rule would require banks to adopt 
compliance measures such as 
having adequate internal controls, 
using independent testing, and 
training personnel to be sensitive 
to possibly fraudulent or illicit 
transactions. Insured nonmember 
banks would be asked to obtain 
only the information necessary 
to comply with the regulation, and 
would safeguard the information 
gathered to minimize the risk of 
invasion of the customer's privacy. 
(The FDIC and the other regulatory 
agencies withdrew the proposal 
effective March 29, 1999.)

Approved: October 27,1998 
Published: December 7, 1998

Activities of Insured State Banks 
and Insured Savings Associations
The FDIC issued proposed amend
ments to Parts 303, 337 and 362. 
The amendments to Part 362 
would add safety and soundness 
standards to govern insured state 
nonmember banks. These stan
dards would govern those banks 
that engage in the public sale, dis
tribution or underwriting of stocks, 
bonds, debentures, notes or other 
securities through a subsidiary, if 
those activities are permissible for 
a national bank subsidiary but are 
not permissible for the national 
bank itself. Insured state nonmem
ber banks also would be required 
to notify the FDIC prior to conduct
ing any other activities that are 
not permissible for a national bank 
itself. To avoid duplication, the 
FDIC also proposed removing and 
reserving the provisions concern
ing insured state banks' securities 
activities found in section 337.4 
of the FDIC's regulations. Part 303 
currently contains all of the filing 
content and processing information 
and would be amended to cover 
these new filings. These amend
ments would complete the consol
idation of the FDIC's securities 
activities regulations.

Approved: November 5,1998

Withdrawal of Proposed Rules

Determination of Economically 
Depressed Regions____________
The FDIC withdrew a proposed 
amendment to Part 357 of its 
regulations regarding determination 
of economically depressed regions. 
The proposed rule, published in 
1992, would have updated the list 
of states designated as "economi
cally depressed regions." No 
comments were received, and the 
rule was never finalized. On the 
same date that this proposed rule 
was withdrawn, the FDIC issued 
a final rule that provides criteria 
to determine which regions are 
"economically depressed" rather 
than identifying particular states. 
For a description of tha t final 
rule, see Page 50.

Approved: February 10, 1998 
Published: March 3, 1998

Published: December 1, 1998
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Bank Insurance Fund

F e d e r a l  D e p o s i t  I n s u r a n c e  C o r p o r a t i o n

Bank Insurance Fund Statements of Financial Position

D o l l a r s  i n  T h o u s a n d s

December 31,1998 December 31,1997

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ 2,117,644 $ 219,207
Investment in U.S. Treasury obligations, net (Note 3)
(Market value of investments at December 3/, 1998 and 
December 31, 1997 was $27.5 billion and $27.1 billion, respectively)

26,125,695 26,598,825

Interest receivable on investments and other assets, net 690,586 472,818
Receivables from bank resolutions, net (Note 4) 747,948 1,109,035
Assets acquired from assisted banks and terminated receiverships, 
net (Note 5) 27,373 60,724
Property and equipment, net (Note 6) 209,615 145,061
Total Assets S 29,918,861 $ 28,605,670

Liabilities
Accounts payable and other liabilities $ 229,984 $ 228,955
Estimated liabilities for: (Note 7)

Anticipated failure of insured institutions 32,000 11,000
Assistance agreements 15,125 31,952
Litigation losses 22,301 13,500
Asset securitization guarantees 7,141 27,715
Total Liabilities 306,551 313,122
Commitments and off-balance-sheet exposure (Note 12)
Fund Balance
Accumulated net income 29,601,395 28,292,672
Unrealized gain/(loss) on available-for-sale securities, net (Note 3) 10,915 (124)

Total Fund Balance 29,612,310 28,292,548

Total Liabilities and Fund Balance $ 29,918,861 $ 28,605,670

The accompanying notes are an integral part o f these financial statements.
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F e d e r a l  D e p o s i t  I n s u r a n c e  C o r p o r a t i o n
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Bank Insurance Fund Statements of Income and Fund Balance

D o l l a r s  i n T h o u s a n d s
For the Year Ended 
December 31,1998

For the Year Ended 
December 31,1997

Revenue
Interest on U.S. Treasury obligations $ 1,674,344 $ 1,519,276
Interest on advances and subrogated claims 67,350 22,073
Gain on conversion of benefit plan (Note 11) 200,532 0
Revenue from assets acquired from assisted banks and terminated
receiverships 20,926 38,000
Assessments (Note 8) 21,688 24,711
Other revenue 15,422 11,558
Total Revenue 2,000,262 1,615,618

Expenses and Losses
Operating expenses 697,604 605,214
Provision for insurance losses (Note 9) (37,699) (495,296)
Expenses for assets acquired from assisted 
banks and terminated receiverships 29,803 65,901
Interest and other insurance expenses 1,831 1,506
Total Expenses and Losses 691,539 177,325

Net Income 1,308,723 1,438,293
Unrealized gain/(loss) on available-for-sale securities, net (Note 3) 11,039 (124)

Comprehensive Income 1,319,762 1,438,169

Fund Balance - Beginning 28,292,548 26,854,379

Fund Balance - Ending $ 29,612,310 $ 28,292,548

The accompanying notes are an integral part o f these financial statements.
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F e d e r a l  D e p o s i t  I n s u r a n c e  C o r p o r a t i o n

Bank Insurance Fund Statements of Cash Flows

D o l l a r s  i n T h o u s a n d s

For the Year Ended 
December 31,1998

For the Year Ended 
December 31,1997

Cash Flows From Operating Activities
Cash provided from:

Interest on U.S. Treasury obligations $ 1,788,937 $ 1,480,060
Recoveries from bank resolutions 881,802 3,826,273
Recoveries from assets acquired from assisted banks 
and terminated receiverships 54,207 141,765
Assessments 22,931 22,201
Miscellaneous receipts 27,990 24,951

Cash used for:
Operating expenses (711,020) (580,515)
Disbursements for bank resolutions (420,691) (298,943)
Disbursements for assets acquired from assisted banks 
and terminated receiverships (37,391) (67,231)
Miscellaneous disbursements (7,959) (11,771)
Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities (Note 14) 1,598,806 4,536,790

Cash Flows From Investing Activities
Cash provided from:

M aturity and sale of U.S. Treasury obligations, held-to-maturity 5,850,000 6,300,000
M aturity and sale of U.S. Treasury obligations, available-for-sale 185,456 0

Cash used for:
Purchase of property and equipment (51,058) 0
Purchase of U.S. Treasury obligations, held-to-maturity (4,478,337) (10,373,695)
Purchase of U.S. Treasury obligations, available-for-sale (1,206,430) (502,020)

Net Cash Provided From (Used by) Investing Activities 299,631 (4,575,715)

Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash and Cash Equivalents 1,898,437 (38,925)
Cash and Cash Equivalents - Beginning 219,207 258,132
Cash and Cash Equivalents - Ending $ 2,117,644 S 219,207

The accompanying notes are an integral part o f these financial statements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

D e c e m b e r  3 1 ,  1 9 9 8  a n d  1 9 9 7

1. Legislative History and Operations of the Bank Insurance Fund

Legislative History

The U.S. Congress created the Federal Deposit Insurance 
Corporation (FDIC) through enactment of the Banking Act of 1933. 
The FDIC was created to restore and maintain public confidence in 
the nation's banking system.

The Financial Institutions Reform, Recovery, and Enforcement Act of 
1989 (FIRREA) was enacted to reform, recapitalize, and consolidate 
the federal deposit insurance system . The FIRREA created the 
Bank Insurance Fund (BIF), the Savings A ssocia tion  Insurance 
Fund (SAIF), and the FSLIC Resolution Fund (FRF). It also designated 
the FDIC as the administrator of these funds. A ll three funds are 
maintained separately to  carry out their respective mandates.

The BIF and the SAIF are insurance funds responsible for protecting 
insured depositors in operating banks and th r i f t  in s titu tio n s  from  
loss due to  in s titu tio n  fa ilures. The FRF is a resolution fund 
responsible for w inding up the affairs of the former Federal Savings 
and Loan Insurance Corporation (FSLIC) and liquidating the assets 
and liabilities transferred from the former Resolution Trust 
Corporation (RTC).

Pursuant to FIRREA, an active institution's insurance fund member
ship and primary federal supervisor are generally determined by the 
institution's charter type. Deposits of BIF-member institutions are 
generally insured by the BIF; BIF members are predominantly com
mercial and savings banks supervised by the FDIC, the Office of the 
Comptroller of the Currency, or the Federal Reserve. Deposits of 
SAIF-member institutions are generally insured by the SAIF; SAIF 
members are predominantly thrifts  supervised by the Office of Thrift 
Supervision.

In addition to traditional banks and thrifts, several other categories 
of institutions exist. The Federal Deposit Insurance Act (FDI Act), 
Section 5(d)(3), provides that a member of one insurance fund may, 
w ith  the approval of its primary federal supervisor, merge, consoli
date w ith, or acquire the deposit liabilities of an institution that is a 
member of the other insurance fund w ithout changing insurance 
fund status for the acquired deposits. These institutions w ith 
deposits insured by both insurance funds are referred to as 
"Oakars" or Oakar banks. The FDI Act, Section 5(d)(2)(G), allows 
SAIF-member thrifts  to convert to a bank charter and retain their 
SAIF membership. These institutions are referred to as "Sassers." 
The Home Owners' Loan Act (HOLA), Section 5(o), allows BIF-mem- 
ber banks to convert to a th r ift charter and retain their BIF member
ship. These institutions are referred to as "HOLAs" or HOLA thrifts.

Other Significant Legislation

The Competitive Equality Banking Act of 1987 established the 
Financing Corporation (FICO) as a m ixed-ownership governm ent 
co rpo ra tion  w hose sole purpose was to function as a financing 
vehicle for the FSLIC.

The Omnibus Budget R econc ilia tion  A ct o f 1990 (1990 OBR 
Act) and the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation Improvement 
Act of 1991 (FDICIA) made changes to the FDIC's assessment 
authority (see Note 8) and borrowing authority. The FDICIA also 
requires the FDIC to: 1) resolve troubled institutions in a manner 
that w ill result in the least possible cost to the deposit insurance 
funds and 2) maintain the insurance funds at 1.25 percent of 
insured deposits or a higher percentage as circumstances warrant.

The Deposit Insurance Funds Act of 1996 (DIFA) was enacted to 
provide for: 1) the capitalization of the SAIF to its designated 
reserve ratio (DRR) of 1.25 percent by means of a one-time special 
assessment on SAIF-insured deposits; 2) the expansion o f the 
assessment base for payments of the interest on obligations issued 
by the FICO to include all FDIC-insured banks and thrifts; 3) begin
ning January 1,1997, the imposition of a FICO assessment rate 
on BIF-assessable deposits that is one-fifth of the rate for SAIF- 
assessable deposits through the earlier of December 31,1999, or 
the date on which the last savings association ceases to exist; 4) 
the payment of the annual FICO interest obligation of approximately 
$790 m illion on a pro rata basis between banks and thrifts  on the 
earlier of January 1,2000, or the date on which the last savings 
association ceases to exist; 5) authorization of BIF assessments 
only if needed to maintain the fund at the DRR; 6) the refund of 
amounts in the BIF in excess of the DRR w ith  such refund not to 
exceed the previous semiannual assessment; and 7) the merger of 
the BIF and the SAIF on January 1,1999, if no insured depository 
institution is a savings association on that date. Subsequently, 
Congress did not enact legislation during 1998 to either merge the 
BIF and the SAIF or to elim inate the th rift charter.

Recent Legislative Initiatives

Congress continues to focus on legislative proposals to  achieve 
modernization of the financial services industry. Some of these 
proposals, if enacted into law, may have a significant impact on the 
BIF and/or the SAIF. However, these proposals continue to vary and 
FDIC management cannot predict which provisions, if any, w ill 
ultimately be enacted.
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Operations of the BIF

The primary purpose of the BIF is to: 1) insure the deposits and pro
tect the depositors of BIF-insured banks and 2) resolve failed banks, 
including managing and liqu idating the ir assets. In addition, the 
FDIC, acting on behalf of the BIF, examines state-chartered banks 
that are not members of the Federal Reserve System. The FDIC 
also provides assistance to troubled banks and monitors compliance 
w ith  the assistance agreements.

The BIF is primarily funded from the following sources: 1) interest 
earned on investments in U.S. Treasury obligations and 2) BIF 
assessment premiums.

Additional funding sources are U.S. Treasury and Federal Financing 
Bank (FFB) borrowings, if necessary. The 1990 OBR Act established

the FDIC's authority to borrow working capital from the FFB on 
behalf of the BIF and the SAIF. The FDICIA increased the FDIC's 
authority to borrow for insurance losses from the U.S. Treasury, on 
behalf o f the BIF and the SAIF, from $5 billion to $30 billion. The 
FDICIA also established a lim itation on obligations that can be 
incurred by the BIF, known as the maximum obligation lim ita tion  
(MOL). A t December 31,1998, the MOL for the BIF was $51.7 
billion.

The VA, HUD and Independent Agencies Appropriations Acts of 1999 
and 1998 appropriated $34.7 m illion for fiscal year 1999 (October 1 
1998, through September 30,1999) and $34 m illion for fiscal year
1998 (October 1,1997, through September 30,1998), respectively, 
for operating expenses incurred by the Office of Inspector General 
(OIG). These Acts mandate that the funds are to be derived from 
the BIF, the SAIF, and the FRF

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

General

These financial statements pertain to the financial position, results 
of operations, and cash flows of the BIF and are presented in accor
dance w ith  generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP). These 
statements do not include reporting for assets and liabilities of 
closed banks for which the FDIC acts as receiver or liquidating 
agent. Periodic and final accountability reports of the FDIC's ac tiv i
ties as receiver or liqu idating agent are furnished to courts, 
supervisory authorities, and others as required.

Use of Estimates

FDIC management makes estimates and assumptions that affect the 
amounts reported in the financial statements and accompanying 
notes. Actual results could differ from these estimates. Where it is 
reasonably possible that changes in estimates w ill cause a material 
change in the financial statements in the near term, the nature and 
extent of such changes in estimates have been disclosed.

Investments in U.S. Treasury Obligations

Investments in U.S. Treasury obligations are recorded pursuant to 
the provisions of the Statement of Financial Accounting Standards 
(SFAS) No. 115, "Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt and 
Equity Securities.” SFAS No. 115 requires that securities be classi
fied in one of three categories: held-to-maturity, available-for-sale, 
or trading. Securities designated as held-to-maturity are intended 
to be held to maturity and are shown at amortized cost. Amortized 
cost is the face value of securities plus the unamortized premium or 
less the unamortized discount. Amortizations are computed on a 
daily basis from the date of acquisition to the date of maturity. 
Beginning in 1997, the BIF designated a portion of its securities as 
available-for-sale. These securities are shown at fa ir value w ith 
unrealized gains and losses included in the fund balance. Realized 
gains and losses are included in other revenue when applicable. 
Interest on both types of securities is calculated on a daily basis 
and recorded monthly using the effective interest method. The BIF 
does not have any securities classified as trading.

Cash Equivalents

Cash equivalents are short-term, highly liquid investments w ith 
original maturities of three months or less. Cash equivalents 
primarily consist o f Special U.S. Treasury Certificates.
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Allowance for Losses on Receivables From Bank 
Resolutions and Assets Acquired From Assisted Banks 
and Terminated Receiverships

The BIF records a receivable for the amounts advanced and/or 
obligations incurred for resolving troubled and failed banks. The 
BIF also records as an asset the amounts paid for assets acquired 
from assisted banks and terminated receiverships. Any related 
allowance for loss represents the difference between the funds 
advanced and/or obligations incurred and the expected repayment. 
The latter is based on estimates of discounted cash recoveries from 
the assets of assisted or failed banks, net of all estimated liquida
tion costs.

Receivership Operations

The FDIC is responsible for managing and disposing of the assets of failed 
institutions in an orderly and effic ient manner. The assets, and the 
claims against them, are accounted for separately to  ensure that 
liquidation proceeds are distributed in accordance w ith  applicable 
laws and regulations. Also, the income and expenses a ttribu tab le  
to receiverships are accounted fo r as transactions of those 
receiverships. Liquidation expenses incurred by the BIF on behalf of 
the receiverships are recovered from those receiverships.

Cost Allocations Among Funds

Operating expenses not directly charged to the funds are allocated 
to all funds administered by the FDIC. Workload-based-allocation 
percentages are developed during the annual corporate planning 
process and through supplemental functional analyses.

Postretirement Benefits Other Than Pensions

The FDIC established an entity to provide the accounting and 
administration of postretirement benefits on behalf of the BIF, the 
SAIF, and the FRF. Each fund pays its liab ilitie s  fo r these benefits 
d irectly  to  the entity. The BIF's unfunded net postretirement bene
fits  liab ility  for the plan is presented in the BIF's Statements of 
Financial Position.

Disclosure About Recent Accounting Standard 
Pronouncements

In February 1998, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) 
issued SFAS No. 132, "Employers' Disclosures about Pension and 
Other Postretirement Benefits." The Statement standardizes the disclo
sure requirements for pensions and other postretirement benefits to 
the extent practicable. Although changes in the BIF's disclosures for 
postretirement benefits have been made, the impact is not material.

In June 1998, the FASB also issued SFAS No, 133, "Accounting for 
Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities." The Statement 
establishes accounting and reporting standards for derivative 
instruments, including certain derivative instruments embedded in 
other contracts, and for hedging activities. The Statement requires 
that a ll derivatives be recognized either as assets or liab ilities in 
the statements of financial position and to measure those instru
ments at fa ir value. Based upon analysis, derivative instruments of 
the BIF are immaterial to  the financial statements.

In March 1998, the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants 
issued Statement of Position (SOP) 98-1, "Accounting for the Costs of 
Computer Software Developed or Obtained for Internal Use." This 
Statement requires the development or purchase cost of internal-use 
software to be treated as a capital asset. The FDIC adopted this 
Statement effective January 1,1998. This asset is presented in the 
"Property and equipment, net" line item in the BIF's Statements of 
Financial Position (see Note 6).

In June 1997, the FASB issued SFAS No. 130, "Reporting 
Comprehensive Income." The FDIC adopted SFAS No. 130 effective 
on January 1,1997. Comprehensive income includes net income as 
well as certain types of unrealized gain or loss. The only component of 
SFAS No. 130 that impacts the BIF is unrealized gain or loss on securi
ties classified as available-for-sale, which is presented in the BIF’s 
Statements of Financial Position and the Statements of Income and 
Fund Balance.

Other recent pronouncements are not applicable to the financial 
statements.

Depreciation

The FDIC has designated the BIF as administrator of property and 
equipment used in its operations. Consequently, the BIF includes 
the cost of these assets in its financial statements and provides 
the necessary funding fo r them. The BIF charges the other funds 
rental and service fees representing an allocated share of its 
annual depreciation expense.

Prior to January 1,1998, only buildings owned by the Corporation 
were depreciated. On January 1,1998, FDIC began capitalizing 
the development and purchase cost of internal-use software in 
accordance w ith  the requirements of SOP 98-1. The FDIC also 
began to capitalize the cost of furniture, fixtures, and general 
equipment. These costs were expensed in prior years on the 
basis that the costs were immaterial. The expanded capitalization 
policy had no material impact on the financial position or operation 
of the BIF.
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The Washington, D.C. office buildings and the L. William Seidman 
Center in Arlington, Virginia, are depreciated on a straight-line 
basis over a 50-year estimated life. The San Francisco condomini
um offices are depreciated on a straight-line basis over a 35-year 
estimated life. Leasehold improvements w ill be capitalized and 
depreciated over the lesser of the remaining life of the lease or the 
estimated useful life of the improvements, if determined to be 
material. Capital assets depreciated on a straight-line basis over a 
five-year estimated life include mainframe equipment; furniture, fix
tures and general equipment; and internal-use software. Personal 
computer equipment is depreciated on a straight-line basis over a 
three-year estimated life.

Related Parties

The nature of related parties and a description of related party 
transactions are disclosed throughout the financial statements and 
footnotes.

Reclassifications

Reclassifications have been made in the 1997 financial statements 
to conform to the presentation used in 1998.

3. Investment in U.S. Treasury Obligations, Net

Cash received by the BIF is invested in U.S. Treasury obligations 
with maturities exceeding three months unless cash is needed to 
meet the liquidity needs of the fund. The BIF's current portfolio 
includes securities classified as held-to-maturity and available-for- 
sale. The BIF also invests in Special U.S. Treasury Certificates that 
are included in the "Cash and cash equivalents" line item.

For 1998, the gross realized gain on securities classified as 
available-for-sale was $224 thousand. The gain is included in 
the "Other revenue" line item. Proceeds from the sale were 
$186 million. The cost of the securities sold was determined 
on a specific identification basis. There were no sales in 1997.

U.S. Treasury Obligations at December 31,1998

D o l l a r s  i n T h o u s a n d s

Unrealized Unrealized

Maturity
Yield at 

Purchase
Face
Value

Amortized
Cost

Holding
Gains

Holding
Losses

Market
Value

Held-to-Maturity

Less than one year 5.57% $ 2,120,000 $ 2,133,448 $ 10,597 $ 0 $ 2,144,045
1-3 years 6.04% 5,525,000 5,564,524 148,112 0 5,712,636
3-5 years 6.19% 5,965,000 6,345,044 322,126 0 6,667,170
5-10 years 6.01% 10,295,000 10,566,047 864,116 0 11,430,163

Total $ 23,905,000 $ 24,609,063 $ 1,344,951 $ 0 $ 25,954,014

Available-for-Sale
Less than one year 5.09% $ 940,000 $ 946,726 $ 4,947 $ 0 $ 951,673

1-3 years 5.63% 550,000 558,991 5,968 0 564,959
Total $ 1,490,000 $ 1,505,717 $ 10,915 $ 0 $ 1,516,632

Total Investment in U.S. Treasury Obligations, Net
Total $ 25,395,000 $ 26,114,780 $ 1,355,866 $ 0 $ 27,470,646
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U.S. Treasury Obligations at December 31,1997
■■■MwnrcrriTiiMMHMwwwnBTi niitiiww«wwwwiir niiiMwwwwwMWfiir'TiiitiaawMMwii rr rirniwwwMwwiiniiiirniiniiiiiB̂ ĤMnwriiTir'ifiiwiiwMwwiMiiifiririiiHiawwwwwwMriiiiiiriii;
D o l l a r s  i n T h o u s a n d s

Unrealized Unrealized
Yield at Face Amortized Holding Holding Market

Maturity Purchase Value Cost Gains Losses Value

Held-to-Maturity

Less than one year 5.58% $ 5,250,000 $ 5,240,657 $ 5,369 $ (5,650) $ 5,240,375
1-3 years 5.83% 5,280,000 5,330,281 26,113 (7,413) 5,348,983
3-5 years 6.15% 5,490,000 5,685,279 89,744 (6,895) 5,768,128
5-10 years 6.57% 9,500,000 9,840,712 439,733 0 10,280,445

Total $ 25,520,000 $ 26,096,929 $ 560,959 $ (19,958) $ 26,637,931

Available-for-Sale
1-3 years .... .........  5.6/% $ ......... 490,000 $ 502,020 ....... ~$  ~ ~19 .....$ (143) $ 501,896

Total Investment in U.S. Treasury Obligations, Net 
Total $ 26,010,000 S 26,598,949 S 560,978 S (20,101) S 27,139,827

In 1998, the unamortized premium, net of unamortized discount, was $720 million. In 1997, the unamortized premium, net of the 
unamortized discount, was $589 million.

4. Receivables From Bank Resolutions, Net

The bank resolution process takes different forms depending on the 
unique facts and circumstances surrounding each failing or failed 
institution. Payments for institutions that fail are made to cover 
obligations to insured depositors and represent claims by the BIF 
against the receiverships' assets. There were three bank failures 
in 1998 and one in 1997, w ith assets of $370 and $26 million, 
respectively.

As of December 31,1998 and 1997, the FDIC, in its receivership 
capacity for BIF-insured institutions, held assets w ith a book value 
of $1.6 billion and $2.5 billion, respectively (including cash and 
miscellaneous receivables of $480 million and $1 billion at

December 31,1998 and 1997, respectively). These assets repre
sent a significant source of repayment of the BIF’s receivables 
from bank resolutions. The estimated cash recoveries from the 
management and disposition of these assets that are used to 
derive the allowance for losses are based in part on a statistical 
sampling of receivership assets. The sample was constructed to 
produce a statistically valid result. These estimated recoveries are 
regularly evaluated, but remain subject to uncertainties because of 
potential changes in economic conditions. These factors could 
cause the BIF's and other claimants' actual recoveries to vary from 
the level currently estimated.
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Receivables From Bank Resolutions, Net

D o l l a r s  i n  T h o u s a n d s

December 31,1998 December 31,1997
Assets from open bank assistance $ 112,045 $ 140,035
Allowance for losses (10,727) (38,497)
Net Assets From Open Bank Assistance 101,318 101,538

Receivables from closed banks 18,656,746 23,268,950
Allowance for losses (18,010,116) (22,261,453)
Net Receivables From Closed Banks 646,630 1,007,497
Total $ 747,948 $ 1,109,035

5. Assets Acquired From Assisted Banks and Terminated Receiverships, Net

The BIF has acquired assets from certain troubled and failed banks 
by either purchasing an institution's assets outright or purchasing 
the assets under the terms specified in each resolution agreement. 
In addition, the BIF can purchase assets remaining in a receivership 
to fac ilita te  termination. The methodology to estimate cash recov
eries from these assets, which are used to derive the related 
allowance for losses, is the same as that for receivables from bank 
resolutions (see Note 4).

The BIF recognizes revenue and expenses on these acquired assets. 
Revenue consists primarily of interest earned on performing mort
gages and commercial loans. Expenses are recognized for the 
management and liquidation of these assets.

Assets Acquired From Assisted Banks and Terminated Receiverships, Net

D o l l a r s  i n  T h o u s a n d s
December 31,1998 December 31,1997

Assets acquired from assisted banks and terminated receiverships $ 169,712 $ 256,237
Allowance for losses (142,339) (195,513)
Total $ 27,373 $ 60,724
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6, Property and Equipment, Net

Property and Equipment, Net

D o l l a r s  i n  T h o u s a n d s

December 31,1998 December 31,1997

Land $ 29,631 $ 29,631
Buildings 152,078 151,443
PC/LAN/WAN equipment 15,612 0
Application software 1,892 0
Mainframe equipment 354 0
Furniture, fixtures, and general equipment 764 0
Telephone equipment 460 0
Work in Progress - Application Software 49,630 0
Accumulated depreciation (40.806) (36,013)
Total $ 209,615 $ 145,061

7. Estimated Liabilities for:

Anticipated Failure of Insured Institutions

The BIF records an estimated liability and a loss provision for banks 
(including Oakar and Sasser financial institutions) that are likely to 
fail, absent some favorable event such as obtaining additional capi
ta l or merging, when the liab ility  becomes probable and reasonably 
estimable.

The estimated liabilities for anticipated failure of insured institu
tions as of December 31,1998 and 1997, were $32 m illion and $11 
million, respectively. The estimated liab ility  is derived in part from 
estimates of recoveries from the management and disposition of 
the assets of these probable bank failures. Therefore, they are sub
ject to the same uncertainties as those affecting the BIF's receiv
ables from bank resolutions (see Note 4). This could affect the ulti
mate costs to the BIF from probable failures.

There are other banks where the risk of failure is less certain, but 
s till considered reasonably possible. Should these banks fa il, the 
BIF could incur additional estimated losses of about $204 million.

The accuracy of these estimates w ill largely depend on future eco
nomic conditions. The FDIC's Board of Directors (Board) has the 
statutory authority to consider the estimated liab ility  from anticipat
ed failures of insured institutions when setting assessment rates.

Year 2000 Anticipated Failures

The BIF is also subject to a potential loss from banks that may 
fail if  they are unable to become Year 2000 compliant in a timely 
manner. In May 1997, the federal financial institution regulatory 
agencies developed a program to conduct uniform reviews of 
all FDIC-insured institutions' Year 2000 readiness. The program 
assesses the five key phases of an institution's Year 2000 conver
sion efforts: 1) awareness, 2) assessment, 3) renovation, 4) valida
tion, and 5) implementation. The reviews classify each institution 
as Satisfactory, Needs Improvement, or Unsatisfactory.

Satisfactory. Year 2000 efforts of financial institutions and inde
pendent data centers are considered "Satisfactory" if they exhibit 
acceptable performance in all key phases of the Year 2000 project 
management process as set forth in the May 5,1997, Federal 
Financial Institutions Examination Council (FFIEC) Interagency 
Statement on the Year 2000 and subsequent guidance documents. 
Performance is satisfactory when project weaknesses are minor 
in nature and can be readily corrected w ith in  the existing project 
management framework. The institution's remediation progress to 
date meets or nearly meets expectations laid out in its Year 2000 
project plan. Senior management and the board recognize and 
understand Year 2000 risk, are active in overseeing institutional 
corrective efforts, and have ensured that the necessary resources 
are available to address this risk area.
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Needs Improvement: Year 2000 efforts of financial institutions and 
independent data centers are evaluated as "Needs Improvement" if 
they exhibit less than acceptable performance in all key phases of 
the Year 2000 project management process. Project weaknesses 
are evident, even if  deficiencies are correctable w ith in  the existing 
project management framework. The institution's remediation 
progress to date is behind the schedule laid out in its Year 2000 
project plan. Senior management or the board is not fu lly  aware of 
the status of Year 2000 correction efforts, may not have committed 
sufficient financial or human resources to address this risk, or may 
not fu lly understand Year 2000 implications.

Unsatisfactory: Year 2000 efforts of financial institutions and inde
pendent data centers are considered "Unsatisfactory" if  they exhibit 
poor performance in any of the key phases of the Year 2000 project 
management process. Project weaknesses are serious in nature 
and are not easily corrected w ith in  the existing project manage
ment framework. The institu tions remediation progress is seriously 
behind the schedule laid out in its Year 2000 project plan. Senior 
management and the board do not understand or recognize the 
impact that the Year 2000 w ill have on the institution. Manage
ment or the board commitment is lim ited or their oversight activities 
are not evident.

Based on data updated through April 30,1999,10,159 institutions 
w ith  $6.4 trillion in assets have received a Satisfactory rating, 216 
institutions w ith  $80 billion in assets a Needs Improvement rating, 
and 21 institutions w ith  $1 billion in assets an Unsatisfactory rating 
(data includes BIF- and SAIF-insured institutions). Although the 
in itia l results of the uniform reviews are encouraging, the Year 2000 
issue is unprecedented. Therefore, it is d ifficu lt to determine which 
institutions, if  any, w ill ultimately fa il. Further, estimates of the 
cost of resolving Year 2000 failures are complicated by the uncer
tain nature of technological disruptions and the associated impact 
on the BIF, if any. Failures caused solely by liquidity problems 
would pose substantially less exposure to the BIF. Year 2000 
failures could conceivably be such liquidity failures. The possibility 
that any such failure would occur is quite speculative in view  of 
actions taken by the Federal Reserve Board to ensure sufficient 
liquidity and currency to meet the cash needs of insured banks.

Failures could occur because of the fam iliar capital insolvency 
(liabilities exceeding assets) if  a substantial number of bank 
borrowers were unable to repay loans due to their own lack of 
preparedness for the Year 2000. Insured banks are required to be 
aware of the measures taken by key customers to protect them
selves against adverse impact from the advent of Year 2000, and 
compliance w ith  such requirements is monitored via the regulatory 
examination program. The extent to which insured institutions, if 
any, ultimately experience this type of failure is not measurable.

Financial institutions are required to design a Year 2000 contin
gency plan to m itigate the risks associated w ith  the failure of 
systems at critical dates (Business Resumption Contingency 
Planning). A business resumption contingency plan is designed to 
provide assurance that core business functions w ill continue if one 
or more systems fail.

In order to  assess the exposure to the BIF from Year 2000 potential 
failures, the FDIC evaluated all information relevant to  such an 
assessment, to include Year 2000 on-site examination results, insti
tution capital levels and supervisory examination composite ratings, 
and other institution past and current financial characteristics. As a 
result of this assessment, we conclude that, as of December 31, 
1998, there are no probable losses to the BIF from Year 2000 
failures. Further, any reasonably possible losses from Year 2000 
failures were not estimable. During the remainder of 1999, the 
regulatory agencies w ill continue their Year 2000 reviews and the 
FDIC w ill continue to assess this potential liability.

Assistance Agreements

The estimated liabilities for assistance agreements resulted from 
several large transactions where problem assets were purchased by 
an acquiring institution under an agreement that calls for the FDIC 
to absorb credit losses and pay related costs fo r funding and asset 
administration, plus an incentive fee.

Litigation Losses

The BIF records an estimated loss for unresolved legal cases to 
the extent those losses are considered probable and reasonably 
estimable. In addition to the amount recorded as probable, the 
FDIC has determined that losses from unresolved legal cases to ta l
ing $178 m illion are reasonably possible.

Asset Securitization Guarantees

As part o f the FDIC's e ffo rts  to  maximize the return from the 
sale or disposition of assets from bank resolutions, the FDIC has 
securitized some receivership assets. To fa c ilita te  the securitiza
tions, the BIF provided lim ited guarantees to cover certain losses 
on the securitized assets up to a specified maximum. In 
exchange fo r backing the lim ited  guarantees, the BIF received 
assets from the receiverships in an amount equal to  the expect
ed exposure under the guarantees. A t December 31,1998 and
1997, the BIF had an estim ated liab ility  under the guarantees of 
$7 m illion  and $28 m illion , respectively. The maximum o ff-ba l
ance-sheet exposure under the lim ited guarantees is presented 
in Note 12.
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8. Assessments

The 1990 OBR Act removed caps on assessment rate increases 
and authorized the FDIC to set assessment rates for BIF members 
semiannually, to be applied against a member's average assess
ment base. The FDICIA: 1) required the FDIC to implement a 
risk-based assessment system; 2) authorized the FDIC to increase 
assessment rates for BIF-member institutions as needed to ensure 
that funds are available to satisfy the BIF's obligations; 3) required 
the FDIC to build and maintain the reserves in the insurance funds 
to 1.25 percent of insured deposits; and 4) authorized the FDIC to 
increase assessment rates more frequently than semiannually and 
impose emergency special assessments as necessary to ensure that 
funds are available to repay U.S. Treasury borrowings. In May 
1995, the BIF reached the FDICIA mandated capitalization level of 
1.25 percent of insured deposits.

The DIFA (see Note 1) provided, among other things, for the elimi
nation of the mandatory minimum assessment formerly provided for 
in the FDI Act. It also provided for the expansion of the assessment 
base for payments of the interest on obligations issued by the FICO 
to include all FDIC-insured institutions (including banks, thrifts, and 
Oakar and Sasser financial institutions). On January 1,1997, BIF- 
insured banks began paying a FICO assessment. The FICO assess
ment rate on BIF-assessable deposits is one-fifth the rate for 
SAIF-assessable deposits. The annual FICO interest obligation of 
approximately $790 million w ill be paid on a pro rata basis between

banks and thrifts on the earlier of January 1, 2000, or the date on 
which the last savings association ceases to exist.

The FICO assessment has no financial impact on the BIF. The FICO 
assessment is separate from the regular assessments and is 
imposed on banks and thrifts, not on the insurance funds. The 
FDIC, as administrator of the BIF and the SAIF, is acting solely as a 
collection agent for the FICO. During 1998 and 1997, $341 million 
and $338 million respectively, were collected from banks and remit
ted to the FICO.

The FDIC uses a risk-based assessment system that charges higher 
rates to those institutions that pose greater risks to the BIF. To 
arrive at a risk-based assessment for a particular institution, the 
FDIC places each institution in one of nine risk categories, using a 
two-step process based first on capital ratios and then on other 
relevant information. The Board reviews premium rates semiannually. 
The assessment rate averaged approximately 0.08 cents per $100 
of assessable deposits for 1998 and 1997. On October 27,1998, 
the Board voted to retain the BIF assessment schedule of 0 to 27 
cents per $100 of assessable deposits (annual rates) for the first 
semiannual period of 1999.
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9. Provision for Insurance Losses

Provision for insurance losses was a negative $38 m illion and a 
negative $495 m illion fo r 1998 and 1997, respectively. In 1998 
and 1997, the negative provision resulted primarily from decreased

losses expected for assets in liquidation. The follow ing chart lists 
the major components of the negative provision fo r insurance 
losses.

Provision for Insurance Losses

D o l l a r s  i n  T h o u s a n d s
For the Year Ended 
December 31,1998

For the Year Ended 
December 31,1997

Valuation adjustments:
Open bank assistance $ (2,431) $ (12,180)
Closed banks (53,926) (356,347)
Assets acquired from assisted banks and terminated receiverships 2,222 (47,245)
Total (54,135) (415,772)

Contingencies:
Anticipated failure of insured institutions 29,000 (59,000)
Assistance agreements (8,322) (12,716)
Asset securitization guarantees (13,043) (6,558)
Litigation 8,801 (1,250)
Total 16,436 (79,524)
Reduction in Provision for Insurance Losses S (37,699) S (495,296)

10. Pension Benefits, Savings Plans, and Accrued Annual Leave

Eligible FDIC employees (all permanent and temporary employees 
w ith  appointments exceeding one year) are covered by either the 
Civil Service Retirement System (CSRS) or the Federal Employee 
Retirement System (FERS). The CSRS is a defined benefit plan, 
which is offset w ith  the Social Security System in certain cases. 
Plan benefits are determined on the basis of years of creditable ser
vice and compensation levels. The CSRS-covered employees also 
can contribute to the tax-deferred Federal Thrift Savings Plan (TSP).

The FERS is a three-part plan consisting of a basic defined benefit 
plan that provides benefits based on years of creditable service 
and compensation levels, Social Security benefits, and the TSP. 
Automatic and matching employer contributions to the TSP are pro
vided up to specified amounts under the FERS.

During 1998, there was an open season that allowed employees to 
switch from CSRS to FERS. This did not have a material impact on 
BIF's operating expenses.

Although the BIF contributes a portion of pension benefits for 
eligible employees, it does not account for the assets of either 
retirement system. The BIF also does not have actuarial data for 
accumulated plan benefits or the unfunded liab ility  relative to e lig i
ble employees. These amounts are reported on and accounted for 
by the U.S. Office of Personnel Management (0PM).

Eligible FDIC employees also may participate in a FDIC-sponsored 
tax-deferred savings plan w ith  matching contributions. The BIF 
pays its share of the employer's portion of all related costs.

The BIF's pro rata share of the Corporation's liability to employees 
for accrued annual leave is approximately $38.4 m illion and $35.7 
million at December 31,1998 and 1997, respectively.
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Pension Benefits and Savings Plans Expenses

D o l l a r s  i n  T h o u s a n d s
For the Year Ended 
December 31,1998

For the Year Ended 
December 31,1997

CSRS/FERS Disability Fund $ 1,166 $ 488
Civil Service Retirement System 10,477 8,708
Federal Employee Retirement System (Basic Benefit) 27,857 28,661
FDIC Savings Plan 17,534 16,974
Federal Thrift Savings Plan 10,991 10,568
Total $ 68,025 S 65,399

11. Postretirement Benefits Other than Pensions

On January 2,1998, BIF's obligation under SFAS No. 106, 
"Employers’ Accounting for Postretirement Benefits Other Than 
Pensions," fo r postretirement health benefits was reduced when 
over 6,500 employees enrolled in the Federal Employees Health 
Benefits (FEHB) Program for the ir future health insurance coverage. 
The OPM assumed the BIF’s obligation for postretirement health 
benefits for these employees at no in itia l enrollment cost.

In addition, legislation was passed that allowed the remaining 
2,600 retirees and near-retirees (employees w ith in  five years of 
retirement) in the FDIC health plan to also enroll in the FEHB

Program for their future health insurance coverage, beginning 
January 1,1999. The OPM assumed the BIF's obligation for postre
tirem ent health benefits for retirees and near-retirees for a fee of 
$150 million. The OPM is now responsible for postretirement 
health benefits for all employees and covered retirees. The FDIC 
w ill continue to be obligated for dental and life insurance coverage 
for as long as the programs are offered and coverage is extended to 
retirees.

OPM's assumption of the health care obligation constitutes both a 
settlement and a curtailment as defined by SFAS No. 106. This 
conversion resulted in a gain of $201 m illion to the BIF.

Postretirement Benefits Other Than Pensions

D o l l a r s  i n  T h o u s a n d s
1998 1997

Funded Status at December 31
Fair value of plan assets131 $ 67,539 $ 356,447
Less: Benefit obligation 67,539 378,227

Under/I Over) Funded Status of the plans $ 0 $ 21,780

Accrued benefit liab ility  recognized in the Statements of Financial Position $ 0 $ 39,231

Expenses and Cash Flows for the Period Ended December 31
Net periodic benefit cost $ (1,942) $ 3,305
Employer contributions 6,229 4,604
Benefits paid 6,229 4,604

Weighted-Average Assumptions at December 31
Discount rate 4.50% 5.75%
Expected return on plan assets 4.50% 5.75%
Rate of compensation increase 4.00% 5.75%

la) Invested in U.S Treasury obligations.
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For measurement purposes, the per capita cost of covered health gradually each year to a rate of 7.75 percent for the year 2000 and 
care benefits was assumed to increase by an annual rate of 8.75 remain at that level thereafter, 
percent for 1998. Further, the rate was assumed to decrease

12. Commitments and Off-Balance-Sheet Exposure

Commitments

Leases
The BIF's allocated share of the FDIC's lease commitments totals 
$177.2 million for future years. The lease agreements contain 
escalation clauses resulting in adjustments, usually on an annual 
basis. The allocation to the BIF of the FDIC's future lease

commitments is based upon current relationships of the workloads 
among the BIF, the FRF, and the SAIF. Changes in the relative work
loads could cause the amounts allocated to the BIF in the future to 
vary from the amounts shown below. The BIF recognized leased 
space expense of $47.7 million and $43.6 million for the years 
ended December 31,1998 and 1997, respectively.

D o l l a r s  i n T h o u s a n d s
2004 and

1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 Thereafter

$39,287 $34,699 $27,905 $24,423 $15,096 $35,765

Asset Securitization Guarantees maximum off-balance-sheet exposure the BIF has under these guar-
As discussed in Note 7, the BIF provided certain limited guarantees antees. 
to facilitate securitization transactions. The table below gives the

D o l l a r s  i n T h o u s a n d s
December 31,1998 December 31,1997

Maximum exposure under the limited guarantees $ 481,313 $ 481,313

Less: Guarantee claims paid (inception-to-date) (27,253) (19,231)

Less- Amount of exposure recoqnized as an estimated liability (see Note 7) (7,141) (27,715)

Maximum Off-Balance-Sheet Exposure Under the Limited Guarantees $ 446,919 s 434,367

Concentration of Credit Risk

As of December 31,1998, the BIF had $18.8 billion in gross receiv
ables from bank resolutions and $170 million in assets acquired 
from assisted banks and terminated receiverships. An allowance 
for loss of $18 billion and $142 million, respectively, has been

recorded against these assets. The liquidating entities ability to 
make repayments to the BIF is largely influenced by the economy of 
the area in which they are located. The BIF's maximum exposure to 
possible accounting loss for these assets is shown in the table 
below.
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Concentration of Credit Risk at December 31,1998

D o l l a r s  i n M i l l i o n s

Southeast Southwest Northeast M idwest Central West Total

Receivables from bank resolutions, net $9 $35 $575 $11 $2 $116 $748
Assets acquired from assisted banks and 
terminated receiverships, net 0 21 5 0 0 1 27
Total $9 $56 $580 $11 $ 2 $117 $775

Other Off-Balance-Sheet Risk

Deposit Insurance
As of December 31,1998, deposits insured by the BIF totaled 
approximately $2.1 trillion. This would be the accounting loss if 
all depository institutions were to fail and the acquired assets pro
vided no recoveries.

13. Disclosures About the Fair Value of Financial Instruments

Cash equivalents are short-term, highly liquid investments and are 
shown at current value. The fair market value of the investment in 
U.S. Treasury obligations is disclosed in Note 3 and is based on 
current market prices. The carrying amount of interest receivable 
on investments, short-term receivables, and accounts payable and 
other liabilities approximates their fair market value. This is due 
to their short maturities or comparisons w ith current interest rates.

The net receivables from bank resolutions primarily include the 
BIF's subrogated claim arising from payments to insured depositors. 
The receivership assets that w ill ultimately be used to pay the 
corporate subrogated claim are valued using discount rates that 
include consideration of market risk. These discounts ultimately 
affect the BIF's allowance for loss against the net receivables 
from bank resolutions. Therefore, the corporate subrogated claim 
indirectly includes the effect of discounting and should not be 
viewed as being stated in terms of nominal cash flows.

Although the value of the corporate subrogated claim is influenced 
by valuation of receivership assets (see Note 4), such receivership 
valuation is not equivalent to the valuation of the corporate claim. 
Since the corporate claim is unique, not intended for sale to the 
private sector, and has no established market, it is not practicable 
to estimate its fair market value.

The FDIC believes that a sale to the private sector of the corporate 
claim would require indeterminate, but substantial discounts for an 
interested party to profit from these assets because of credit and 
other risks. In addition, the timing of receivership payments to the 
BIF on the subrogated claim does not necessarily correspond with 
the timing of collections on receivership assets. Therefore, the 
effect of discounting used by receiverships should not necessarily 
be viewed as producing an estimate of market value for the net 
receivables from bank resolutions.

The majority of the net assets acquired from assisted banks and 
terminated receiverships (except real estate) is comprised of vari
ous types of financial instruments, including investments, loans 
and accounts receivables. Like receivership assets, assets 
acquired from assisted banks and terminated receiverships are 
valued using discount rates that include consideration of market 
risk. However, assets acquired from assisted banks and terminated 
receiverships do not involve the unique aspects of the corporate 
subrogated claim, and therefore the discounting can be viewed as 
producing a reasonable estimate of fair market value.
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14. Supplementary Information Relating to the Statements of Cash Flows

Reconciliation of Net Income to Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities

D o l l a r s  i n  T h o u s a n d s

For the Year Ended 
December 31,1998

For the Year Ended 
December 31,1997

Net Income S 1,308,723 $ 1,438,293
Adjustments to Reconcile Net Income to Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities

Income Statement Items:
Provision for insurance losses (37,699) (495,296)
Amortization of U.S. Treasury obligations 133,705 60,261
Gain on sale of investments (224) 0
Gain on conversion of benefit plan (200,532) 0
Depreciation on property and equipment 3,745 3,339

Change in Assets and Liabilities:
(Increase) in interest receivable on investments and other assets (39,983) (87,996)
Decrease in receivables from bank resolutions 417,444 3,600,647
Decrease in assets acquired from assisted banks and terminated receiverships 31,129 60,693
Increase (Decrease) in accounts payable and other liabilities 6,534 (21,997)
(Decrease) in estimated liabilities fo r anticipated failure of insured institutions (8,000) (5,000)
(Decrease) in estimated liabilities for assistance agreements (8,505) (6,147)
(Decrease) in estimated lia b ilitie s  for asset securitization guarantees (7,531) (10,007)
Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities $ 1,598,806 $ 4,536,790

15. Year 2000 Issues

State of Readiness

The FDIC, as administrator for the BIF, is conducting a corporate- 
w ide effort to ensure that all FDIC information systems are Year 
2000 compliant. This means the systems must accurately process 
date and time data in calculations, comparisons, and sequences 
after December 31,1999, and be able to correctly deal w ith  leap- 
year calculations in 2000. The Year 2000 Oversight Committee is 
comprised of FDIC division management that oversees the Year 
2000 effort.

The FDIC's Division of Information Resources Management (DIRM) 
leads the internal Year 2000 effort, under the direction of the 
Oversight Committee. DIRM used a five-phase approach for ensur
ing that all FDIC systems and software are Year 2000 compliant. 
The five phases are:

Awareness
The firs t phase of compliance focuses on defining the Year 2000 
problem and gaining executive-level support and sponsorship for 
the effort.
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Assessment
The second phase of compliance focuses on assessing the Year 
2000 impact on the Corporation as a whole.

Renovation
The third phase of compliance focuses on converting, replacing 
or elim inating selected platforms, applications, databases, and 
utilities, w hile  modifying interfaces as appropriate.

Platform is a broad term that encompasses computer hardware 
(including mainframe computers, servers, and personal computers) 
and software (including computer languages and operating sys
tems). U tility  programs, or "u tilit ie s ,"  provide fi le  management 
capabilities, such as sorting, copying, comparing, lis ting  and 
searching, as w e ll as diagnostic and measurement routines that 
check the health and performance of the system.

Validation
The fourth phase of compliance focuses on testing, verifying and 
validating converted or replaced platforms, applications, databases, 
and utilities.

Implementation
The fifth  phase of compliance focuses on implementing converted 
or replaced platforms, applications, databases, utilities, and inter
faces.

The Awareness, Assessment, and Renovation phases are complete. 
The Validation phase is scheduled to  be completed during January
1999 when all production applications w ill be validated for Year
2000 readiness. Implementation of the majority of production 
applications in Year 2000 ready status w ill be completed by March
31,1999. Validation and implementation of new systems and mod
ifications to existing systems w ill continue throughout 1999.

Year 2000 Estimated Costs

Year 2000 compliance expenses fo r the BIF are estimated at 
$34.7 m illion and $1.6 m illion at December 31,1998 and 1997, 
respectively. These expenses are reflected in the "Operating 
expenses" line item of the BIF's Statements of Income and Fund 
Balance. Future expenses are estimated to be $49 m illion. Year 
2000 estimated future costs are included in the FDIC's budget.

Risks of Year 2000 Issues _____

The FDIC's Division of Supervision has an ongoing aggressive in itia
tive to assess the BIF's supervised financial institutions for Year 
2000 compliance. Other BIF-insured institutions are being 
assessed by their respective regulatory agencies. The BIF is subject 
to a potential loss from financial institutions tha t may fa il as a 
result o f Year 2000 re lated issues. Refer to "Estimated 
Liabilities for: Anticipated Failure of Insured Institutions - Year 2000 
Anticipated Failures" (Note 7) for additional information.

No potential loss w ith  internal system failure has been estimated 
due to the extensive planning and validation that has occurred.

Contingency Plans _____

DIRM is currently developing a disaster recovery plan and contin
gency plans specific to each mission-critical application.

Other divisions w ith in  the FDIC are working together to develop 
contingency plans to be prepared if any FDIC-insured financial 
institution fails as a result o f lack of Year 2000 preparedness.

Digitized for FRASER 
http://fraser.stlouisfed.org/ 
Federal Reserve Bank of St. Louis



Savings Association Insurance Fund

F e d e r a l  D e p o s i t  I n s u r a n c e  C o r p o r a t i o n
_<c

Savings Association Insurance Fund Statements of Financial Position

D o l l a r s  i n  T h o u s a n d s

December 31,1998 December 31,1997
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ 666,736 $ 141,392
Cash and other assets: Restricted for SAIF-member exit fees (Note 3) 
(Includes cash and cash equivalents o f $55,248 thousand and $48.752 

thousand a t December 31,1998 and December 31,1997 respectively)

253,790 239,548

Investment in U.S. Treasury obligations, net (Note 4)
1Market value o f investments at December 31, 1998 and 
December 31, 1997 was $9.4 billion and $9.2 billion, respectively)

9,061,786 9,106,386

Interest receivable on investments and other assets 140,699 122,678
Receivables from th rift resolutions, net (Note 5) 8,857 5,176
Total Assets $ 10,131,868 $ 9,615,180

Liabilities
Accounts payable and other liabilities $ 7,247 $ 7,317
Estimated liability for anticipated failure of insured institutions (Note 6) 31,000 0
SAIF-member exit fees and investment proceeds held in escrow (Note 3) 253,790 239,548
Total Liabilities 292,037 246,865
Commitments and off-balance-sheet exposure (Note 10)

Fund Balance
Accumulated net income 9,835,577 9,368,347
Unrealized gain/(loss) on available-for-sale securities, net (Note 4) 4,254 (32)

Total Fund Balance 9,839,831 9,368,315

Total Liabilities and Fund Balance $ 10,131,868 $ 9,615,180

The accompanying notes are an integral part o f these financial statements.
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o
F e d e r a l  D e p o s i t  I n s u r a n c e  C o r p o r a t i o n

Savings Association Insurance Fund Statements of Income and Fund Balance

D o l l a r s  i n T h o u s a n d s

For the Year Ended 
December 31,1998

For the Year Ended 
December 31,1997

Revenue
Interest on U.S. Treasury obligations $ 562,750 $ 535,463
Assessments (Note 7) 15,352 13,914
Gain on conversion of benefit plan (Note 9) 5,464 0
Other revenue 293 535
Total Revenue 583,859 549,912

Expenses and Losses
Operating expenses 84,628 71,865
Provision for insurance losses 31,992 (1,879)
Other insurance expenses 9 0
Total Expenses and Losses 116,629 69,986

Net Income 467,230 479,926
Unrealized gain/(loss) on available-for-sale securities, net (Note 4) 4,286 (32)

Comprehensive Income 471,516 479,894

Fund Balance - Beginning 9,368,315 8,888,421

Fund Balance - Ending $ 9,839,831 $ 9,368,315

The accompanying notes are an integral part o f these financial statements.
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F e d e r a l  D e p o s i t  I n s u r a n c e  C o r p o r a t i o n

Savings Association Insurance Fund Statements of Cash Flows

D o l l a r s  i n T h o u s a n d s
For the Year Ended 
December 31,1998

For the Year Ended 
December 31,1997

Cash Flows From Operating Activities
Cash provided from:
Interest on U.S. Treasury obligations $ 597,596 $ 544,094
Assessments 13,991 (146,766)
Entrance and exit fees, including interest on exit fees (Note 3) 10,306 13,596
Recoveries from thrift resolutions 1,119 14,728
Miscellaneous receipts 67 (219)
Cash used for:
Operating expenses (85,248) (75,298)
Disbursements for thrift resolutions (5,732) (2,693)
Disbursements for Oakar banks 318 0
Miscellaneous disbursements 0 (7)

Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities (Note 12) 532,417 347,435

Cash Flows From Investing Activities
Cash provided from:
Maturity of U.S. Treasury obligations, held-to-maturity 1,840,000 1,740,000

Cash used for:
Purchase of U.S. Treasury obligations, held-to-maturity (1,402,352) (2,133,119)
Purchase of U.S. Treasury obligations, available-for-sale (438,225) (152,125)

Net Cash Used by Investing Activities (577) (545,244)

Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash and Cash Equivalents 531,840 (197,809)
Cash and Cash Equivalents - Beginning 190,144 387,953
Cash and Cash Equivalents - Ending $ 721,984 $ 190,144

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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D e c e m b e r  3 1 ,  1 9 9 8  a n d  1 9 9 7

1. Legislative History and Operations of the Savings Association Insurance Fund

Legislative History

The Financial Institutions Reform, Recovery, and Enforcement Act of 
1989 (FIRREA) was enacted to reform, recapitalize, and consolidate 
the federal deposit insurance system. The FIRREA created the 
Savings Association Insurance Fund (SAIF), the Bank Insurance Fund 
(BIF), and the FSLIC Resolution Fund (FRF). It also designated the 
Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (FDIC) as the administrator of 
these funds. A ll three funds are maintained separately to carry out 
their respective mandates.

The SAIF and the BIF are insurance funds responsible for protecting 
insured depositors in operating th r ift institutions and banks from 
loss due to institution failures. The FRF is a resolution fund respon
sible for w inding up the affairs of the former Federal Savings and 
Loan Insurance Corporation (FSLIC) and liquidating the assets and 
liabilities transferred from the former Resolution Trust Corporation 
(RTC).

Pursuant to the Resolution Trust Corporation Completion Act of 1993 
(RTC Completion Act), resolution responsibility transferred from the 
RTC to the SAIF on July 1,1995. Prior to  that date, th rift resolutions 
were the responsibility of the RTC (January 1,1989 through June 
30,1995) or the FSLIC (prior to 1989).

Pursuant to FIRREA, an active institution's insurance fund member
ship and primary federal supervisor are generally determined by the 
institution's charter type. Deposits of SAIF-member institutions are 
generally insured by the SAIF; SAIF members are predominantly 
thrifts supervised by the Office of Thrift Supervision (OTS). Deposits 
of BIF-member institutions are generally insured by the BIF; BIF 
members are predominantly commercial and savings banks super
vised by the FDIC, the Office of the Comptroller of the Currency, or 
the Federal Reserve.

In addition to traditional thrifts  and banks, several other categories 
of institutions exist. The Federal Deposit Insurance Act (FDI Act), 
Section 5(d)(3), provides that a member of one insurance fund may, 
w ith  the approval of its primary federal supervisor, merge, consoli
date w ith, or acquire the deposit liabilities of an institution that is a 
member of the other insurance fund w ithout changing insurance 
fund status for the acquired deposits. These institutions w ith 
deposits insured by both insurance funds are referred to as "Oakars" 
or Oakar banks. The transactions specified in Section 5(d)(3) can 
take place w ithout paying entrance and exit fees, under tw o princi
pal conditions. One condition is that although the acquiring institu
tion continues to belong to its own insurance fund (primary fund), 
the institution becomes obliged to pay assessments to the fund that 
insured the deposits of the acquired institution (secondary fund).
The secondary fund assessments are keyed to the amount of the 
secondary fund deposits so acquired. The other condition is that if 
the acquiring institution should fail, the losses resulting from the 
failure are allocated between the tw o insurance funds according to

a formula that is likewise keyed to the amount of the acquired sec
ondary fund deposits. The FDI Act, Section 5(d)(2)(G), allows SAIF- 
member thrifts  to convert to a bank charter and retain their SAIF 
membership. These institutions are referred to as "Sassers." The 
Home Owners' Loan Act (HOLA), Section 5(o), allows BIF-member 
banks to convert to a th rift charter and retain their BIF membership. 
These institutions are referred to as "HOLAs" or HOLA thrifts.

Other Significant Legislation

The Competitive Equality Banking Act of 1987 established the 
Financing Corporation (FICO) as a mixed-ownership government cor
poration whose sole purpose was to function as a financing vehicle 
for the FSLIC.

The Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act of 1990 (1990 OBR Act) and 
the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation Improvement Act of 1991 
(FDICIA) made changes to the FDIC's assessment authority (see Note 
7) and borrowing authority. The FDICIA also requires the FDIC to: 1) 
resolve troubled institutions in a manner that w ill result in the least 
possible cost to the deposit insurance funds and 2) maintain the 
insurance funds at 1.25 percent of insured deposits or a higher per
centage as circumstances warrant.

The Deposit Insurance Funds Act of 1996 (DIFA) was enacted to pro
vide for: 1) the capitalization of the SAIF to its designated reserve 
ratio (DRR) of 1.25 percent by means of a one-time special assess
ment on SAIF-insured deposits; 2) the expansion of the assessment 
base for payments of the interest on obligations issued by the FICO 
to include all FDIC-insured banks and thrifts; 3) beginning January 1,
1997, the imposition of a FICO assessment rate for SAIF-assessable 
deposits that is five times the rate for BIF-assessable deposits 
through the earlier of December 31,1999, or the date on which the 
last savings association ceases to exist; 4) the payment of the annu
al FICO interest obligation of approximately $790 million on a pro 
rata basis between banks and thrifts  on the earlier of January 1, 
2000, or the date on which the last savings association ceases to 
exist; 5) authorization of SAIF assessments only if needed to main
tain the fund at the DRR; 6) the refund of amounts in the SAIF in 
excess of the DRR w ith  such refund not to exceed the previous 
semiannual assessment; 7) assessment rates for SAIF members not 
lower than the assessment rates for BIF members w ith  comparable 
risk; and 8) the merger of the SAIF and the BIF on January 1,1999, if 
no insured depository institution is a savings association on that 
date. Subsequently, Congress did not enact legislation during 1998 
to either merge the SAIF and the BIF or to elim inate the th rift charter.

Recent Legislative Initiatives

Congress continues to focus on legislative proposals to achieve 
modernization of the financial services industry. Some of these

Digitized for FRASER 
http://fraser.stlouisfed.org/ 
Federal Reserve Bank of St. Louis



proposals, if enacted into law, may have a significant impact on the 
SAIF and/or the BIF. Flowever, these proposals continue to vary and 
FDIC management cannot predict which provisions, if any, w ill ulti
mately be enacted.

Operations of the SAIF

The primary purpose of the SAIF is to: 1) insure the deposits and 
protect the depositors of SAIF-insured institutions and 2) resolve 
failed SAIF-insured institutions including managing and liguidating 
their assets. In this capacity, the SAIF has financial responsibility 
for all SAIF-insured deposits held by SAIF-member institutions and 
by BIF-member banks designated as Oakar banks.

The SAIF is primarily funded from the following sources: 1) interest 
earned on investments in U.S. Treasury obligations and 2) SAIF 
assessment premiums. Additional funding sources are borrowings

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

General

These financial statements pertain to the financial position, results 
of operations, and cash flows of the SAIF and are presented in 
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP). 
These statements do not include reporting for assets and liabilities 
of closed thrift institutions for which the FDIC acts as receiver or 
liquidating agent. Periodic and final accountability reports of the 
FDIC's activities as receiver or liquidating agent are furnished to 
courts, supervisory authorities, and others as required.

Use of Estimates

FDIC management makes estimates and assumptions that affect the 
amounts reported in the financial statements and accompanying 
notes. Actual results could differ from these estimates. Where it is 
reasonably possible that changes in estimates w ill cause a material 
change in the financial statements in the near term, the nature and 
extent of such changes in estimates have been disclosed.

Cash Equivalents

Cash equivalents are short-term, highly liquid investments with 
original maturities of three months or less. Cash equivalents 
primarily consist of Special U.S. Treasury Certificates.

Investments in U.S. Treasury Obligations

Investments in U.S. Treasury obligations are recorded pursuant to 
the provisions of the Statement of Financial Accounting Standards

from the U.S. Treasury, the Federal Financing Bank (FFB), and the 
Federal Home Loan Banks, if necessary. The 1990 OBR Act estab
lished the FDIC's authority to borrow working capital from the FFB 
on behalf of the SAIF and the BIF. The FDICIA increased the FDIC's 
authority to borrow for insurance losses from the U.S. Treasury, on 
behalf of the SAIF and the BIF, from $5 billion to $30 billion. The 
FDICIA also established a limitation on obligations that can be 
incurred by the SAIF, known as the maximum obligation limitation 
(MOL). A t December 31, 1998, the MOL for the SAIF was 
$17.3 billion.

The VA, HUD and Independent Agencies Appropriations Acts of
1999 and 1998 appropriated $34.7 million for fiscal year 1999 
(October 1,1998, through September 30,1999) and $34 million for 
fiscal year 1998 (October 1,1997, through September 30,1998), 
respectively, for operating expenses incurred by the Office of 
Inspector General (OIG). These Acts mandate that the funds are 
to be derived from the SAIF, the BIF, and the FRF.

(SFAS) No. 115, "Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt and 
Equity Securities." SFAS No. 115 requires that securities be classi
fied in one of three categories: held-to-maturity, available-for-sale, 
or trading. Securities designated as held-to-maturity are intended 
to be held to maturity and are shown at amortized cost. Amortized 
cost is the face value of securities plus the unamortized premium or 
less the unamortized discount. Amortizations are computed on a 
daily basis from the date of acquisition to the date of maturity. 
Beginning in 1997, the SAIF designated a portion of its securities as 
available-for-sale. These securities are shown at fair value with 
unrealized gains and losses included in the fund balance. Realized 
gains and losses are included in other revenue when applicable. 
Interest on both types of securities is calculated on a daily basis 
and recorded monthly using the effective interest method. The SAIF 
does not have any securities classified as trading.

Allowance for Losses on Receivables From Thrift 
Resolutions

The SAIF records a receivable for the amounts advanced and/or 
obligations incurred for resolving troubled and failed thrifts. Any 
related allowance for loss represents the difference between the 
funds advanced and/or obligations incurred and the expected repay
ment. The latter is based on estimates of discounted cash recover
ies from the assets of assisted or failed thrifts, net of all estimated 
liquidation costs.

Receivership Operations

The FDIC is responsible for managing and disposing of the assets of 
failed institutions in an orderly and efficient manner. The assets,
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and the claims against them, are accounted for separately to 
ensure that liquidation proceeds are distributed in accordance with 
applicable laws and regulations. Also, the income and expenses 
attributable to receiverships are accounted for as transactions of 
those receiverships. Liquidation expenses incurred by the SAIF on 
behalf of the receiverships are recovered from those receiverships.

Cost Allocations Among Funds

Operating expenses not directly charged to the funds are allocated 
to all funds administered by the FDIC. Workload-based-allocation 
percentages are developed during the annual corporate planning 
process and through supplemental functional analyses.

Postretirement Benefits Other Than Pensions

The FDIC established an entity to provide the accounting and 
administration of postretirement benefits on behalf of the SAIF, the 
BIF, and the FRF. Each fund pays its liabilities for these benefits 
directly to the entity. The SAIF's unfunded net postretirement 
benefits liability for the plan is presented in the SAIF's Statements 
of Financial Position.

Disclosure About Recent Accounting Standards 
Pronouncements

In February 1998, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) 
issued SFAS No. 132, "Employers' Disclosures about Pension and 
Other Postretirement Benefits." The Statement standardizes the

disclosure requirements for pensions and other postretirement ben
efits to the extent practicable. Although changes in the SAIF's dis
closures for postretirement benefits have been made, the impact is 
not material.

In June 1997, the FASB issued SFAS No. 130, "Reporting 
Comprehensive Income." The FDIC adopted SFAS No. 130 effective 
on January 1,1997. Comprehensive income includes net income as 
well as certain types of unrealized gain or loss. The only compo
nent of SFAS No. 130 that impacts the SAIF is unrealized gain or 
loss on securities classified as available-for-sale, which is present
ed in the SAIF's Statements of Financial Position and the 
Statements of Income and Fund Balance.

Other recent pronouncements are not applicable to the financial 
statements.

Related Parties

The nature of related parties and a description of related party 
transactions are disclosed throughout the financial statements and 
footnotes.

Reclassifications

Reclassifications have been made in the 1997 financial statements 
to conform to the presentation used in 1998.

3. Cash and Other Assets: Restricted for SAIF-Member Exit Fees

The SAIF receives entrance and exit fees for conversion transac
tions when an insured depository institution converts from the BIF 
to the SAIF (resulting in an entrance fee) or from the SAIF to the 
BIF (resulting in an exit fee). Regulations approved by the FDIC's 
Board of Directors (Board) and published in the Federal Register on 
March 21,1990, directed that exit fees paid to the SAIF be held in 
escrow.

The FDIC and the Secretary of the Treasury w ill determine when it 
is no longer necessary to escrow such funds for the payment of 
interest on obligations previously issued by the FICO. These 
escrowed exit fees are invested in U.S. Treasury securities pending 
determination of ownership. The interest earned is also held in 
escrow. There were no conversion transactions during 1998 and
1997 that resulted in an exit fee to the SAIF.

Cash and Other Assets: Restricted for SAIF-Member Exit Fees

D o l l a r s  i n T h o u s a n d s
December 31,1998 December 31,1997

Cash and cash equivalents $ 55,248 $ 48,752
Investments in U.S. Treasury obligations, net 193.350 185,390
Interest receivable on U.S. Treasury obligations 4,190 3,981
Exit fees receivable 1,002 1,425
Total $ 253,790 S 239,548
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S A I F

U.S. Treasury Obligations at December 31,1998 (Restricted)

D o l l a r s  i n 

Maturity

T h o u s a n d s

Yield at 
Purchase

Face
Value

Amortized
Cost

Unrealized
Holding
Gains

Unrealized
Holding
Losses

Market
Value

Held-to Maturity
1-3 years 5.52% $ 15,000 $ 15,359 $ 335 $ 0 $ 15,694
3-5 years 6.12% 135,000 134,722 6,550 0 141,272
5-10 years 5.69% 40,000 43,269 2,156 0 45,425

Total $ 190,000 $ 193,350 $ 9,041 S o s 202,391

U.S. Treasury Obligations at December 31,1997 (Restricted)

D o l l a r s  i n  T h o u s a n d s

Yield at
Maturity Purchase

Face
Value

Amortized
Cost

Unrealized
Holding
Gains

Unrealized
Holding
Losses

Market
Value

Held-to Maturity
Less than one year 5.68% $ 40,000 $ 40,058 $ 11 $ 0 $ 40,069

3-5 years 5.95% 100,000 100,182 833 0 101,015
5-10 years 6.46% 45,000 45,150 1,439 0 46,589

Total S 185,000 S 185,390 S 2,283 $ 0 S 187,673

In 1998, the unamortized premium, net of unamortized discount, was $3.4 million. In 1997, the unamortized premium, net of the unamor
tized discount, was $390 thousand.

4. Investm ent in U.S. Treasury O bligations, N et

Cash received by the SAIF is invested in U.S. Treasury obligations 
w ith maturities exceeding three months unless cash is needed to 
meet the liquidity needs of the fund. The SAIF's current portfolio

includes securities classified as held-to-maturity and available-for- 
sale. The SAIF also invests in Special U.S. Treasury Certificates 
that are included in the "Cash and cash equivalents" line item.
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U.S. Treasury Obligations at December 31,1998 (Unrestricted)

D o l l a r s  i n T h o u s a n d s  

Maturity
Yield at 

Purchase
Face
Value

Amortized
Cost

Unrealized
Holding
Gains

Unrealized
Holding
Losses

Market
Value

Held-to Maturity
Less than one year 5.82% $ 1,490,000 $ 1,496,779 $ 8,790 $ 0 $ 1,505,569

1-3 years 5.96% 3,585,000 3,609,527 88,035 0 3,697,562
3-5 years 6.04% 1,640,000 1,703,669 76,027 0 1,779,696

5-10 years 6.00% 1,615,000 1,664,974 117,633 0 1,782,607
Total $ 8,330,000 $ 8,474,949 $ 290,485 $ 0 $ 8,765,434

Available-for-Sale
Less than one year 5.55% $ 370,000 $ 373,840 $ 2,172 $ 0 $ 376,012

1-3 years 5.61% 205,000 208,743 2,082 0 210,825
Total $ 575,000 $ 582,583 $ 4,254 $ 0 $ 586,837

Total Investment in U.S. Treasury Obligations. Net
Total $ 8,905,000 $ 9,057,532 $ 294,739 S 0 $ 9,352,271

U.S. Treasury Obligations at December 31,1997 (Unrestricted)

D o l l a r s  i n T h o u s a n d s  

Maturity
Yield at 

Purchase
Face
Value

Amortized
Cost

Unrealized
Holding
Gains

Unrealized
Holding
Losses

Market
Value

Held-to Maturity
Less than one year 5.91% $ 1,650,000 $ 1,647,211 $ 2,751 $ (319) $ 1,649,643

1-3 years 5.87% 3,415,000 3,451,362 16,852 (3,309) 1 ,464 ,905
3-5 years 6.03% 2,510,000 2,541,949 26,808 (969) 2,567,788
5-10 years 6.47% 1,265,000 1,313,739 49,888 0 1,363,627

Total $ 8,840,000 $ 8,954,261 $ 96,299 $ (4,597) $ 9,045,963

Available-for-Sale

1-3 years 5.67% $ 150,000 $ 152,157 $ 32 $ (64) $ 152,125

Total Investment in U.S. Treasury Obligations, Net
Total $ 8,990,000 S 9,106,418 $ 96,331 S (4,661) $ 9,198,088

In 1998, the unamortized premium, net of unamortized discount, was $152.5 million. In 1997, the unamortized premium, net of the unamor
tized discount, was $116.4 million.
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5. Receivables From Thrift Resolutions, Net

The th rift resolution process takes different forms depending on the 
unique facts and circumstances surrounding each failing or failed 
institution. Payments for institutions that fail are made to cover 
obligations to insured depositors and represent claims by the SAIF 
against the receiverships' assets. There were no th rift failures in
1998, or in 1997.

As of December 31,1998 and 1997, the FDIC, in its receivership 
capacity for SAIF-insured institutions, held assets w ith  a book value 
of $46.1 m illion and $56.6 million, respectively (including cash and 
miscellaneous receivables of $45.7 million and $40 million at

December 31,1998 and 1997, respectively). These assets repre
sent a significant source of repayment of the SAIF's receivables 
from th rift resolutions. The estimated cash recoveries from the 
management and disposition of these assets that are used to derive 
the allowance for losses are based in part on a statistical sampling 
of receivership assets. The sample was constructed to produce a 
statistically valid result. These estimated recoveries are regularly 
evaluated, but remain subject to uncertainties because of potential 
changes in economic conditions. These factors could cause the 
SAIF's and other claimants' actual recoveries to vary from the level 
currently estimated.

6. Estimated Liabilities for:

Anticipated Failure of Insured Institutions

The SAIF records an estimated liability and a loss provision for 
thrifts  (including Oakar and Sasser financial institutions) that are 
likely to fail, absent some favorable event such as obtaining addi
tional capital or merging, when the liab ility  becomes probable and 
reasonably estimable.

The estimated liabilities for anticipated failure of insured institu
tions as of December 31,1998 and 1997, were $31 m illion and 
zero, respectively. The estimated liab ility  is derived in part from 
estimates of recoveries from the management and disposition of 
the assets of these probable th rift failures. Therefore, they are 
subject to the same uncertainties as those affecting the SAIF's 
receivables from th rift resolutions (see Note 5). This could affect 
the ultimate costs to the SAIF from probable failures.

There are other thrifts where the risk of failure is less certain, but 
still considered reasonably possible. Should these thrifts  fa il, the 
SAIF could incur additional estimated losses of about $77 million.

The accuracy of these estimates w ill largely depend on future eco
nomic conditions. The Board has the statutory authority to consider 
the estimated liab ility  from anticipated failures of insured institu
tions when setting assessment rates.

Year 2000 Anticipated Failures

The SAIF is also subject to a potential loss from thrifts  that may 
fail if they are unable to become Year 2000 compliant in a timely 
manner. In May 1997, the federal financial institution regulatory 
agencies developed a program to conduct uniform reviews of all 
FDIC- insured institutions' Year 2000 readiness. The program 
assesses the five key phases of an institution's Year 2000 conver
sion efforts: 1) awareness, 2) assessment, 3) renovation,

4) validation, and 5) implementation. The reviews classify each 
institution as Satisfactory, Needs Improvement, or Unsatisfactory.

Satisfactory. Year 2000 efforts of financial institutions and indepen
dent data centers are considered "Satisfactory" if they exhibit 
acceptable performance in all key phases of the Year 2000 project 
management process as set forth in the May 5,1997, Federal 
Financial Institutions Examination Council (FFIEC) Interagency 
Statement on the Year 2000 and subsequent guidance documents. 
Performance is satisfactory when project weaknesses are minor in 
nature and can be readily corrected w ith in the existing project man
agement framework. The institution's remediation progress to date 
meets or nearly meets expectations laid out in its Year 2000 project 
plan. Senior management and the board recognize and understand 
Year 2000 risk, are active in overseeing institutional corrective 
efforts, and have ensured that the necessary resources are avail
able to address this risk area.

Needs Improvement: Year 2000 efforts of financial institutions and 
independent data centers are evaluated as "Needs Improvement" if 
they exhibit less than acceptable performance in all key phases of 
the Year 2000 project management process. Project weaknesses 
are evident, even if deficiencies are correctable w ith in the existing 
project management framework. The institution's remediation 
progress to date is behind the schedule laid out in its Year 2000 
project plan. Senior management or the board is not fu lly aware of 
the status of Year 2000 correction efforts, may not have committed 
sufficient financial or human resources to address this risk, or may 
not fu lly  understand Year 2000 implications.

Unsatisfactory. Year 2000 efforts of financial institutions and inde
pendent data centers are considered "Unsatisfactory" if they exhibit 
poor performance in any of the key phases of the Year 2000 project 
management process. Project weaknesses are serious in nature 
and are not easily corrected w ith in  the existing project manage
ment framework. The institution's remediation progress is seriously 
behind the schedule laid out in its Year 2000 project plan.
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Senior management and the board do not understand or recognize 
the impact that the Year 2000 w ill have on the institution. 
Management or the board commitment is lim ited or their oversight 
activities are not evident.

Based on data updated through April 30,1999,10,159 institutions 
w ith  $6.4 trillion  in assets have received a Satisfactory rating, 216 
institutions w ith  $80 billion in assets a Needs Improvement rating, 
and 21 institutions w ith $1 billion in assets an Unsatisfactory rating 
(data includes SAIF-and BIF-insured institutions). Although the ini
tia l results of the uniform reviews are encouraging, the Year 2000 
issue is unprecedented. Therefore, it is d ifficu lt to determine which 
institutions, if any, w ill ultimately fa il. Further, estimates of the 
cost of resolving Year 2000 failures are complicated by the uncer
tain nature of technological disruptions and the associated impact 
on the SAIF, if any. Failures caused solely by liquidity problems 
would pose substantially less exposure to the SAIF. Year 2000 
failures could conceivably be such liquidity failures. The possibility 
that any such failure would occur is quite speculative in view of 
actions taken by the Federal Reserve Board to ensure sufficient 
liquidity and currency to meet the cash needs of insured thrifts.

Failures could occur because of the fam iliar capital insolvency (lia
b ilities exceeding assets) if a substantial number of th rift borrowers 
were unable to repay loans due to their own lack of preparedness 
for the Year 2000. Insured thrifts  are required to be aware of the 
measures taken by key customers to protect themselves against 
adverse impact from the advent of Year 2000, and compliance w ith 
such requirements is monitored via the regulatory examination pro
gram. The extent to which insured institutions, if  any, ultimately 
experience this type of failure is not measurable.

Financial institutions are required to design a Year 2000 contin
gency plan to mitigate the risks associated w ith  the failure of sys
tems at critical dates (Business Resumption Contingency Planning). 
A business resumption contingency plan is designed to provide 
assurance that core business functions w ill continue if one or more 
systems fail.

In order to assess exposure to the SAIF from Year 2000 potential 
failures, the FDIC evaluated all information relevant to such an 
assessment, to include Year 2000 on-site examination results, insti
tution capital levels and supervisory examination composite ratings, 
and other institution past and current financial characteristics. As a 
result of this assessment, we conclude that, as of December 31,
1998, there are no probable losses to the SAIF from Year 2000 fa il
ures. Further, any reasonably possible losses from Year 2000 fa il
ures were not estimable. During the remainder of 1999, the regula
tory agencies w ill continue their Year 2000 reviews and the FDIC 
w ill continue to assess this potential liability.

Litigation Losses

The SAIF records an estimated loss for unresolved legal cases to 
the extent those losses are considered probable and reasonably 
estimable. For 1998 and 1997, no legal cases were deemed proba
ble in occurrence. In 1998, no unresolved legal cases were identi
fied as reasonably possible.

7. Assessments

The 1990 OBR Act removed caps on assessment rate increases and 
authorized the FDIC to set assessment rates for SAIF members 
semiannually, to be applied against a member’s average assess
ment base. The FDICIA: 1) required the FDIC to implement a risk- 
based assessment system; 2) authorized the FDIC to increase 
assessment rates for SAIF-member institutions as needed to ensure 
that funds are available to satisfy the SAIF's obligations; 3) required 
the FDIC to build and maintain the reserves in the insurance funds 
to 1.25 percent of insured deposits; and 4) authorized the FDIC to 
increase assessment rates more frequently than semiannually and 
impose emergency special assessments as necessary to ensure 
that funds are available to repay U.S. Treasury borrowings.

The DIFA (see Note 1) provided, among other things, for the capital
ization of the SAIF to its DRR of 1.25 percent by means of a one
time special assessment on SAIF-insured deposits. The SAIF 
achieved its required capitalization by means of a $4.5 billion 
special assessment effective October 1,1996.

Prior to January 1,1997, the FICO had priority over the SAIF for 
receiving and utilizing SAIF assessments to ensure availability of 
funds for interest on the FICO's debt obligations. Accordingly, the 
SAIF recognized as assessment revenue only that portion of SAIF 
assessments not required by the FICO. Assessments on the SAIF- 
insured deposits held by BIF-member Oakar or SAIF-member Sasser 
institutions prior to January 1,1997, were not subject to draws by 
the FICO and, thus, were retained in SAIF in their entirety.

The DIFA expanded the assessment base for payments of the inter
est on obligations issued by the FICO to include all FDIC-insured 
institutions (including banks, thrifts, and Oakar and Sasser financial 
institutions) and made the FICO assessment separate from regular 
assessments, effective on January 1,1997.
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The FICO assessment has no financial impact on the SAIF. The 
FICO assessment is separate from the regular assessments and is 
imposed on th r if ts  and banks, not on the insurance funds.
The FDIC, as administrator of the SAIF and the BIF, is acting solely 
as a collection agent for the FICO. During 1998 and 1997, $446 
million and $454 million respectively, were collected from savings 
associations and remitted to the FICO.

The FDIC uses a risk-based assessment system that charges higher 
rates to those institutions that pose greater risks to the SAIF.

To arrive at a risk-based assessment for a particular institution, the 
FDIC places each institution in one of nine risk categories, using a 
two-step process based firs t on capital ratios and then on other rel
evant information. The Board reviews premium rates semiannually. 
The assessment rate averaged approximately 0.21 cents and 0.39 
cents per $100 of assessable deposits for 1998 and 1997, respec
tively. On October 27,1998, the Board voted to retain the SAIF 
assessment schedule of 0 to 27 cents per $100 of assessable 
deposits (annual rates) for the firs t semiannual period of 1999.

8. Pension Benefits, Savings Plans, and Accrued Annual Leave

Eligible FDIC employees (all permanent and temporary employees 
w ith  appointments exceeding one year) are covered by either the 
Civil Service Retirement System (CSRS) or the Federal Employee 
Retirement System (FERS). The CSRS is a defined benefit plan, 
which is offset w ith  the Social Security System in certain cases. 
Plan benefits are determined on the basis of years of creditable 
service and compensation levels. The CSRS-covered employees 
also can contribute to the tax-deferred Federal Thrift Savings Plan 
(TSP).

The FERS is a three-part plan consisting of a basic defined benefit 
plan that provides benefits based on years of creditable service 
and compensation levels, Social Security benefits, and the TSP. 
Automatic and matching employer contributions to the TSP are 
provided up to specified amounts under the FERS.

During 1998, there was an open season that allowed employees to 
switch from CSRS to FERS. This did not have a material impact on 
SAIF's operating expenses.

Although the SAIF contributes a portion of pension benefits for e li
gible employees, it does not account for the assets of either retire
ment system. The SAIF also does not have actuarial data for accu
mulated plan benefits or the unfunded liab ility  relative to eligible 
employees. These amounts are reported on and accounted for by 
the U.S. Office of Personnel Management (OPM).

Eligible FDIC employees also may participate in a FDIC-sponsored 
tax-deferred savings plan w ith matching contributions. The SAIF 
pays its share of the employer's portion of all related costs.

The SAIF's pro rata share of the Corporation's liab ility  to employees 
for accrued annual leave is approximately $4.4 million and $3 m il
lion at December 31,1998 and 1997, respectively.

Pension Benefits and Savings Plans Expenses

D o l l a r s  i n  T h o u s a n d s

For the Year Ended 
December 31, 1998

For the Year Ended 
December 31,1997

CSRS/FERS Disability Fund $ 140 $ 44
Civil Service Retirement System 1,242 855
Federal Employee Retirement System (Basic Benefit) 3,002 2,242
FDIC Savings Plan 1,947 1,446
Federal Thrift Savings Plan 1,176 CO CD

Total 7,507 5,427
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9. Postretirement Benefits Other Than Pensions

On January 2,1998, SAIF's obligation under SFAS No. 106, 
"Employers' Accounting for Postretirement Benefits Other Than 
Pensions,'' for postretirement health benefits was reduced when 
over 6,500 employees enrolled in the Federal Employees Health 
Benefits (FEHB) Program for their future health insurance coverage. 
The OPM assumed the SAIF's obligation for postretirement health 
benefits for these employees at no initial enrollment cost.

In addition, legislation was passed that allowed the remaining 
2,600 retirees and near-retirees (employees w ith in five years of 
retirement) in the FDIC health plan to also enroll in the FEHB 
Program for their future health insurance coverage, beginning

Postretirement Benefits Other Than Pensions

D o l l a r s  i n  T h o u s a n d s
1998 1997

Funded Status at December 31
Fair value of plan assets ,a| $ 5,048 $ 10,011
Less: Benefit obligation 5,048 9,411
Under/(Over) Funded Status of the plans $ 0 $ (600)

Accrued benefit liability recognized in the Statements of Financial Position $ 0 $ 867

Expenses and Cash Flows for the Period Ended December 31
Net periodic benefit cost $ 1,516 $ 451
Employer contributions 718 342
Benefits paid 718 342

Weighted-Average Assumptions at December 31
Discount rate 4.50 % 5.75%
Expected return on plan assets 4.50 % 5.75%
Rate of compensation increase 4.00 % 4.00%

(a) Invested in U.S. Treasury obligations.

For measurement purposes, the per capita cost of covered health gradually each year to a rate of 7.75 percent for the year 2000 and 
care benefits was assumed to increase by an annual rate of 8.75 remain at that level thereafter, 
percent for 1998. Further, the rate was assumed to decrease

January 1,1999. The OPM assumed the SAIF's obligation for 
postretirement health benefits for retirees and near-retirees for a 
fee of $3.7 million. The OPM is now responsible for postretirement 
health benefits for all employees and covered retirees. The FDIC 
w ill continue to be obligated for dental and life insurance coverage 
for as long as the programs are offered and coverage is extended 
to retirees.

OPM's assumption of the health care obligation constitutes both a 
settlement and a curtailment as defined by SFAS No. 106. This 
conversion resulted in a gain of $5.5 million to the SAIF.
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10. Commitments and Off-Balance-Sheet Exposure

Commitments

Leases
The SAIF's allocated share of the FDIC's lease commitments totals 
$20.2 m illion fo r future years. The lease agreements contain esca
lation clauses resulting in adjustments, usually on an annual basis. 
The allocation to the SAIF of the FDIC's future lease commitments

is based upon current relationships of the workloads among the 
SAIF, the BIF and the FRF. Changes in the relative workloads could 
cause the amounts allocated to the SAIF in the future to vary from 
the amounts shown below. The SAIF recognized leased space 
expense of $4.8 m illion and $3.3 m illion for the years ended 
December 31,1998 and 1997, respectively.

Lease Commitments

D o l l a r s  i n  T h o u s a n d s

1999 2000 2001 2002 2003
2004 and 

Thereafter

$4,488 $3,963 $3,187 $2,788 $1,723 $4,079

Other Off-Balance Sheet Risk

Deposit Insurance depository institutions were to fa il and the acquired assets provided
As of December 31,1998, deposits insured by the SAIF totaled no recoveries,
approximately $709 billion. This would be the accounting loss if  all

11. Disclosures About the Fair Value of Financial Instruments

Cash equivalents are short-term, highly liquid investments and are 
shown at current value. The fa ir market value of the investment in 
U.S. Treasury obligations is disclosed in Notes 3 and 4 and is based 
on current market prices. The carrying amount of interest receiv
able on investments, short-term receivables, and accounts payable 
and other liabilities approximates their fa ir market value. This is 
due to their short maturities or comparisons w ith  current interest 
rates. As explained in Note 3, entrance and exit fees receivable 
are net of discounts calculated using an interest rate comparable to 
U.S. Treasury Bill or Government bond/note rates at the time the 
receivables are accrued.

The net receivables from th r ift resolutions primarily include the 
SAIF's subrogated claim arising from payments to insured 
depositors. The receivership assets that w ill ultimately be used 
to pay the corporate subrogated claim are valued using discount 
rates that include consideration of market risk. These discounts 
ultimately affect the SAIF's allowance for loss against the net 
receivables from th r ift resolutions. Therefore, the corporate 
subrogated claim indirectly includes the effect of discounting

and should not be viewed as being stated in terms of nominal 
cash flows.

Although the value of the corporate subrogated claim is influenced 
by valuation of receivership assets (see Note 5), such receivership 
valuation is not equivalent to the valuation of the corporate claim. 
Since the corporate claim is unique, not intended for sale to the pri
vate sector, and has no established market, it is not practicable to 
estimate its fa ir market value.

The FDIC believes that a sale to the private sector of the corporate 
claim would require indeterminate, but substantial discounts for an 
interested party to  profit from these assets because of credit and 
other risks. In addition, the tim ing of receivership payments to the 
SAIF on the subrogated claim does not necessarily correspond w ith 
the tim ing of collections on receivership assets. Therefore, the 
effect of discounting used by receiverships should not necessarily 
be viewed as producing an estimate of market value for the net 
receivables from th r ift resolutions.
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12. Supplementary Information Relating to the Statements of Cash Flows

Reconciliation of Net Income to Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities

D o l l a r s  i n  T h o u s a n d s
For the Year Ended 
December 31,1998

For the Year Ended 
December 31,1997

Net Income $ 467,230 S 479,926
Adjustments to Reconcile Net Income to Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities

Income Statement Items:
Provision for insurance losses 31,992 (1,879)
Amortization of U.S. Treasury obligations (unrestricted) 41,198 17,675
Gain on conversion of benefit plan 5,464 0

Change in Assets and Liabilities:
Decrease (Increase) in amortization of U.S. Treasury obligations (restricted) 304 (147)
(Increase) in entrance and exit fees receivable, including interest receivable on 
investments and other assets (20.187) (33)
(Increase) Decrease in receivables from th r ift resolutions (4,700) 11,652
(Decrease) in accounts payable and other liabilities (3,126) (171,732)
Increase in exit fees and investment proceeds held in escrow 14,242 11,973
Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities $ 532,417 $ 347,435

13. Year 2000 Issues

State of Readiness

The FDIC, as administrator for the SAIF, is conducting a corporate- 
w ide effort to ensure that all FDIC information systems are Year 
2000 compliant. This means the systems must accurately process 
date and time data in calculations, comparisons, and sequences 
after December 31,1999, and be able to correctly deal w ith  leap- 
year calculations in 2000. The Year 2000 Oversight Committee is 
comprised of FDIC division management that oversees the Year 
2000 effort.

The FDIC's Division of Information Resources Management (DIRM) 
leads the internal Year 2000 effort, under the direction of the 
Oversight Committee. DIRM used a five-phase approach for ensur
ing that all FDIC systems and software are Year 2000 compliant. 
The five phases are:

Awareness
The firs t phase of compliance focuses on defining the Year 2000 
problem and gaining executive-level support and sponsorship for 
the effort.

Assessment
The second phase of compliance focuses on assessing the Year
2000 impact on the Corporation as a whole.

Renovation
The third phase of compliance focuses on converting, replacing or 
elim inating selected platforms, applications, databases, and u tili
ties, w hile  modifying interfaces as appropriate.

Platform is a broad term that encompasses computer hardware 
(including mainframe computers, servers, and personal computers) 
and software (including computer languages and operating sys
tems). U tility  programs, or "u tilities ," provide file  management 
capabilities, such as sorting, copying, comparing, listing and 
searching, as well as diagnostic and measurement routines that 
check the health and performance of the system.

Validation
The fourth phase of compliance focuses on testing, verifying and 
validating converted or replaced platforms, applications, databases, 
and utilities.
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Implementation
The fifth  phase of compliance focuses on implementing converted 
or replaced platforms, applications, databases, utilities, and 
interfaces.

The Awareness, Assessment, and Renovation phases are complete. 
The Validation phase is scheduled to be completed during January
1999 when all production applications w ill be validated for Year
2000 readiness. Implementation of the majority of production 
applications in Year 2000 ready status w ill be completed by March
31,1999. Validation and implementation of new systems and 
modifications to existing systems w ill continue throughout 1999.

Year 2000 Estimated Costs

Year 2000 compliance expenses for the SAIF are estimated at $4.4 
million and $191 thousand at December 31,1998 and 1997, respec
tively. These expenses are reflected in the "Operating expenses” 
line item of the SAIF's Statements of Income and Fund Balance. 
Future expenses are estimated to be $6.2 million. Year 2000 esti
mated future costs are included in the FDIC's budget.

Risks of Year 2000 Issues

The OTS has an ongoing aggressive in itiative to assess the SAIF's 
insured financial institutions fo r Year 2000 compliance. The SAIF is 
subject to a potential loss from financial institutions that may fail 
as a result of Year 2000 related issues. Refer to "Estimated 
Liabilities for: Anticipated Failure of Insured Institutions - Year 2000 
Anticipated Failures" (Note 6) for additional information.

No potential loss w ith  internal system failure has been estimated 
due to the extensive planning and validation that has occurred.

Contingency Plans

DIRM is currently developing a disaster recovery plan and contin
gency plans specific to each mission-critical application.

Other divisions w ith in  the FDIC are working together to develop 
contingency plans to be prepared if any FDIC-insured financial 
institution fa ils  as a result o f lack of Year 2000 preparedness.

14. Subsequent Events

SAIF Special Reserve

DIFA requires the establishment of a Special Reserve of the SAIF if, 
on January 1,1999, the reserve ratio exceeds the DRR of 1.25 per
cent. The reserve ratio exceeded the DRR by approximately 0.14 
percent on January 1,1999. As a result, $978 m illion was placed 
in a Special Reserve of the SAIF and is being administered by the 
FDIC.

The Corporation may, in its sole discretion, transfer amounts from 
the Special Reserve to the SAIF for an "emergency use." An emer
gency use is authorized only if the reserve ratio of the SAIF is less 
than 50 percent of the DRR and is expected to remain at less than 
50 percent for each of the next four calendar quarters. The Special 
Reserve must be excluded when calculating the reserve ratio of the 
SAIF.
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o
F e d e r a l  D e p o s i t  I n s u r a n c e  C o r p o r a t i o n

FSLIC Resolution Fund Statements of Financial Position

D o l l a r s  i n  T h o u s a n d s
December 31,1998 December 31,1997

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ 4,631,379 $ 2,107,171
Receivables from th rift resolutions, net (Note 3) 1,388,579 2,570,486
Securitization funds held by trustee, net (Note 4) 2,796,646 4,890,568
Investment in securitization residual certificates (Note 5) 1,538,339
Assets acquired from assisted thrifts and terminated receiverships, net (Note 6) 64,101 73,051
Other assets, net (Note 7) 40,721 7,391
Total Assets $ 10,459,765 $ 9,648,667

Liabilities
Accounts payable and other liabilities $ 40,396 $ 164,401
Notes payable - Federal Financing Bank borrowings (Note 8) 0 849,294
Liabilities from th rift resolutions (Note 9) 74,336 105,168
Estimated Liabilities for: 1Note 10)

Assistance agreements 4,852 6,328
Litigation losses 18,340 2,634
Total Liabilities 137,924 1,127,825
Commitments and concentration o f credit risks (Note 15)

Resolution Equity (Note 12)
Contributed capital 135,490,741 135,493,762
Accumulated deficit (125,243,229) (126,972,920)
Unrealized gain on available-for-sale securities, net (Note 5) 74,329
Accumulated deficit, net (125,168,900) (126,972,920)
Total Resolution Equity 10,321,841 8,520,842

Total Liabilities and Resolution Equity $ 10,459,765 S 9,648,667

The accompanying notes are an integral part o f these financial statements.
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o

F e d e r a l  D e p o s i t  I n s u r a n c e  C o r p o r a t i o n

FSLIC Resolution Fund Statements of Income and Accumulated Deficit

D o l l a r s  i n  T h o u s a n d s

For the Year Ended For the Year Ended
December 31,1998 December 31,1997

Revenue
Interest on securitization funds held by trustee $ 262,962 $ 299,854
Interest on U.S. Treasury obligations 109,045 86,959
Interest on advances and subrogated claims 212,645 (28,348)
Gain on conversion of benefit plan (Note 14) 39,297 0

Revenue from assets acquired from assisted thrifts  and terminated receiverships 40,124 74,286
Limited partnership equity interests and other revenue 31,593 22,600
Total Revenue 695,666 455,351

Expenses and Losses
Operating expenses 56,336 16,732
Provision for losses (Note 11) (1,290,752) (1,741,639)
Expenses for goodwill settlements and litigation 154,492 33,833
Interest expense on FFB debt and other notes payable 22,413 130,435
Expenses for assets acquired from assisted thrifts  and terminated receiverships 19,652 65,175
Other expenses 3,834 4,412
Total Expenses and Losses (1,034,025) (1,491,052)

Net Income 1,729,691 1,946,403
Unrealized gain on available-for-sale securities, net (Note 5) 74,329 0

Comprehensive Income 1,804,020 1,946,403

Accumulated Deficit - Beginning (126,972,920) (128,919,323)

Accumulated Deficit - Ending $ (125.168,900) $ (126,972,920)

The accompanying notes are an integral part o f these financial statements.
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FSLIC Resolution Fund Statements of Cash Flows

D o l l a r s  i n  T h o u s a n d s

For the Year Ended 
December 31,1998

For the Year Ended 
December 31,1997

Cash Flows From Operating Activities
Cash provided from:
Interest on U.S. Treasury obligations $ 109,045 $ 86,966
Recoveries from th rift resolutions 890,566 3,791,256
Recoveries from securitization funds held by trustee 2,390,945 1,078,815
Recoveries from lim ited partnership equity interests 188,801 121,369
Recoveries from assets acquired from assisted thrifts 
and terminated receiverships 48,580 483,524
Miscellaneous receipts 1,383 13,962

Cash used for:
Operating expenses (78,526) (41,268)
Interest paid on notes payable (29,997) (173,981)
Disbursements for th r ift resolutions (177,365) (390,632)
Disbursements for goodwill settlements and litigation expenses (154,492) (26,610)
Disbursements for assets acquired from assisted thrifts  
and terminated receiverships (26,952) (176,933)
Miscellaneous disbursements (220) (4,913)

Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities (Note 17) 3,161,768 4,761,555

Cash Flows From Investing Activities 
Cash provided from:
Redemption of Securitization Residual Certificates, available-for-sale 260,856

Cash used for:
Purchase of Residual Certificates, available-for-sale________________________________________ (25,425)

Net Cash Provided from Investing Activities 235,431

Cash Flows From Financing Activities
Cash used for:
Return of U.S. Treasury payments (3,020) (8,053)
Repayments of Federal Financing Bank borrowings (838,412) (3,718,692)
Repayments of indebtedness from th rift resolutions (31,559) (31,560)

Net Cash Used by Financing Activities (872,991) (3,758,305)

Net Increase in Cash and Cash Equivalents 2,524,208 1,003,250
Cash and Cash Equivalents - Beginning 2,107,171 1,103,921
Cash and Cash Equivalents - Ending $ 4,631,379 $ 2,107,171

The accompanying notes are an integral part o f these financial statements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
FSLIC Resolution Fund

D e c e m b e r  3 1 ,  1 9 9 8  a n d  1 9 9 7

1. Legislative History and Operations of the FSLIC Resolution Fund

Legislative History

The U.S. Congress created the Federal Savings and Loan Insurance 
Corporation (FSLIC) through the enactment of the National Housing 
Act of 1934. The Financial Institutions Reform, Recovery, and 
Enforcement Act of 1989 (FIRREA) abolished the insolvent FSLIC, 
created the FSLIC Resolution Fund (FRF), and transferred the assets 
and liabilities of the FSLIC to the FRF (except those assets and lia
bilities transferred to the Resolution Trust Corporation (RTC)), effec
tive on August 9,1989. The FRF is responsible for w inding up the 
affairs of the former FSLIC.

The FIRREA was enacted to reform, recapitalize, and consolidate 
the federal deposit insurance system. In addition to the FRF, FIR
REA created the Bank Insurance Fund (BIF) and the Savings Associa
tion Insurance Fund (SAIF). It also designated the Federal Deposit 
Insurance Corporation (FDIC) as the administrator of these funds.
A ll three funds are maintained separately to  carry out their respec
tive mandates.

The FIRREA also created the RTC to manage and resolve all thrifts 
previously insured by the FSLIC for which a conservator or receiver 
was appointed during the period January 1,1989, through August 8, 
1992. The FIRREA established the Resolution Funding Corporation 
(REFCORP) to provide part of the initial funds used by the RTC for 
th rift resolutions. Additionally, funds were appropriated for RTC 
resolutions pursuant to FIRREA, the RTC Funding Act of 1991, the 
RTC Refinancing, Restructuring and Improvement Act of 1991, and 
the RTC Completion Act.

The RTC's resolution responsibility was extended through 
subsequent legislation from the original termination date of 
August 8,1992. Resolution responsibility transferred from the RTC 
to the SAIF on July 1,1995.

The RTC Completion Act of 1993 (RTC Completion Act) terminated 
the RTC as of December 31,1995. A ll remaining assets and liab ili
ties of the RTC were transferred to the FRF on January 1,1996. 
Today, the FRF consists of tw o distinct pools of assets and liab ili
ties: one composed of the assets and liabilities of the FSLIC trans
ferred to the FRF upon the dissolution of the FSLIC on August 9,
1989 (FRF-FSLIC), and the other composed of the RTC assets and 
liabilities transferred to the FRF on January 1,1996 (FRF-RTC). The 
assets of one pool are not available to satisfy obligations of the 
other.

The RTC Completion Act requires the FDIC to return to the U.S. 
Treasury any funds that were transferred to the RTC pursuant to  the 
RTC Completion Act but not needed by the RTC. The RTC Comple
tion Act made available approximately $18 billion worth of addition
al funding. The RTC actually drew down $4,556 billion.

The FDIC must transfer to the REFCORP the net proceeds from the 
FRF's sale of RTC assets, after providing for all outstanding RTC

liabilities. Any such funds transferred to the REFCORP pay the 
interest on the REFCORP bonds issued to fund the early RTC resolu
tions. Any such payments benefit the U.S. Treasury, which would 
otherwise be obligated to pay the interest on the bonds (see Note 
12 ).

Operations of the FRF

The FRF w ill continue operations until all of its assets are sold or 
otherwise liquidated and all of its liabilities are satisfied. Any 
funds remaining in the FRF-FSLIC w ill be paid to the U.S. Treasury. 
Any remaining funds of the FRF-RTC w ill be distributed to the 
U.S. Treasury to repay RTC Completion Act appropriations and to 
the REFCORP to pay the interest on the REFCORP bonds.

The FRF has been primarily funded from the follow ing sources: 1) 
U.S. Treasury appropriations; 2) amounts borrowed by the RTC from 
the Federal Financing Bank (FFB); 3) amounts recorded from the 
issuance of capital certificates to REFCORP; 4) funds received from 
the management and disposition of assets of the FRF; 5) the FRF's 
portion of liquidating dividends paid by FRF receiverships; and 6) 
interest earned on Special U.S. Treasury Certificates purchased w ith  
proceeds of 4) and 5). If these sources are insufficient to satisfy the 
liabilities of the FRF, payments w ill be made from the U.S. Treasury 
in amounts necessary, as are appropriated by Congress, to carry out 
the objectives of the FRF.

Public Law 103-327 provides $827 m illion in funding to be available 
until expended to facilita te efforts to w ind up the resolution activity 
of the FRF. The FRF received $165 m illion under this appropriation 
on November 2,1995. In addition, Public Law 104-208 and Public 
Law 105-61 authorized the use by the Department of Justice (DOJ) 
of $26.1 m illion and $33.7 million, respectively, from the original 
$827 m illion in funding, thus reducing the amount available to be 
expended to $602.2 million. The funding made available to DOJ 
covers the reimbursement of reasonable expenses of litigation 
incurred in the defense of claims against the U.S. arising from the 
goodwill litigation cases.

Additional goodwill litigation expenses incurred by DOJ w ill be paid 
directly from the FRF-FSLIC based on a Memorandum of Under
standing (MOU) dated October 2,1998, between FDIC and DOJ. 
Under the terms of the MOU, the FRF-FSLIC paid $51.2 m illion to 
DOJ during 1998. Separate funding for goodwill judgements and 
settlements is available through Public Law 105-277 (see Note 10).

The VA, HUD and Independent Agencies Appropriations Acts of
1999 and 1998 appropriated $34.7 m illion for fiscal year 1999 (Octo
ber 1, 1998, through September 30,1999) and $34 m illion for fiscal 
year 1998 (October 1,1997, through September 30,1998), respec
tively, for operating expenses incurred by the Office of Inspector 
General (OIG). These Acts mandate that the funds are to be derived 
from the FRF, the BIF, and the SAIF.
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

General

These financial statements pertain to the financial position, results 
of operations, and cash flows of the FRF and are presented in 
accordance w ith  generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP). 
These statements do not include reporting for assets and liabilities 
of closed th r ift institutions for which the FDIC acts as receiver or 
liquidating agent. Periodic and final accountability reports of the 
FDIC's activities as receiver or liquidating agent are furnished to 
courts, supervisory authorities, and others as required.

Use of Estimates

FDIC management makes estimates and assumptions that affect the 
amounts reported in the financial statements and accompanying 
notes. Actual results could differ from these estimates. Where it is 
reasonably possible that changes in estimates w ill cause a material 
change in the financial statements in the near term, the nature and 
extent of such changes in estimates have been disclosed.

Cash Equivalents

Cash equivalents are short-term, highly liquid investments w ith 
original maturities of three months or less. Cash equivalents pri
marily consist o f Special U.S. Treasury Certificates.

Investment in Securitization Residual Certificates

The Investment in Securitization Residual Certificates is recorded 
pursuant to  the provisions of the Statement of Financial Accounting 
Standards (SFAS) No. 115, "Accounting for Certain Investments in 
Debt and Equity Securities." SFAS No. 115 requires that securities 
be classified in one of three categories: held-to-maturity, available- 
for-sale, or trading. The Investment in Securitization Residual 
Certificates is classified as available-for-sale and is shown at fa ir 
value w ith  unrealized gains and losses included in Resolution 
Equity. Realized gains are included in the "Limited partnership 
equity interests and other revenue" line item w ith  realized losses 
included in the "Provision for losses" line item when applicable. 
The FRF does not have any securities classified as held-to-maturity 
or trading.

Allowance for Losses on Receivables From Thrift 
Resolutions and Assets Acquired From Assisted 
Thrifts and Terminated Receiverships

FRF also records as an asset the amounts paid for assets acquired 
from assisted thrifts  and terminated receiverships. Any related 
allowance for loss represents the difference between the funds 
advanced and/or obligations incurred and the expected repayment. 
The latter is based on estimates of discounted cash recoveries from 
the assets of assisted or failed th r ift institutions, net of all estim at
ed liquidation costs. Estimated cash recoveries also include divi
dends and gains on sales from equity instruments acquired in reso
lution transactions.

Receivership Operations

The FDIC is responsible for managing and disposing of the assets of 
failed institutions in an orderly and effic ient manner. The assets, 
and the claims against them, are accounted for separately to ensure 
that liquidation proceeds are distributed in accordance w ith 
applicable laws and regulations. Also, the income and expenses 
attributable to receiverships are accounted for as transactions of 
those receiverships. Liquidation expenses incurred by the FRF on 
behalf of the receiverships are recovered from those receiverships.

Cost Allocations Among Funds

Operating expenses not directly charged to the funds are allocated 
to all funds administered by the FDIC. Workload-based-allocation 
percentages are developed during the annual corporate planning 
process and through supplemental functional analyses.

Postretirement Benefits Other Than Pensions

The FDIC established an entity to provide the accounting and admin
istration of postretirement benefits on behalf of the FRF, the BIF, and 
the SAIF. Each fund pays its liabilities for these benefits directly to 
the entity. The FRF's unfunded net postretirement benefits liability 
for the plan is presented in FRF's Statements of Financial Position.

Disclosure About Recent Financial Accounting 
Standard Pronouncements

In February 1998, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) 
issued SFAS No. 132, "Employers' Disclosures about Pension and 
Other Postretirement Benefits." The Statement standardizes the 
disclosure requirements for pensions and other postretirement 
benefits to the extent practicable. Although changes in the FRF's 
disclosures for postretirement benefits have been made, the impact 
is not material.

The FRF records a receivable for the amounts advanced and/or 
obligations incurred for resolving troubled and failed thrifts. The
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In June 1997, the FASB issued SFAS No. 130, "Reporting Compre
hensive Income." The FDIC adopted SFAS No. 130 effective on 
January 1,1997. Comprehensive income includes net income as 
well as certain types of unrealized gain or loss. The only compo
nent of SFAS No. 130 that impacts the FRF is unrealized gain or loss 
on the securitization residual certificates that are classified as 
available-for-sale, which is presented in the FRF's Statements of 
Financial Position and the Statements of Income and Accumulated 
Deficit.

Other recent pronouncements are not applicable to the financial 
statements.

Wholly Owned Subsidiary

The Federal Asset Disposition Association (FADA) is a wholly 
owned subsidiary of the FRF. The FADA was placed in receivership 
on February 5,1990. Final judgement on the remaining litigation 
was made on Oecember 16,1998. Flowever, a final liquidating divi
dend to the FRF was still pending at year-end. This liquidating divi
dend w ill be disbursed during 1999. The investment in the FADA is 
accounted for using the equity method and is included in the "Other 
assets, net” line item (see Note 7).

Related Parties

National Judgments, Deficiencies, and Charge-offs Joint Venture 
Program. The former RTC purchased assets from receiverships, 
conservatorships, and their subsidiaries to fac ilita te  the sale and/or 
transfer of selected assets to several jo in t ventures in which the 
former RTC retained a financial interest. These assets are present
ed in "Assets acquired from assisted thrifts  and terminated 
receiverships, net" line item in the FRF's Statements of Financial 
Position.

Limited Partnership Equity Interests. Former RTC receiverships 
were holders of lim ited partnership equity interests as a result of 
various RTC sales programs that included the National Land Fund, 
M ultip le Investor Fund, N-Series, and S-Series programs. Over the 
past tw o years, the majority of the lim ited partnership equity inter
ests were transferred from the receiverships to the FRF. These 
assets are included in the "Receivables from th rift resolutions, net" 
line item in the FRF's Statements of Financial Position.

The nature of related parties and a description of related party 
transactions are disclosed thoughout the financial statements and 
footnotes.

Reclassifications

Reclassifications have been made in the 1997 financial statements 
to conform to the presentation used in 1998.

3. Receivables From Thrift Resolutions, Net

The th r ift resolution process took different forms depending on the 
unique facts and circumstances surrounding each failing or failed 
institution. Payments to prevent a failure were made to operating 
institutions when cost and other criteria were met. These pay
ments resulted in acquiring "Assets from open th rift assistance," 
which are various types of financial instruments from the assisted 
institutions.

As of December 31,1998 and 1997, the FDIC, in its receivership 
capacity for the former FSLIC and SAIF insured institutions, held 
assets w ith a book value of $2.6 billion and $3.6 billion, respectively 
(including cash and miscellaneous receivables of $1.7 billion and

$1.4 billion at December 31,1998 and 1997, respectively). These 
assets represent a significant source of repayment of the FRF's 
receivables from th rift resolutions. The estimated cash recoveries 
from the management and disposition of these assets that are 
used to derive the allowance for losses are based in part on a sta
tistical sampling of receivership assets. The sample was con
structed to produce a statistically valid result. These estimated 
recoveries are regularly evaluated, but remain subject to uncertain
ties because of potential changes in economic conditions. These 
factors could cause the FRF's and other claimants' actual recover
ies to vary from the level currently estimated.
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Receivables From Thrift Resolutions, Net

D o l l a r s  i n  T h o u s a n d s

December 31,1998 December 31,1997
Assets from open th rift assistance $ 529,123 $ 804,217

Allowance for losses (386,935) (446,064)

Net Assets From Open Thrift Assistance 142,188 358,153

Receivables from closed thrifts 72,727,268 76,680,026
Allowance for losses (71,480,877) (74,467,693)
Net Receivables From Closed Thrifts 1,246,391 2,212,333
Total $ 1,388,579 $ 2,570,486

Representations and Warranties

The FRF estimated corporate losses related to the receiverships' 
representations and warranties as part of the FRF's allowance for 
loss valuation. The allowance for these losses was $81 million 
and $90 million as of December 31,1998 and 1997, respectively. 
There are additional amounts of representation and warranty 
claims that are considered reasonably possible. As of December
31,1998, the amount is estimated at $330 million. The RTC 
provided guarantees, representations, and warranties on approxi
mately $115 billion in unpaid principal balance of loans sold and 
approximately $141 billion in unpaid principal balance of loans 
under servicing right contracts that had been sold. In general, the 
guarantees, representations and warranties on loans sold related 
to the completeness and accuracy of loan documentation, the

quality of the underwriting standards used, the accuracy of the 
delinquency status when sold, and the conformity of the loans 
w ith  characteristics of the pool in which they were sold. The 
representations and warranties made in connection w ith  the sale 
of servicing rights were lim ited to the responsibilities of acting as a 
servicer of the loans. Future losses on representations and w ar
ranties could significantly increase or decrease over the remaining 
life of the loans that were sold, which could be as long as 20 years.

The estimated liab ility  for representations and warranties associat
ed w ith loan sales that involved assets acquired from assisted 
thrifts  and terminated receiverships are included in "Accounts 
payable and other liab ilities” ($5 million and $18 m illion for 1998 
and 1997, respectively).

4. Securitization Funds Held by Trustee, Net

In order to maximize the return from the sale or disposition of 
assets, the RTC engaged in numerous securitization transactions. 
The RTC sold $42.4 billion of receivership, conservatorship, and 
corporate loans to various trusts that issued regular pass-through 
certificates through its mortgage-backed securities program. A 
portion of the proceeds from the sale of the certificates was placed 
in credit enhancement escrow accounts (escrow accounts) to cover 
future credit losses w ith  respect to the loans underlying the certifi
cates. In addition, the escrow accounts were established to 
increase the likelihood of fu ll and timely distributions of interest 
and principal to the certificate holders and thus increase the mar
ketability of the certificates. FRF's exposure from credit losses on 
loans sold through the program is lim ited to the balance of the 
escrow accounts. The escrow account balance is reduced for

claims paid and when the trustee releases the funds at the termina
tion of a securitization deal. Funds are also released if the trustee 
deems the escrow account balance to be excessive.

Through December 1998, the amount of claims paid was approxi
mately 19 percent of the in itia l escrow accounts. A t December 31,
1998 and 1997, escrow accounts totaled $2.9 billion and $5.2 b il
lion, respectively. A t December 31,1998 and 1997, the allowance 
for estimated future losses which would be paid from the escrow 
accounts totaled $0.1 billion and $0.3 billion, respectively.

The FRF earned interest income from the securitization funds held 
by trustee of $263 m illion during 1998 and $300 m illion during
1997.
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5. Investment in Securitization Residual Certificates

As part of the securitization transactions described in Note 4, 
receivership and conservatorship loans were sold to various trusts. 
In return, the receiverships received a participation in the residual 
pass-through certificates (residual certificates) issued through its 
mortgage-backed securities program. The residual certificates enti
tle the holder to any cash flow  from the sale of collateral remaining 
in the trust after the regular pass-through certificates and actual 
termination expenses are paid.

In October 1998, the residual certificates were transferred from the 
receiverships to the FRF. The $1.8 billion transferred to the FRF was 
offset by amounts owed by the receiverships to the FRF. The resid
ual certificates were adjusted to fa ir market value for this transac
tion and as a result, FRF's provision for losses decreased by $0.5 
billion and FRF’s resolution equity increased by $0.5 billion.

Realized gains and losses are recorded based on the difference 
between the proceeds at term ination and the cost of the original 
investment. In 1998, the FDIC received $241.3 m illion in proceeds 
from deals terminated by December 31,1998. Additionally, at 
termination, $48.8 m illion was deposited into the securitization 
funds held by trustee. The realized gains are included in "Limited 
partnership equity interests and other revenue" line item and the 
realized losses are included in the "Provision for losses'' line item. 
A t December 31,1998, realized gains were $2.7 m illion and realized 
losses were $47.1 million.

Investment in Securitaization Residual Certificates at December 31,1998

D o l l a r s  i n  M i l l i o n s

Unrealized Unrealized
Holding Holding Market

Cost Gains Losses Value

$1,464 $81 $7 $1,538

6. Assets Acquired From Assisted Thrifts and Terminated Receiverships, Net

The FRF's assets acquired from assisted thrifts  and terminated 
receiverships includes: 1) assets the former FSLIC and the former 
RTC purchased from troubled or failed thrifts  and 2) assets the FRF 
acquired from receiverships and purchased under assistance agree
ments. The methodology to estimate cash recoveries from these 
assets, which are used to derive the related allowance for losses, 
is the same as th a t fo r receivables from  th r if t  resolutions (see 
Note 3).

The FRF recognizes revenue and expenses on these acquired 
assets. Revenue consists primarily of interest earned on mortgage 
loans and proceeds from professional liab ility  claims. Expenses are 
recognized for the management and liquidation of these assets.

Assets Acquired From Assisted Thrifts and Terminated Receiverships, Net

D o l l a r s  i n  T h o u s a n d s

December 31,1998 December 31,1997

Assets acquired from  assisted th rifts  and term inated receiverships $ 216,006 $ 277,607
A llowance fo r losses (151,905) (204,556)

Total $ 64,101 $ 73,051
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7. Other Assets, Net
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Other Assets, Net

D o l l a r s  i n  T h o u s a n d s

December 31,1998 December 31,1997
Investment in FADA (Note 2) $ 15,000 $ 15,000
Allowance for loss (11,074) (11,074)
Investment in FADA, Net 3,926 3,926
Accounts receivable 33,200 607
Due from  other governm ent entities 3,595 2,858
Other Receivables 36.795 3,465
Total S 40,721 S 7,391

8. Notes Payable-Federal Financing Bank Borrowings

Working capital was made available to the RTC under an agree
ment w ith  the FFB to fund the resolution of thrifts  and for use in the 
RTC's high-cost funds replacement and emergency liquidity programs. 
The outstanding note was due to mature on January 1,2010; 
however, the entire principal and interest amounts were paid on 
August 10,1998. The FFB borrowing authority ceased upon the 
te rm ina tion  o f the RTC.

The note payable carried a floating rate of interest that was adjust
ed quarterly. The FFB established the interest rate and during 1998 
these rates ranged between 5.487 percent and 5.228 percent.

9. Liabilities From Thrift Resolutions

The FSLIC issued promissory notes and entered into assistance 
agreements to prevent the default and subsequent liquidation of 
certain insured th r ift institutions. These notes and agreements 
required the FSLIC to provide financial assistance over time. 
Pursuant to FIRREA, the FRF assumed these obligations.

Notes payable and obligations for assistance agreements are pre
sented in the "Liabilities from th r ift resolutions" line item. Estimat
ed future assistance payments are included in the "Estimated liabil 
ities for: Assistance agreements" line item (see Note 10).

Liabilities From Thrift Resolutions

D o l l a r s i n T h o u s a n d s
December 31,1998 December 31,1997

Capital instruments $ 0 $ 725
Assistance agreement notes payable 62,360 94.680
Interest payable 994 1,419
Other liabilities to th rift institutions 10,982 8.344
Total S 74,336 S 105,168
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10. Estimated Liabilities for:

Assistance Agreements

The estimated liab ilities for assistance agreements are $5 m illion 
and $6 m illion at December 31,1998 and 1997, respectively. The 
liab ility  represents an estimate of future assistance payments to 
acquirers of troubled th rift institutions. The balances for both years 
were not discounted because the remaining assistance agreements 
w ill terminate w ith in  the next tw o years, and the discount adjust
ment was deemed to be immaterial.

There were 33 assistance agreements outstanding as of December 
31,1998 and 1997. The last agreement is scheduled to  expire in 
July 2000.

Litigation Losses

The FRF records an estimated toss for unresolved legal cases to the 
extent those losses are considered probable and reasonably 
estimable. In addition to the amount recorded as probable, the 
FDIC's Legal Division has determined that losses from unresolved 
legal cases totaling $144 m illion are reasonably possible.

Additional Contingency

In United States v. Winstar Corp., 518 U.S. 839 (1996), the Supreme 
Court held that when it became impossible fo llowing the enactment 
of FIRREA in 1989 for the Federal Flome Loan Bank Board to perform 
certain agreements to count goodwill toward regulatory capital, the 
p laintiffs were entitled to recover damages from the United States. 
To date, approximately 120 lawsuits have been filed against the 
United States based on alleged breaches of these agreements 
(Goodwill Litigation).

On July 23,1998, the U.S. Treasury determined, based on an opin
ion of the DOJ's Office of Legal Counsel (OLC) dated July 22,1998, 
that the FRF is legally available to satisfy all judgments and settle
ments in the Goodwill Litigation involving supervisory action or 
assistance agreements. The U.S. Treasury further determined that 
the FRF is the appropriate source of funds for payment of any such 
judgments and settlements.

The OLC opinion concluded that the nonperformance of these 
agreements was a contingent liab ility  that was transferred to the 
FRF on August 9,1989, upon the dissolution of the FSLIC. Under 
the analysis set forth in the OLC opinion, as liabilities transferred 
on August 9,1989, these contingent liabilities for future nonperfor
mance of prior agreements w ith  respect to supervisory goodwill

were transferred to the FRF-FSLIC, which is that portion of the FRF 
encompassing the obligations of the former FSLIC. On July 31,
1998, the FDIC Board of Directors authorized the payment of four 
settlements in the Goodwill Litigation aggregating $103.3 million. 
This payment was made from the FRF-FSLIC. The FRF-RTC, which 
encompasses the obligations of the former RTC and was created 
upon the termination of the RTC on December 31,1995, is not avail
able to pay any settlements and judgments arising out of the Good
w ill Litigation.

The lawsuits comprising the Goodwill Litigation are against the 
United States and as such are defended by the DOJ. On March 19,
1999, DOJ informed the FDIC that, "as a practical matter, there are 
likely to be substantial recoveries against the government as these 
matters proceed to resolution." DOJ also advised that "variations 
among the ... cases [are] so great, including [the government's] pos
sible recovery of fraud related damages and penalties against vari
ous p la in t iffs ,... [that] it is simply impossible to predict w hat the 
overall outcome is likely to be."

The FDIC believes that it is probable that additional amounts, possi
bly substantial, may be paid from the FRF-FSLIC as a result of future 
judgments and settlements in the Goodwill Litigation. However, 
based on the response from the DOJ, the FDIC is unable to estimate 
a range of loss to the FRF-FSLIC from the Goodwill Litigation or 
determine whether any such loss would have a material effect on 
the financial condition of the FRF-FSLIC.

Section 130 of the Department of Justice Appropriations Act, 1999 
(Section 130), as amended, provides to the FRF-FSLIC such sums as 
may be necessary for the payment of judgments and settlements 
in the Goodwill Litigation, to remain available until expended. In 
the Budget for Fiscal Year 2000, the President has requested a per
manent appropriation to the FRF-FSLIC of such sums as may be nec
essary for the payment of judgments and settlements in the Good
w ill Litigation, to remain available until expended. It is anticipated 
that such an appropriation for the Goodwill Litigation judgments 
and settlements w ill be adopted. As a consequence, the FDIC 
believes that even if the Goodwill Litigation judgments and settle
ments were to exceed other available resources of the FRF-FSLIC, 
an appropriation is currently available and, it is anticipated, w ill be 
available in the future to pay such judgments and settlements. In 
these circumstances any liabilities for the Goodwill Litigation 
should have no material impact on the financial condition of the 
FRF-FSLIC. If an appropriation to the FRF-FSLIC were not available 
to pay the Goodwill Litigation judgments and settlements, the liab il
ities of the FRF-FSLIC in respect of the Goodwill Litigation would 
be material and adversely affect the financial condition of the 
FRF-FSLIC.
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11. Provision for Losses

The provision for losses was a negative $1.3 billion and a negative 
$1.7 billion for 1998 and 1997, respectively. In both years, the neg
ative provision resulted primarily from decreased losses expected

for assets in liquidation. The following chart lists the major com
ponents of the negative provision fo r losses.

Provision for Losses

D o l l a r s  i n  T h o u s a n d s
For the Year Ended For the Year Ended
December 31,1998 December 31,1998

Valuation adjustments:
Open th rift assistance $ 12,514 $ (77,900)
Recovery of tax benefits (115,401) (39,126)
Closed thrifts (1,125,523) (1,481,702)
Assets acquired from assisted thrifts 
and terminated receiverships (66,709) (242,253)
Securitization funds held by trustee (58,207) 134,424
Investment in securitization residual certificates 47,076
Miscellaneous receivables (42) (88)
Total $ (1,306,292) $ (1,706,645)

Contingencies:
Assistance agreements 0 1,961
Litigation 15,540 (36,955)
Total 15,540 (34,994)
Reduction in Provision for Losses S (1,290,752) S (1,741,639)

12. Resolution Equity

As stated in Note 1, the FRF is comprised of tw o  distinct pools: 
The FRF-FSLIC and the FRF-RTC. The FRF-FSLIC consists of the 
assets and liabilities of the former FSLIC. The FRF-RTC consists 
of the assets and liabilities of the former RTC. Pursuant to legal 
restrictions, the tw o pools are maintained separately and the

assets of one pool are not available to satisfy obligations of the 
other.

The following table shows the contributed capital, accumulated 
deficit, and resulting resolution equity for each pool.

Resolution Equity at December 31,1998

D o l l a r s  i n  T h o u s a n d s

FRF-FSLIC FRF-RTC
FRF

Consolidated
Contributed capital $ 44,156,000 $ 91,334,741 $ 135,490,741

Accumulated deficit (42,057,685) (83,185,544) (125,243,229)

Less: Unrealized gain on AFS securities 0 74,329 74,329

Accumulated deficit, net (42,057,685) (83,111,215) (125,168,900)

Total Resolution Equity $ 2,098,315 S 8,223,526 $ 10,321,841
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Resolution Equity at December 31,1997

D o l l a r s  i n  T h o u s a n d s

FRF-FSLIC FRF-RTC
FRF

Consolidated
Contributed capital $ 44,156,000 $ 91,337,762 $ 135,493,762
Accumulated deficit (42,194,200) (84,778,720) (126.972.920)
Total Resolution Equity $ 1,961,800 $ 6,559,042 $ 8,520,842

Contributed Capital Resolution Equity Restrictions

To date, the former RTC and the FRF-FSLIC received $60.1 billion 
and $43.5 billion from the U.S. Treasury, respectively. These pay
ments were used to fund losses from th rift resolutions prior to 
July 1,1995. Additionally, the RTC issued $31.3 billion in capital 
certificates to the REFCORP and the FRF-FSLIC issued $670 million 
of these instruments to the FICO. FIRREA prohibited the payment of 
dividends on any of these capital certificates.

Accumulated Deficit

FRF-FSLIC: The FRF-FSLIC has unrecorded, pending judgments and 
settlements that are inestimable at this time and that could sub
stantially reduce or elim inate the FRF-FSLIC Resolution Equity 
(see Note 10).

FRF-RTC: The former RTC drew down $4,556 billion of the approxi
mately $18 billion made available by the RTC Completion Act. The 
Completion Act requires the FDIC to deposit in the general fund of 
the U.S. Treasury any funds transferred to the RTC but not needed 
by the RTC. The FDIC w ill return these funds to the U.S. Treasury 
pursuant to the RTC Completion Act. In addition, the FDIC must 
transfer net proceeds from the sale of RTC assets to pay interest 
on the REFCORP bonds, after providing for all outstanding RTC

The accumulated deficit represents the cumulative excess of 
expenses over revenue for liquidation activity related to the former
FSLIC and the former RTC ($29.7 billion and $87.9 billion were liabilities. Any such payments benefit the U.S. Treasury, which
brought forward from the FSLIC and RTC, respectively). would otherwise be obligated to pay the interest on the bonds

(see Note 1).

13. Pension Benefits, Savings Plans, and Accrued Annual Leave

Eligible FDIC employees (all permanent and temporary employees 
w ith  appointments exceeding one year) are covered by either the 
Civil Service Retirement System (CSRS) or the Federal Employee 
Retirement System (FERS). The CSRS is a defined benefit plan, 
which is offset w ith  the Social Security System in certain cases. 
Plan benefits are determined on the basis of years of creditable 
service and compensation levels. The CSRS-covered employees 
also can contribute to the tax-deferred Federal Thrift Savings Plan 
(TSP).

The FERS is a three-part plan consisting of a basic defined benefit 
plan that provides benefits based on years of creditable service and 
compensation levels, Social Security benefits, and the TSP. Auto
matic and matching employer contributions to the TSP are provided 
up to specified amounts under the FERS.

During 1998, there was an open season that allowed employees to 
switch from CSRS to FERS. This did not have a material impact on 
FRF's operating expenses.

Although the FRF contributes a portion of pension benefits for e lig i
ble employees, it does not account for the assets of either retire
ment system. The FRF also does not have actuarial data for accu
mulated plan benefits or the unfunded liab ility  relative to eligible 
employees. These amounts are reported on and accounted for by 
the U.S. Office of Personnel Management (OPM).

Eligible FDIC employees also may participate in a FDIC-sponsored 
tax-deferred savings plan w ith  matching contributions. The FRF 
pays its share of the employer's portion of all related costs.

The FRF's pro rata share of the Corporation's liab ility  to employees 
for accrued annual leave is approximately $5.4 m illion and $11.2 
million at December 31,1998 and 1997, respectively.
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Pension Benefits and Savings Plans Expenses

D o l l a r s  i n  T h o u s a n d s
For the Year Ended For the Year Ended
December 31,1998 December 31,1997

CSRS/FERS Disability Fund $ 308 $ 168
Civil Service Retirement System 1,382 2,047
Federal Employee Retirement System (Basic Benefit) 4,438 9,473
FDIC Savings Plan 2,619 4,893
Federal Thrift Savings Plan 1,675 3,264
Total $ 10,422 $ 19,845
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14. Postretirement Benefits Other Than Pensions

On January 2,1998, FRF’s obligation under SFAS No. 106, "Employ
ers' Accounting fo r Postretirement Benefits Other Than Pensions," 
for postretirement health benefits was reduced when over 6,500 
employees enrolled in the Federal Employees Health Benefits 
(FEHB) Program for their future health insurance coverage. The 
0PM assumed the FRF's obligation for postretirement health bene
fits  for these employees at no in itia l enrollment cost.

In addition, legislation was passed that allowed the remaining 
2,600 retirees and near-retirees (employees w ith in  five years of 
retirement) in the FDIC health plan to also enroll in the FEHB 
Program for their future health insurance coverage, beginning

January 1,1999. The OPM assumed the FRF's obligation for postre
tirem ent health benefits for retirees and near-retirees for a fee of 
$32 million. The OPM is now responsible for postretirement health 
benefits for all employees and covered retirees. The FDIC w ill con
tinue to be obligated for dental and life insurance coverage for as 
long as the programs are offered and coverage is extended to 
retirees.

OPM's assumption of the health care obligation constitutes both a 
settlement and a curtailment as defined by SFAS No. 106. This 
conversion resulted in a gain of $39 m illion to the FRF.
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Postretirement Benefits Other Than Pensions

D o l l a r s  i n  T h o u s a n d s
1998 1997

Funded Status at December 31
Fair value of plan assets la> $ 14,337 $ 68,010

Less: Benefit obligation 14,337 81,614
Under/(Over) Funded Status of the plans $ 0 $ 13,604

Accrued benefit liab ility  recognized in the Statements of Financial Position $ 0 $ 19,099

Expenses and Cash Flows for the Period Ended December 31
Net periodic benefit cost $ (919) $ 1,150
Employer contributions 886 1,280
Benefits paid 886 1,280

Weighted-Average Assumptions at December 31
Discount rate 4.50% 5.75%
Expected return on plan assets 4.50% 5.75%
Rate of compensation increase 4.00% 4.00%

(a) Invested in U.S. Treasury obligations.

For measurement purposes, the per capita cost of covered health gradually each year to a rate of 7.75 percent for the year 2000 
care benefits was assumed to increase by an annual rate of 8.75 and remain at that level thereafter, 
percent for 1998. Further, the rate was assumed to decrease

15. Commitments and Concentration of Credit Risk

Commitments

Letters of Credit
The RTC had adopted special policies that included honoring out
standing conservatorship and receivership collateralized letters of 
credit. This enabled the RTC to minimize the impact of its actions 
on capital markets. In most cases, these letters of credit were 
issued by thrifts  that later failed and were used to guarantee tax 
exempt bonds issued by state and local housing authorities or other 
public agencies to finance housing projects for low and moderate 
income individuals or families. As of December 31,1998 and 1997, 
securities pledged as collateral to honor these letters of credit 
totaled $21.4 m illion and $51.4 million, respectively. The FRF 
estimated corporate losses related to the receiverships' letters of

credit as part of the allowance for loss valuation. The allowance 
for these losses was $7.6 m illion and $41.1 m illion as of 
December 31,1998 and 1997, respectively.

Leases
The FRF's allocated share of the FDIC's lease commitments totals 
$22.8 m illion for future years. The lease agreements contain esca
lation clauses resulting in adjustments, usually on an annual basis. 
The allocation to the FRF of the FDIC's future lease commitments is 
based upon current relationships of the workloads among the FRF, 
the BIF, and the SAIF. Changes in the relative workloads could 
cause the amounts allocated to the FRF in the future to vary from 
the amount shown below. The FRF recognized leased space 
expense of $6.3 m illion and $18.2 m illion for the years ended 
December 31,1998 and 1997, respectively.
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Lease Commitments

D o l l a r s  i n  

1999

T h o u s a n d s

2000 2001 2002 2003
2004 and 
Thereafter

$4,776 $4,313 $3,520 $3,149 $2,035 $5,013

Concentration of Credit Risk

As of December 31,1998, the FRF had gross receivables from th rift 
resolutions totaling $73,3 billion, gross assets acquired from 
assisted thrifts  and terminated receiverships totaling $216 million, 
gross securitization funds held by trustee totaling $2.9 billion, and 
an investment in securitization residual certificates totaling $1.5 bil
lion. The allowance for loss against receivables from th rift resolu
tions totaled $71.9 billion, the allowance against the assets 
acquired from assisted thrifts  and terminated receiverships totaled

$152 million, and the allowance against the securitization funds 
held by trustee totaled $0.1 billion.

Cash recoveries may be influenced by economic conditions. Sim
ilarly, the value of the investment in securitization residual cer
tificates can be influenced by the economy of the area relating to 
the underlying loans and other assets. Accordingly, the FRF's 
maximum exposure to possible accounting loss is the recorded 
(net of allowance) value and is also shown in the table below.

Concentration of Credit Risk at December 31,1998

D o l l a r s  i n  M i l l i o n s

Southeast Southwest Northeast Midwest Central West Total
Receivables from th rift
resolutions.net $313 $165 $200 $ 127 $ 72 $512 $ 1,389
Assets acquired from assisted thrifts  and 
terminated receiverships, net 0 42 1 0 0 21 64
Securitization funds held
by trustee 436 320 376 87 80 1,498 2,797
Investment in securitization
residual certificates 319 192 200 68 55 704 1,538
Total S 1,068 S 719 $777 $282 $207 $ 2,735 $ 5,788

16. Disclosures About the Fair Value of Financial Instruments

Cash equivalents are short-term, highly liquid investments and are 
shown at current value. The carrying amount of short-term receiv
ables and accounts payable and other liab ilities approximates their 
fa ir market value. This is due to their short maturities or compar
isons w ith  current interest rates.

The net receivables from th r ift resolutions primarily include the 
FRF's subrogated claim arising from payments to insured deposi
tors. The receivership assets that w ill ultimately be used to pay 
the corporate subrogated claim are valued using discount rates that 
include consideration of market risk. These discounts ultimately

affect the FRF's allowance for loss against the net receivables from 
th r ift resolutions. Therefore, the corporate subrogated claim indi
rectly includes the effect of discounting and should not be viewed 
as being stated in terms of nominal cash flows.

Although the value of the corporate subrogated claim is influenced 
by valuation of receivership assets (see Note 3), such receivership 
valuation is not equivalent to  the valuation of the corporate claim. 
Since the corporate claim is unique, not intended for sale to the pri
vate sector, and has no established market, it is not practicable to 
estimate its fa ir market value.
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The FDIC believes that a sale to the private sector of the corporate 
claim would require indeterminate, but substantial discounts for an 
interested party to profit from these assets because of credit and 
other risks. In addition, the tim ing of receivership payments to the 
FRF on the subrogated claim does not necessarily correspond w ith  
the tim ing of collections on receivership assets. Therefore, the 
effect of discounting used by receiverships should not necessarily 
be viewed as producing an estimate of market value for the net 
receivables from th rift resolutions.

Like the corporate subrogated claim, the securitization credit 
enhancement reserves involve an asset that is unique and is not 
intended for sale to the private sector. Therefore, it is not practica
ble to estimate the fa ir market value of the securitization credit 
enhancement reserves. These reserves are carried at net realizable 
value, which is the book value of the reserves less the related 
allowance for loss (see Note 4).

The majority of the net assets acquired from assisted thrifts  and 
terminated receiverships (except real estate) is comprised of vari
ous types of financial instruments, including investments, loans and 
accounts receivables. Like receivership assets, assets acquired 
from assisted thrifts  and terminated receiverships are valued using 
discount rates that include consideration of market risk. However, 
assets acquired from assisted thrifts  and terminated receiverships 
do not involve the unique aspects of the corporate subrogated 
claim, and therefore the discounting can be viewed as producing a 
reasonable estimate of fa ir market value.

The investment in securitization residual certificates is adjusted to 
its fa ir value at each reporting date using a valuation model which 
estimates the present value of estimated expected future cash 
flows discounted for the various risks involved, including both mar
ket and credit risks, as w ell as other attributes of the underlying 
assets.

17. Supplementary Information Relating to the Statements of Cash Flows

Reconciliation of Net Income to Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities

D o l l a r s  i n  T h o u s a n d s
For the Year Ended For the Year Ended
December 31,1998 December 31,1997

Net Income $ 1,729,691 $ 1,946,403
Adjustments to Reconcile Net Income to Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities

Income Statement Items:
Interest on Federal Financing Bank borrowings 18,068 124,322
Provision for losses (1,290,752) (1,744,690)
Gain on conversion of benefit plan (39,297) 0

OIG income recognized 0 792

Change jn Assets and Liabilities:
Decrease in receivables from th rift resolutions 663,799 3,360,072
Decrease in securitization funds held by trustee 2,152,129 779,071
Decrease in assets acquired from assisted thrifts  and terminated receiverships 61,928 335,624
Decrease in other assets 5,982 8,480
(Decrease) Increase in accounts payable and other liabilities (125,545) 20,772
(Decrease) in accrued interest on notes payable (28,950) (173,484)
Increase (Decrease) in liabilities from th rift resolutions 2,294 (6,998)
Increase in estimated liabilities for litigation losses 13,897 0

(Decrease) Increase in estimated liabilities for assistance agreements (1,476) 111,191
Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities S 3,161,768 $ 4,761,555
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Noncash Investing Activity

In October 1998, the FRF acquired securitization residual certifi
cates through a noncash purchase from its receiverships. This non
cash transaction valued at $1.8 billion was applied to amounts

owed by FRF receiverships which resulted in a reduction to the 
"Receivable from th rift resolutions, net" line item and the creation 
of the "Investment in securitization residual certificates" line item 
(see Note 5).

18. Year 2000 Issues

State of Readiness

The FDIC, as administrator for the FRF, is conducting a corporate- 
w ide effort to ensure that all FDIC information systems are Year 
2000 compliant. This means the systems must accurately process 
date and time data in calculations, comparisons, and sequences 
after December 31,1999, and be able to correctly deal w ith  leap- 
year calculations in 2000. The Year 2000 Oversight Committee is 
comprised of FDIC division management that oversees the Year 
2000 effort.

The FDIC's Division of Information Resources Management (DIRM) 
leads the internal Year 2000 effort, under the direction of the Over
sight Committee. DIRM used a five-phase approach for ensuring 
that all FDIC systems and software are Year 2000 compliant. The 
five phases are:

Awareness
The firs t phase of compliance focuses on defining the Year 2000 
problem and gaining executive-level support and sponsorship for 
the effort.

Assessment
The second phase of compliance focuses on assessing the Year
2000 impact on the Corporation as a whole.

Renovation
The third phase of compliance focuses on converting, replacing or 
elim inating selected platforms, applications, databases, and u tili
ties, w hile  modifying interfaces as appropriate.

Platform is a broad term that encompasses computer hardware 
(including mainframe computers, servers, and personal computers) 
and software (including computer languages and operating 
systems). U tility  programs, or "u tilities ," provide file  management 
capabilities, such as sorting, copying, comparing, listing and 
searching, as well as diagnostic and measurement routines that 
check the health and performance of the system.

Validation
The fourth phase of compliance focuses on testing, verifying and 
validating converted or replaced platforms, applications, databases, 
and utilities.

Implementation
The fifth  phase of compliance focuses on implementing converted 
or replaced platforms, applications, databases, utilities, and inter
faces.

The Awareness, Assessment, and Renovation phases are complete. 
The Validation phase is scheduled to be completed during January
1999 when all production applications w ill be validated for Year
2000 readiness. Implementation of the majority of production 
applications in Year 2000 ready status w ill be completed by March
31,1999. Validation and implementation of new systems and mod
ifications to existing systems w ill continue throughout 1999.

Year 2000 Estimated Costs

Year 2000 compliance expenses for the FRF are estimated at $2.1 
m illion and $201 thousand at December 31,1998 and 1997, respec
tively. These expenses are reflected in the "Operating expenses" 
line item of the FRF's Statements of Income and Accumulated 
Deficit. Future expenses are estimated to be $2.6 million. Year
2000 estimated future costs are included in the FDIC's budget.

Risks of Year 2000 Issues

No potential loss w ith  internal system failure has been estimated 
due to the extensive planning and validation that has occurred.

Contingency Plans

DIRM is currently developing a disaster recovery plan and contin
gency plans specific to  each mission-critical application.
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19. Subsequent Events

On April 9,1999, the United States Court of Federal Claims ruled 
that the federal government must pay Glendale Federal Bank $908.9 
m illion for breaching a contract that allowed the th rift to count 
goodwill toward regulatory capital. Both the p la intiffs  and the DOJ 
are expected to appeal the decision. Additionally, on April 16,
1999, in a sim ilar case, another judge of the U.S. Court of Federal 
Claims, using a different analysis than the one used by the judge in 
the Glendale Federal case, awarded California Federal Bank

$23 million. The California Federal Bank was seeking more than 
$1.0 billion in damages and is expected to appeal the decision. The 
analyses of the damage issues in the tw o cases appear to be irrec
oncilable. Due to the expected appeals and the conflicting analyses 
in the tw o cases, the final outcome is uncertain.
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Comptroller General 
of the United States
Washington, D.C. 20548

To the Board o f Directors
Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation

We have audited the statements o f financial position as o f December 31, 1998 and 1997, o f the three funds admin
istered by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (FDIC), the related statements o f income and fund balance 
(accumulated deficit), and the statements o f cash flows for the years then ended. In our audits o f the Bank 
Insurance Fund (BIF), the Savings Association Insurance Fund (SAIF), and the FSLIC Resolution Fund (FRF), 
we found
• the financial statements o f each fund were fairly presented in all material respects;

FDIC management fairly stated that internal control in place on December 31, 1998, was effective in assuring 
that there were no material misstatements in the financial statements o f the three funds administered by FDIC 
(including safeguarding assets from material loss), and assuring material compliance with selected laws and 
regulations; and
no reportable noncompliance with laws and regulations we tested.

The following sections discuss our conclusions in more detail. They also present information on (1) the scope o f 
our audits, (2) Year 2000 (Y2K) and insured financial institutions, (3) the current status o f the goodwill litigation 
cases, (4) the current status o f FRF’s liquidation activities and funding, (5) FDIC's progress in addressing a 
reportable condition1 identified during our 1997 audits, and (6) our evaluation o f the Corporation's comments on 
a draft o f this report.
Opinion on Bank Insurance Fund's Financial Statements
The financial statements and accompanying notes present fairly, in all material respects, in conformity with gener
ally accepted accounting principles, the Bank Insurance Fund’s financial position as o f December 31, 1998 and 
1997, and the results o f its operations and its cash flows for the years then ended.
Opinion on Savings Association Insurance Fund's Financial Statements
The financial statements and accompanying notes present fairly, in all material respects, in conformity with gener
ally accepted accounting principles, the Savings Association Insurance Fund’s financial position as o f December 
31, 1998 and 1997, and the results o f its operations and its cash flows for the years then ended.
Opinion on FSLIC Resolution Fund's Financial Statements
The financial statements and accompanying notes present fairly, in all material respects, in conformity with gener
ally accepted accounting principles, the FSLIC Resolution Fund’s financial position as o f December 31, 1998 and 
1997, and the results o f its operations and its cash flows for the years then ended.
As discussed in note 10 o f FRF's financial statements, a significant contingency exists from approximately 120 
lawsuits pending in the United States Court o f Federal Claims concerning the counting o f goodwill assets as part 
o f regulatory capital. Based on information currently available, a reasonable estimate cannot be made regarding 
future losses and settlements related to these cases. Information on the current status o f the goodwill cases is pre
sented later in this report.

'Reportable conditions involve matters coming to the auditor's attention relating to significant deficiencies in the 
design or operation o f internal control that, in the auditor's judgment, could adversely affect an entity’s ability to
(1) properly record, process, and summarize transactions to permit the preparation o f financial statements in accor
dance with generally accepted accounting principles (including safeguarding o f assets) and (2) ensure the execu
tion of transactions in accordance with laws and regulations that could have a direct and material effect on the 
financial statements.
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1

Opinion on FDIC Management's Assertions About the Effectiveness of Internal Control
For the three funds administered by FDIC, we evaluated FDIC management’s assertions about the effectiveness 
o f its internal control designed to provide reasonable assurance that the following objectives are met:
• reliability o f financial reporting -  transactions are properly recorded, processed, and summarized to permit 

the preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles (includ
ing safeguarding o f assets) and
compliance with applicable laws and regulations -  transactions are executed in accordance with laws and 
regulations that could have a direct and material effect on the financial statements.

FDIC management fairly stated that internal control in place on December 31, 1998, provided reasonable 
assurance that misstatements, losses, or noncompliance, material in relation to the financial statements would 
be prevented or detected on a timely basis. FDIC management made this assertion based on criteria established 
under the Federal Managers' Financial Integrity Act o f 1982 (FMFIA).
Compliance With Laws and Regulations
Our tests for compliance with selected provisions o f laws and regulations disclosed no instances of noncompli
ance that would be reportable under generally accepted government auditing standards. However, the objective 
o f our audits was not to provide an opinion on overall compliance with laws and regulations. Accordingly, we 
do not express such an opinion.
Objectives, Scope, and Methodology
FDIC's management is responsible for

preparing the annual financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles;
establishing, maintaining, and assessing internal control to provide reasonable assurance that the broad 

control objectives o f FMFIA are met; and
• complying with applicable laws and regulations.
We are responsible for obtaining reasonable assurance about whether
• the financial statements are free o f material misstatement and presented fairly, in all material respects, in 

conformity with generally accepted accounting principles and
• FDIC management's assertion about the effectiveness o f internal control is fairly stated, in all material 

respects, based upon the criteria established under FMFIA.
We are also responsible for testing compliance with selected provisions o f laws and regulations and for perform
ing limited procedures with respect to certain other information appearing in FDIC’s annual financial report.
In order to fulfill these responsibilities, we

examined, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements;
assessed the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management;

• evaluated the overall presentation o f the financial statements;
• obtained an understanding o f internal control related to financial reporting, including safeguarding assets, 

compliance with laws and regulations, including the execution o f transactions in accordance with manage
ment's authority;
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tested relevant internal controls over financial reporting, including safeguarding assets, and compliance, 
and evaluated management’s assertion about the effectiveness o f internal control; and
tested compliance with selected provisions o f the Federal Deposit Insurance Act, as amended; the Chief 
Financial Officers Act o f 1990; and the Federal Home Loan Bank Act, as amended.

We did not evaluate all internal controls relevant to operating objectives as broadly defined by FMFIA, such as 
those controls relevant to preparing statistical reports and ensuring efficient operations. We limited our internal 
control testing to those controls necessary to achieve the objectives outlined in our opinion on management's 
assertion about the effectiveness o f internal control. Because of inherent limitations in internal control, misstate
ments, losses, or noncompliance may nevertheless occur and not be detected. We also caution that projecting 
our evaluation to future periods is subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because o f changes 
in conditions or that the degree o f  compliance with controls may deteriorate.
We conducted our audits from July 1998 through May 1999. We did our work in accordance with generally 
accepted government auditing standards.
FDIC provided comments on a draft o f this report. FDIC's comments are discussed and evaluated in the 
"Corporation Comments and Our Evaluation" section.
Information on Y2K and Insured Financial Institutions
Insured financial institutions face an unprecedented challenge in preparing their computer systems for the Y2K 
date change. Banks and thrifts are vulnerable to Y2K problems due to their widespread reliance on computer sys
tems to make loans, invest deposits, transfer funds, issue credit cards, calculate interest, and handle routine busi
ness functions. In addition, many critical financial institution functions are dependent on public infrastructure 
such as telecommunications and electric power networks, which could also encounter difficulties or interruptions 
in service due to the Y2K problem.
Addressing the Y2K problem on time has been and will continue to be a tremendous challenge. FDIC, the Office 
o f the Comptroller o f the Currency, the Board o f Governors o f the Federal Reserve System, and the Office of 
Thrift Supervision (the regulators), have made considerable progress in assisting banks and thrifts in their Y2K 
efforts, and identifying those institutions at a high risk o f not remediating their systems on time. Since June 1996, 
when their Y2K oversight efforts began, FDIC and the other regulators have taken many important steps to alert 
financial institutions o f the risks associated with the Y2K problem and to assess institutions’ progress in mitigat
ing the risks.2
To raise awareness, FDIC and the other regulators issued letters to all insured banks and thrifts describing the 
Y2K problem and special risks facing financial institutions, and recommended approaches to planning and 
managing effective Y2K programs. In addition, the regulators provided extensive guidance to assist financial 
institutions in critical Y2K tasks, including guidance on (1) Y2K project management, (2) addressing Y2K 
business risks, (3) assessing risk from customers, service providers, and software vendors, (4) testing systems 
for Y2K readiness, (5) contingency planning, and (6) establishing effective Y2K customer awareness programs. 
FDIC and the other regulators have also undertaken extensive outreach efforts to raise the Y2K awareness of 
insured financial institutions and the public.

2Year 2000 Computing Crisis: Federal Depository Institution Regulators Are Making Progress. But Challenges 
Remain (GAQ/T-AIMD-98-305. September 17, 1998).
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To assess institutions’ progress in addressing Y2K issues, the regulators have performed a series of high-level and 
more detailed assessments for each institution.3 These supervisory efforts have generally been divided into three 
phases. Phase I focused on institutions’ awareness, assessment, and renovation efforts. Phase II focused on the 
institutions’ testing efforts and credit risk assessments. Phase III is currently in process and will continue 
throughout 1999, and will focus on implementation, business resumption and contingency planning, customer 
awareness initiatives, and liquidity planning. In addition, during Phase III the regulators plan to pay particular 
attention to those institutions identified as having risk for potential Y2K problems.
Based on Y2K assessments through April 30, 1999, the regulators have found that the vast majority o f financial 
institutions have acceptable performance in key phases o f the Y2K project management process, including aware
ness, assessment, renovation, testing, and implementation. As discussed in the notes to BIF’s and SAIF’s finan
cial statements, 97.7 percent o f insured financial institutions were rated by the regulators as having made satisfac
tory progress in their Y2K project management through Phase II. Those institutions held 98.7 percent o f industry 
assets. O f the remaining 2.3 percent o f institutions rated by the regulators as less than satisfactory, 216 institu
tions are rated as "needs improvement" and 21 institutions are considered as having made "unsatisfactory" 
progress. See figure 1.

Figure 1: Y2K Ratings for FDIC-Insured Institutions as of April 30, 1999

0 .2%
2 .1%

97.7%

■  Satisfactory (10,159 institutions)
H Needs Improvement (216 institutions)
□  Unsatisfactory (21 institutions)

Source: FDIC Division of Supervision.

Virtually all banks and thrifts rely on service providers and software vendors for at least a portion o f their data 
processing services. The regulators have also completed Phase II assessments o f service providers and software 
vendors that provide data processing services or software to the industry. O f the 257 service providers and 
software vendors examined, as o f April 30, 1999, the regulators reported that 97.3 percent showed satisfactory 
progress. O f the remaining servicers rated by the regulators as less than satisfactory, 5 were rated as "needs 
improvement" and 2 were rated as having made "unsatisfactory" progress. See figure 2.

3As a result o f these assessments, the regulators have assigned each institution one o f the following ratings: 
satisfactory, needs improvement, or unsatisfactory. Generally, institutions are considered "satisfactory" if  they 
exhibit acceptable performance in all key phases o f the Y2K project management process as set forth in the 
May 5, 1997, Federal Financial Institutions Examination Council (FFIEC) Interagency Statement. A "needs 
improvement" rating results from less than acceptable performance under FFIEC guidelines; however, project 
weaknesses can be readily corrected within the existing project management framework. An "unsatisfactory" 
rating results from poor performance under FFIEC guidelines where weaknesses are serious and are not easily 
corrected within the existing project management framework. See note 7 to BIF’s financial statements and 
note 6 to SAIF’s financial statements for additional information.
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Figure 2: Y2K Assessment Ratings for Service Providers and Software Vendors, as of April 30,1999

0 .8%

1.9%

97.3%

11 Satisfactory (250 companies)
0 Needs Improvement (5 companies)
□  Unsatisfactory (2 companies)

Source: FDIC Division of Supervision.

The FDIC and the other regulators have stated that they will focus additional attention throughout the remainder of
1999 on those institutions and service providers not rated satisfactory. Due to the short time frame remaining until 
the year 2000, the regulators have stated that they will adopt a more aggressive stance to achieve the necessary 
remedial action at institutions rated less than satisfactory.
Although the regulators reported that the vast majority o f institutions, service providers, and software vendors had 
made satisfactory progress on mitigating their Y2K risks through April 30, 1999, uncertainties still exist regarding 
the potential for Y2K problems. Y2K assessment ratings do not constitute certification of a financial institution’s 
Y2K readiness. They reflect an institution’s ongoing progress in addressing Y2K issues at a certain point in time.
It is possible that ratings could change over time. In addition, because o f the unprecedented nature o f the Y2K 
problem, unanticipated events could occur for which the institution was not prepared. Institutions are required, 
however, to design Y2K contingency plans to mitigate the risks associated with unsuccessful implementation of 
their Y2K efforts, and to provide assurance that core business functions will continue if  one or more computer 
systems fail. Institutions could also encounter difficulties due to the Y2K problems o f third parties. Therefore, it 
is difficult to determine which institutions, if  any, could ultimately fail due to potential Y2K problems.
As stated in the notes to FDIC’s financial statements, BIF and SAIF are subject to potential loss from financial 
institutions that may fail due to Y2K problems. In order to assess exposure to BIF and SAIF as a result o f poten
tial Y2K failures, FDIC evaluated Y2K assessment results, as well as the financial condition and supervisory 
ratings for all institutions. As o f December 31, 1998, FDIC has not identified any probable losses to BIF and 
SAIF from Y2K failures. Further, any reasonably possible losses from Y2K failures were not estimable as of 
December 31, 1998. During 1999, FDIC and the other regulators are continuing to collect data on the impact of 
banks’ and thrifts’ potential Y2K problems on the deposit insurance funds, and plan to take supervisory action as 
necessary to minimize any potential impact to the insurance funds.

Digitized for FRASER 
http://fraser.stlouisfed.org/ 
Federal Reserve Bank of St. Louis



Current Status of the Goodwill Litigation Cases
As discussed in note 10 o f FRF's financial statements, a significant contingency exists from approximately 120 
lawsuits pending against the United States government in the United States Court o f Federal Claims. These law
suits assert that certain agreements were breached when Congress enacted and the Office of Thrift Supervision 
implemented the Financial Institutions Reform, Recovery, and Enforcement Act (FIRREA), which affected the 
thrift industry. The legislation changed the computation for regulatory capital requirements, thereby eliminating 
the special accounting treatment previously allowed for goodwill assets acquired when institutions merged with or 
acquired failing thrifts. The changes in regulatory treatment o f goodwill assets caused some institutions to fall out 
o f capital compliance. In such cases, institutions had to take action to meet capital requirements or they were 
subject to regulatory action.
On July 1, 1996, the United States Supreme Court concluded that the government is liable for damages in three 
cases, consolidated for appeal to the Supreme Court, in which the changes in regulatory treatment required by 
FIRREA led the government to not honor its contractual obligations related to the accounting treatment o f good
will assets. The cases were then referred back to the Court o f Federal Claims for trials to determine the amount 
o f damages. On July 23, 1998, the Department o f the Treasury determined, based on an opinion o f the 
Department o f Justice, that FRF is legally available to satisfy all judgments and settlements in the goodwill litiga
tion involving supervisory action or assistance agreements, in which FSLIC was a party to those agreements. 
Treasury further determined that FRF is the appropriate source o f funds for payment o f any such judgments and 
settlements. During 1998, FDIC paid $103.3 million in settlements for four cases. Two o f the settlements were 
related to cases that had been consolidated for appeal to the Supreme Court.
Subsequent to December 31, 1998, damages awards in two goodwill-related cases have been decided. On April 9, 
1999, the Court o f Federal Claims ruled that the federal government must pay Glendale Federal Bank $908.9 mil
lion for breaching the contract that allowed the thrift to count goodwill toward regulatory capital.4 The plaintiffs 
were seeking up to $2 billion in damages. Both the plaintiffs and the Department o f Justice are expected to 
appeal the decision. In another case the Court o f Federal Claims awarded $23 million in damages on April 16,
1999, to California Federal Bank, which had been seeking more than $1 billion in damages. California Federal is 
expected to appeal the decision.
Because o f the expected appeals and the differences in awarding damages in the above cases, the final outcome of 
both cases is uncertain. With regard to the remaining cases, the outcome o f each case and the amount o f any pos
sible damages remain uncertain. However, FDIC has concluded that it is probable that FRF will be required to 
pay additional, possibly substantial amounts as a result o f future judgments and settlements. Because o f the 
uncertainties surrounding the cases, such losses are currently not estimable.
Current Status of FRF’s Liquidation Activities and Funding
FDIC, as administrator o f FRF, is responsible for liquidating the assets and liabilities o f the former Resolution 
Trust Corporation (RTC),5 as well as the former FSLIC’s assets and liabilities. As of December 31, 1998, FRF 
held total assets valued at $10.5 billion. O f that total, $4.6 billion was held in cash and investments, with $5.9 
billion remaining to be liquidated. As of December 31, 1998, FRF's liabilities had been reduced to $138 million. 
The reduction was mainly due to FRF paying off the note to the Federal Financing Bank, which was issued to 
RTC to provide working capital for RTC’s liquidation activities. In addition to the liabilities shown on FRF’s 
Statements o f Financial Position, FRF is subject to significant future contingent liabilities resulting from the good
will litigation cases, as noted in the previous section.
As o f December 31, 1998, FRF’s total accumulated deficit was $125.2 billion. FRF’s accumulated deficit repre
sents the realized losses to date for all RTC and FSLIC-related liquidation activity, as well as future estimated 
losses from assets and liabilities not yet liquidated. Uncertainties still exist with regard to the unrealized losses, 
and the final amount o f total losses will not be known with certainty until all remaining assets and liabilities are 
liquidated.

4Glendale Federal Bank was one of the three cases consolidated for appeal to the Supreme Court.

5On January 1, 1996, FRF assumed responsibility for all remaining assets and liabilities o f the former RTC.
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In total, $135.5 billion was received to cover liabilities and losses associated with the former FSLIC and RTC res
olution activities. O f the $135.5 billion total, $91.3 billion6 was received by RTC and $44.2 billion was received 
by FRF to cover losses and expenses associated with failed institutions from RTC’s caseload and to cover losses 
associated with the former FSLIC activities.
As shown in table 1, after reducing the total amount o f funding received by the amount o f recorded accumulated 
deficit, an estimated $10.3 billion in funds will remain available. FRF consists o f two distinct pools o f assets and 
liabilities: one composed of the assets and liabilities o f FSLIC transferred to FRF on August 9, 1989 (FRF-FSLIC) 
and the other composed o f the RTC assets and liabilities transferred to FRF on January 1, 1996 (FRF-RTC). O f 
the $10.3 billion in funds available, $2.1 billion is available to FRF-FSLIC and $8.2 billion is available to FRF- 
RTC.
Table 1: FR F ’s Estimated Funds Available as of December 31, 1998

(Dollars in billions)
FR F-FSLIC FRF-RTC Total FRF

Total funds received $ 44.2 $ 91.3 $ 135.5
Less: Accumulated deficit 42.1 83.1 125.2
Estimated funds available $ 2.1 $ 8.2 $ 10.3

Funds available in FRF-FSLIC will be used to pay future liabilities of the FRF-FSLIC, including the contingency 
related to the goodwill litigation cases. Because additional and possibly substantial amounts could be paid out of 
the FRF-FSLIC for the goodwill cases, FRF has been provided with an indefinite appropriation for the payment of 
judgments and settlements in the goodwill litigation, without fiscal year limitation.7
The RTC Completion Act requires FDIC to deposit in the general fund of the Treasury any funds transferred to 
RTC pursuant to the Completion Act but not needed for RTC-related losses. In total, RTC drew down $4.6 billion 
o f funding provided by the act. After providing for all outstanding RTC liabilities, FDIC must transfer to the 
Resolution Funding Corporation (REFCORP) the net proceeds from the sale o f RTC-related assets.
Any such funds transferred to REFCORP are to pay the interest on REFCORP bonds issued to provide funding for 
the early RTC resolutions. Any payments to REFCORP benefit the U.S. Treasury, which is otherwise obligated to 
pay the interest on the bonds. The final amount o f unused funds will not be known with certainty until all of 
FRF’s remaining assets and liabilities are liquidated.

"FIRREA provided an initial $50 billion to RTC. The Resolution Trust Corporation Funding Act o f 1991 provided 
an additional $30 billion. The Resolution Trust Corporation Refinancing, Restructuring, and Improvement Act o f 
1991 provided $25 billion in December 1991, o f which $6.7 billion was obligated prior to the April 1, 1992, dead
line. In December 1993, the RTC Completion Act removed the April 1, 1992, deadline, thus making the remain
ing $18.3 billion available to RTC for resolution activities. Prior to RTCs termination on December 31, 1995, 
RTC drew down $4.6 billion o f the $18.3 billion that was made available by the RTC Completion Act.

’Section 130 of the Department o f Justice Appropriation Act, 1999, appropriates for paying judgments against the 
United States and compromise settlements in the goodwill cases "such sums as may be necessary, to remain avail
able until expended." We believe section 130 establishes an indefinite, permanent appropriation. FDIC has not 
expressed a view on the permanency o f section 130 and the President’s budget proposes clarifying language for 
the fiscal year 2000 appropriation act, which is designed to provide FDIC with a permanent appropriation.
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Progress on Prior Year’s Reportable Condition
In our 1997 audit report8 on the three funds administered by FDIC, we identified one reportable condition that 
affected FDIC's ability to ensure that internal control objectives were achieved. The weakness related to FDIC's 
internal controls designed to ensure that assets valued outside o f FDIC’s Standard Asset Valuation Estimation 
(SAVE) process were accurately and appropriately valued. During our 1997 audits, we found significant errors in 
the estimated recoveries for a portfolio o f partnership interests, and we found unsupported recoveries and other 
errors in the estimated recoveries for another portfolio o f debt and equity securities.
During 1998, FDIC developed standard valuation methodologies for assets previously valued outside o f its SAVE 
process. FDIC’s objective was to establish consistent asset valuation methodologies for those assets. FDIC also 
clearly designated responsibility for valuing those assets and for reviewing completed valuations. While we con
tinued to find some instances where recovery estimates for FRF assets were not fully supported, we concluded 
that they were isolated problems that were not significant to FRF’s financial statements. We will discuss this 
matter further in a management letter.
We did not identify any reportable conditions during our 1998 audits. However, we noted other less significant 
matters involving FDIC’s internal accounting and electronic data processing general controls that we will be 
reporting separately to FDIC in two management letters.
Corporation Comments and Our Evaluation
In commenting on a draft o f this report, FDIC acknowledged the importance o f an effective internal control pro
gram, and stated a commitment to achieving corporate objectives by ensuring that the Corporation operates within 
an environment conducive to strong internal controls. FDIC also stated that it will continue to monitor the other 
matters discussed in the audit report, including the Y2K issues related to insured financial institutions, the good
will litigation cases, and FRF’s liquidation activities and funding. We also plan to monitor these issues as a part 
o f our audits o f FDIC’s 1999 financial statements.

David M. Walker 
Comptroller General 
o f the United States
May 14, 1999

fin an c ia l Audit: Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation's 1997 and 1996 Financial Statements (GAO/AIMD-98- 
204, June 29, 1998).
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Number and Deposits of BIF-lnsured Banks Closed 
Because of Financial Difficulties, 1934 through 19981
(Dollars in Thousands)

Y e a r

N um ber of 
In su re d  B a n k s

D e p o sits  of 
Insured  B a n k s

Total

W ithout 
d isb u rse m e n ts  

by F D IC

With 

d isb u rse m en ts  

by FD IC Total

W ithout 
d isb u rse m e n ts  

by F D IC

W ith 
d isb u rse m e n ts  

by F D IC A s s e ts

Total 2 ,0 8 4 19 2,065 $ 2 1 3 ,0 6 5 ,8 0 7 $ 4 ,2 9 8 ,8 1 4 $ 2 0 8 ,7 6 6 ,9 9 3 $ 2 5 2 ,9 5 7 ,7 5 2

1998 3 3 $ 3 3 5 ,0 7 6 $ 3 3 5 ,0 7 6 $ 3 7 0 ,4 0 0

1997 1 1 2 6 ,8 0 0 2 6 ,8 0 0 25,921

1996 5 5 1 68 ,22 8 1 68 ,22 8 182 ,50 2
1995 6 6 6 3 2 ,7 0 0 6 3 2 ,7 0 0 7 5 3 ,0 2 4

1994 13 12 1 ,2 3 6 ,4 88 1 ,2 3 6 ,4 88 1 ,3 9 2 ,1 40
1993 41 41 3 ,1 3 2 ,1 7 7 3 ,1 3 2 ,1 7 7 3 ,5 3 9 ,3 7 3
1992 120 10 110 4 1 ,1 5 0 ,8 9 8 4 ,2 5 7 ,6 6 7 3 6 ,8 93 ,23 1 4 4 ,1 9 7 ,0 0 9
1991 124 124 5 3 ,7 5 1 ,7 6 3 5 3 ,7 5 1 ,7 6 3 6 3 ,1 1 9 ,8 7 0
1990 168 168 1 4 ,4 7 3 ,3 0 0 1 4 ,4 73 ,30 0 1 5 ,6 6 0 ,8 0 0

1989 2 06 2 06 24,0 90 ,55 1 2 4 ,0 90 ,55 1 2 9 ,1 6 8 ,5 9 6
1988 2 00 2 00 2 4 ,9 3 1 ,3 0 2 2 4 ,9 3 1 ,3 0 2 3 5 ,6 9 7 ,7 8 9
1987 184 184 6 ,2 8 1 ,5 0 0 6 ,2 8 1 ,5 0 0 6 ,8 5 0 ,7 0 0
1986 138 138 6 ,4 7 1 ,1 0 0 6 ,4 7 1 ,1 0 0 6 ,9 9 1 ,6 0 0
1985 120 120 8 ,0 5 9 ,4 41 8 ,0 5 9 ,4 41 8 ,7 4 1 ,2 6 8

1984 79 79 2 ,8 8 3 ,1 6 2 2 ,8 8 3 ,1 6 2 3 ,2 7 6 ,4 11
1983 48 48 5 ,4 4 1 ,6 0 8 5 ,4 4 1 ,6 0 8 7 ,0 2 6 ,9 2 3
1982 4 2 42 9 ,9 0 8 ,3 7 9 9 ,9 0 8 ,3 7 9 1 1 ,6 32 ,41 5
1981 10 10 3 ,8 2 6 ,0 2 2 3 ,8 2 6 ,0 2 2 4 ,8 5 9 ,0 6 0
1980 10 10 2 1 6 ,3 0 0 2 1 6 ,3 0 0 2 3 6 ,1 6 4

1979 10 10 1 10 ,69 6 110 ,69 6 1 32 ,988
1978 7 7 8 5 4 ,1 5 4 8 5 4 ,1 5 4 9 9 4 ,0 3 5
1977 6 6 2 0 5 ,2 0 8 2 0 5 ,2 0 8 2 3 2 ,6 1 2
1976 16 16 8 6 4 ,8 5 9 8 6 4 ,8 5 9 1 ,0 3 9 ,2 93
1975 13 13 3 3 9 ,5 7 4 3 3 9 ,5 7 4 4 1 9 ,9 5 0

1974 4 4 1 ,5 7 5 ,8 32 1 ,5 7 5 ,8 32 3 ,8 2 2 ,5 9 6
1973 6 6 9 7 1 ,2 9 6 9 7 1 ,2 9 6 1 ,3 0 9 ,6 75
1972 1 1 2 0 ,4 8 0 2 0 ,4 8 0 2 2 ,0 5 4
1971 6 6 1 32 ,05 8 132 ,058 196 ,52 0
1970 7 7 5 4 ,8 0 6 5 4 ,8 0 6 6 2 ,1 4 7

1969 9 9 4 0 ,1 3 4 4 0 ,1 3 4 4 3 ,5 7 2
1968 3 3 2 2 ,5 2 4 2 2 ,5 2 4 2 5 ,1 5 4
1967 4 4 1 0,878 1 0,878 11,9 93
1966 7 7 1 03 ,52 3 103 ,52 3 120 ,64 7
1965 5 5 4 3,861 43,861 5 8 ,7 5 0

1964 7 7 2 3 ,4 3 8 2 3 ,4 38 2 5 ,8 4 9
1963 2 2 2 3 ,4 4 4 2 3 ,4 4 4 2 6 ,1 7 9
1962 1 1 0 3,011 3 ,011 0 N /A
1961 5 5 8 ,9 3 6 8 ,9 3 6 9 ,8 2 0
1960 1 1 6 ,9 3 0 6 ,9 3 0 7 ,5 0 6

1959 3 3 2 ,5 9 3 2 ,5 9 3 2 ,8 5 8
1958 4 4 8 ,2 4 0 8 ,2 4 0 8 ,9 0 5  •
1957 2 1 1 11,2 47 1 0,084 1 ,1 6 3 1 ,2 5 3
1956 2 2 1 1 ,3 30 1 1 ,3 30 1 2,914
1955 5 5 1 1 ,9 53 1 1 ,9 53 1 1,985

1954 2 2 9 98 998 1 ,138
1953 4 2 2 4 4,711 2 6 ,4 4 9 1 8,262 18,811
1952 3 3 3 ,1 7 0 3 ,1 7 0 2 ,3 8 8
1951 2 2 3 ,4 0 8 3 ,4 0 8 3 ,0 5 0
1950 4 4 5 ,5 1 3 5 ,5 1 3 4 ,0 0 5

1949 5 1 4 6 ,6 6 5 1 ,190 5 ,4 7 5 4 ,8 8 6
1948 3 3 1 0,674 10,6 74 1 0 ,3 60
1947 5 5 7 ,0 4 0 7 ,0 4 0 6 ,7 9 8
1946 1 1 347 3 4 7 351
1945 1 1 5 ,6 9 5 5 ,6 9 5 6 ,3 9 2

1944 2 2 1 ,915 1 ,9 1 5 2 ,0 9 8
1943 5 5 1 2,525 1 2 ,5 25 1 4,058
1942 20 20 1 9,185 1 9 ,1 85 2 2 ,2 5 4
1941 15 15 2 9 ,7 1 7 2 9 ,7 1 7 3 4 ,8 0 4
1940 43 43 1 42 ,43 0 1 42 ,43 0 1 61 ,898

1939 60 60 1 57 ,77 2 1 57 ,77 2 1 81 ,51 4
1938 74 74 5 9 ,6 8 4 5 9 ,6 8 4 6 9 ,5 1 3
1937 77 2 75 3 3 ,6 7 7 328 3 3 ,3 4 9 4 0 ,3 7 0
1936 69 69 2 7 ,5 0 8 2 7 ,5 0 8 3 1,941
1935 26 1 25 1 3 ,4 05 85 1 3 ,3 20 17,242

1934 9 9 1,968 1 ,968 2 ,661

1 Does not include institutions insured by the  Savings Association Insurance Fund (S A IF ), w hich w as established by the  
Financial Institutions R eform , Recovery, and E nforcem ent Act of 1989.

Digitized for FRASER 
http://fraser.stlouisfed.org/ 
Federal Reserve Bank of St. Louis



Recoveries and Losses by the Bank Insurance Fund
on Disbursements for the Protection of Depositors, 1934 through 1998
(Dollars in T h o u s a n d s )

ALL CASES1

Year

No.

of

banks

D isburse

m ents Recoveries

Estim ated

Additional

R ecoveries

Estim ated

Losses

Total 2,195 106,846,170 69,052,424 687,626 37,106,120

1998 3 286,086 5,434 101,676 178,976

1997 1 25,546 19,131 2,316 4,099

1996 5 169,397 117,980 11,884 39,533

1995 6 717,799 621,501 9,400 86,898

1994 13 1,224,797 1,022,285 20,389 182,123

1993 41 1,797,297 1,137,570 14,800 644,927

1992 122 14,084,663 10,262,276 156,722 3,665,665

1991 127 21,412,647 14,921,028 302,556 6,189,063

1990 169 10,816,602 8,004,529 38,672 2,773,401

1989 207 11,445,829 5,217,606 27,110 6,201,113

1988 280 12,163,006 5,238,503 505 6,923,998

1987 203 5,037,871 3,012,571 1,136 2,024,164

1986 145 4,790,969 3,014,714 25 1,776,230

1985 120 2,920,687 1,913,455 0 1,007,232

1984 80 7,696,215 6,056,061 0 1,640,154

1983 48 3,807.082 2,400,010 435 1,406,637

1982 42 2,275,150 1,106,579 0 1,168,571

1981 10 888,999 107,221 0 781,778

1980 11 152,355 121.675 0 30,680

1934-79 562 5,133,173 4,752.295 0 380,878

D e p o s it  p a y o ff c a s e s 2
No. Estim ated

of D isburse A dditional Estim ated

Year banks m ents R ecoveries Recoveries Losses

Total 603 14,469,299 9,874.652 56,090 4,538,557

1998 0 0 0 0 0

1997 0 0 0 0 0

1996 0 0 0 0 0

1995 0 0 0 0 0

1994 0 0 0 0 0

1993 5 261,203 158,669 621 101,913

1992 25 1,802,655 1,302,583 7,512 492,560

1991 21 1,468,407 979,700 15,956 472,751

1990 20 2,182,583 1,432,817 11,767 737,999

1989 32 2,116,556 1,243,740 18,965 853,851

1988 36 1,252,160 822,446 401 429,313

1987 51 2,103,792 1,399,216 868 703,708

1986 40 1,155,981 739,659 0 416,322

1985 29 523,789 411,175 0 112,614

1984 16 791,838 699,483 0 92,355

1983 9 148.423 122.484 0 25,939

1982 7 277,240 206,247 0 70,993

1981 2 35,736 34,598 0 1,138

1980 3 13,732 11,427 0 2,305

1934-79 307 335,204 310,408 0 24,796

D e p o s it  a s s u m p tio n  c a s e s A s s is t a n c e  t ra n s a c t io n s 1

Year

No.

of

banks

D isburse

m ents Recoveries

Estim ated

A dditional

Recoveries

Estim ated

Losses Year

No.

of

banks

D isburse

m ents Recoveries

Estim ated

A dditional

Recoveries

Estim ated

Losses

Total 1,451 $80,746,515 $52,978,709 $631,101 $27,136,705 Total 141 $11,630,356 $6,199,063 $435 $5,430,858

1998 3 286,086 5,434 101,676 178,976 1998 0 0 0 0 0

1997 1 25,546 19,131 2,316 4,099 1997 0 0 0 0 0

1996 5 $169,397 $117,980 $11,884 $39,533 1996 0 0 0 0 0

1995 6 717,799 621,501 9,400 86,898 1995 0 0 0 0 0

1994 13 1,224,797 1,022,285 20,389 182,123 1994 0 0 0 0 0

1993 36 1,536,094 978,901 14,179 543,014 1993 0 0 0 0 0

1992 95 12,280,522 8,958,457 149,210 3,172,855 1992 2 1,486 1,236 0 250

1991 103 19,938,123 13,938,235 286,600 5,713,288 1991 3 6,117 3,093 0 3,024

1990 148 8,629,084 6,569,115 26,905 2,033,064 1990 1 4,935 2,597 0 2,338

1989 174 9,326,725 3,973,614 8,145 5,344,966 1989 1 2,548 252 0 2,296

1988 164 9,180,495 4,226,946 104 4,953,445 1988 80 1,730,351 189,111 0 1,541,240

1987 133 2,773,202 1,612,642 268 1,160,292 1987 19 160,877 713 0 160,164

1986 98 3,476,140 2,209,566 25 1,266,549 1986 7 158,848 65,489 0 93,359

1985 87 1,631,166 1,095,604 0 535,562 1985 4 765,732 406,676 0 359,056

1984 62 1,373,198 941,674 0 431,524 1984 2 5,531,179 4,414,904 0 1,116,275

1983 35 2,893,969 1,850,553 0 1,043,416 1983 4 764,690 426,973 435 337,282

1982 25 268,372 213,578 0 54,794 1982 10 1,729,538 686,754 0 1,042,784

1981 5 79,208 71,358 0 7,850 1981 3 774,055 1,265 0 772,790

1980 7 138,623 110,248 0 28,375 1980 1 N/A N/A N/A N/A

1934-79 251 4,797,969 4,441,887 0 356,082 1934-79 4 0 0 0 0

1 Totals do not include dollar amounts for five open bank assistance transactions between 1971 and 1980. Excludes eight transactions prior to 1962 that 
required no disbursements. Also, disbursements, recoveries, and estimated additional recoveries do not include working capital advances to and 

repaym ents by receiverships.
* Includes insured deposit transfer cases.
3 For detail of years 1934 through 1979, refer to Table C  of the 1994 Annual Report.
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Income and Expenses, Bank Insurance Fund,
from Beginning of Operations, September 11,1933, through December 31,1998
(Dollars in Millions)

Year

In c o m e E x p e n s e s  a n d  L o s s e s

Total
Assessm ent

Income
Assessm ent

Credits

Investm ent 
and Other 
Sources

Effective
Assessm ent

Rate1 Total

Provision
for

Losses

Adm inistrative  
and Operating  

Expenses

Interest 
& O ther Ins. 

Expenses
Net Incom e/ 

(Loss)

Total $77,989.0 $53,134.4 $6,709.1 $31,563.7 $48,387.4 $34,430.0 $7,050.3 $6,907.1 $29,601.6

1998 2,000.3 21.7 0.0 1,978.6 0.0008% 691.5 (37.7) 697.6 31.6 1,308.8
1997 1,615.6 24.7 0.0 1,590.9 0.0008% 177.3 (503.7) 605.2 75.8 1,438.3
1996 1,655.3 72.7 0.0 1,582.6 0.0024% 254.6 (325.2) 505.3 74.5 1,400.7
1995 4,089.1 2,906.9 0.0 1,182.2 0.1240% 483.2 (33.2) 470.6 45.8 3,605.9
1994 6,467.0 5,590.6 0.0 876.4 0.2360% (2,259.1) (2,873.4) 423.2 191.1 8,726.1
1993 6,430.8 5,784.3 0.0 646.5 0.2440% (6,791.4) (7,677.4) 388.5 497.5 13,222.2
1992 6,301.5 5,587.8 0.0 713.7 0.2300% (625.8) (2,259.7) 570.8 2 1,063.1 6,927.3
1991 5,790.0 5,160.5 0.0 629.5 0.2125% 16,862.3 15,476.2 284.1 1 ,102.0 (11,072.3)
1990 3,838.3 2,855.3 0.0 983.0 0 .1200% 13.003.3 12,133.1 219.6 650.6 (9,165.0)

1989 3,494.6 1,885.0 0.0 1,609.6 0.0833% 4,346.2 3,811.3 213.9 321.0 (851.6)
1988 3,347.7 1,773.0 0.0 1,574.7 0.0833% 7,588.4 6,298.3 223.9 1,066.2 (4,240.7)
1987 3,319.4 1,696.0 0.0 1,623.4 0.0833% 3,270.9 2,996.9 204.9 69.1 48.5
1986 3,260.1 1,516.9 0.0 1,743.2 0.0833% 2,963.7 2,827.7 180.3 (44.3) 296.4
1985 3,385.4 1,433.4 0.0 1,952.0 0.0833% 1.957.9 1,569.0 179.2 209.7 1,427.5

1984 3,099.5 1,321.5 0.0 1,778.0 0.0800% 1,999.2 1,633.4 151.2 214.6 1,100.3
1983 2,628.1 1,214.9 164.0 1,577.2 0.0714% 969.9 675.1 135.7 159.1 1,658.2
1982 2,524.6 1,108.9 96.2 1,511.9 0.0769% 999.8 126.4 129.9 743.5 1,524.8
1981 2,074.7 1,039.0 117.1 1,152.8 0.0714% 848.1 320.4 127.2 400.5 1,226.6
1980 1,310.4 951.9 521.1 879.6 0.0370% 83.6 (38.1) 118.2 3.5 1,226.8

1979 1,090.4 881.0 524.6 734.0 0.0333% 93.7 (17.2) 106.8 4.1 996.7
1978 952.1 810.1 443.1 585.1 0.0385% 148.9 36.5 103.3 9.1 803.2
1977 837.8 731.3 411.9 518.4 0.0370% 113.6 20.8 89.3 3.5 724.2
1976 764.9 676.1 379.6 468.4 0.0370% 212.3 28.0 180.4 3 3.9 552.6
1975 689.3 641.3 362.4 410.4 0.0357% 97.5 27.6 67.7 2.2 591.8

1974 668.1 587.4 285.4 366.1 0.0435% 159.2 97.9 59.2 2.1 508.9
1973 561.0 529.4 283.4 315.0 0.0385% 108.2 52.5 54.4 1.3 452.8

1933-72* 5,793.0 6,332.8 3,120.3 2,580.5 630.4 64.5 559.9 4 6.0 5,162.6

, T h e  e ffe c tive  ra tes  from  1 9 5 0  throug h 1 9 8 4  vary  from  th e  s ta tu to ry  ra te  o f 0 .0 8 3 3  p e rce n t du e  to a s s e s s m e n t cred its  prov id ed  in those  
y ea rs . T h e  s ta tu to ry  ra te  in cre a se d  to 0 .1 2  p ercen t in 1 9 9 0  and  to a  m in inum  o f 0 .1 5  p e rce n t in 1 9 9 1 . T h e  e ffe c tiv e  ra tes  in 1991  
and 1 9 9 2  v ary  b e c a u s e  th e  F D IC  e xe rc is ed  new  authority  to  in cre a se  a s s e s s m e n ts  a b o ve  th e  s ta tu to ry  ra te  w h e n  n e e d e d . Beginning  
in 1 9 9 3 , th e  e ffe c tive  rate  is b a se d  on a  risk -re la ted  p rem iu m  s y s te m  un d e r w h ich  institutions pay  a s s e s s m e n ts  in th e  range  o f 0 .2 3  
pe rce n t to 0 .31 percen t. In M a y  1 9 9 5 , th e  B IF  reach ed  th e  m a n d ato ry  re ca p ita liza tio n  leve l o f 1 .2 5 % . A s  a  result, th e  a ss e s s m e n t rate  
w a s  reduced  to 4 .4  c en ts  p e r $ 1 0 0  o f insured  deposits  and  a s s e s s m e n t p re m iu m s  to taling  $ 1 .5  billion w e re  re funded  in S e p te m b e r  199 5 .

2 Inc ludes  $ 2 1 0  m illion fo r th e  c u m u la tiv e  e ffe c t o f an accounting  c h an g e  fo r certa in  po s tre tirem e n t benefits , 

j  Inc ludes  $ 1 0 5 .6  m illion n e t loss  on g o v e rn m e n t securities .

< Inc ludes  $ 8 0 .6  m illion o f in te res t pa id  on cap ita l stock  b e tw e e n  1 9 3 3  and  1 9 4 8 .

*F o r  d e ta il o f y ea rs  1 9 3 3  th roug h  1 9 7 2 , p lea s e  re fer to th e  1 9 9 6  a n n u a l report.
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Estimated Insured Deposits and the Bank Insurance Fund, December 31,1934, through 1998

(D o lla r s  in  M i l l io n s )

Est. D eposits  in Insured  Banks In su ra n c e  Fund as a P ercen tag e  o f

In su ra n c e Tota l D om estic In su re d 2 P erc en tag e  o f D e p o s it Insu rance Total Est. Insured

Y ea r1 C ov e ra g e D eposits Depos its Insu red  D eposits Fund D om estic  D epos its D eposits

1998 $10 0,0 00 $2,996 ,396 $2,141 ,268 71.5 $29 ,612 .3 0 .99 1.38

1997 100 ,000 2 ,785 ,990 2 ,055,874 73.8 28 ,292 .5 1.02 1.38

1996 100 ,000 2 ,642,107 2 ,007,447 7 6.0 26,854 .4 1.02 1.34

1995 1 00,000 2 ,575 ,966 1 ,952,543 75.8 25 ,453 .7 0 .99 1.30

1994 100,000 2 ,463 ,813 1 ,896,060 77.0 21,847 .8 0 .89 1.15

1993 100 ,000 2 ,493 ,636 1 ,906,885 76.5 13,121 .6 0 .53 0.69

1992 100 ,000 2 ,512 ,278 1 ,945,623 77.4 (100.6 ) (0 .00 ) (0 .01)

1991 100 ,000 2 ,520 ,074 1,957,722 77.7 (7 ,027 .9 ) (0 .28) (0 .36)

1990 100 ,000 2 ,540,930 1,929,612 75.9 4 ,044 .5 0 .16 0.21

1989 100 ,000 2 ,465,922 1,873,837 76.0 13,209 .5 0 .54 0 .70

1988 100 ,000 2 ,330 ,768 1 ,750,259 75.1 14,061.1 0 .60 0 .80

1987 100 ,000 2 ,201 ,549 1,658,802 75.3 18,301 .8 0 .83 1.10

1986 100 ,000 2 ,167 ,596 1 ,634,302 75.4 18,253.3 0 .84 1.12

1985 100 ,000 1,974,512 1 ,503,393 76.1 17,956 .9 0.91 1.19

1984 100 ,000 1,806,520 1,389,874 76.9 16,529.4 0 .92 1.19

1983 100 ,000 1,690,576 1 ,268,332 75.0 15,429.1 0.91 1.22

1982 100 ,000 1,544,697 1,134,221 73.4 13,770.9 0 .89 1.21

1981 100 ,000 1,409,322 988 ,898 70.2 12,246.1 0 .87 1.24

1980 100 ,000 1,324,463 948 ,717 71.6 11,019 .5 0 .83 1.16

1979 4 0 ,0 00 1,226,943 808 ,555 65.9 9,792.7 0 .80 1.21

1978 4 0 ,0 00 1 ,145,835 760 ,706 66.4 8 ,796.0 0 .77 1.16

1977 4 0 ,0 00 1,050,435 692 ,533 65.9 7,992.8 0 .76 1.15

1976 4 0 ,0 0 0 941,923 628 ,263 66.7 7 ,268 .8 0 .77 1.16

1975 4 0 ,0 0 0 875,985 569,101 65.0 6 ,716 .0 0 .77 1.18

1974 4 0 ,0 00 833,277 520 ,309 62.5 6 ,124.2 0 .73 1.18

1973 2 0 ,0 00 766,509 465 ,60 0 60.7 5 ,615.3 0 .73 1.21

1972 2 0 ,0 00 697,480 419 ,756 60.2 5,158.7 0 .74 1.23
1971 2 0 ,0 00 610,685 374 ,568 61.3 4 ,739 .9 0 .78 1.27

1970 2 0,000 545,198 349,581 64.1 4 ,379 .6 0 .80 1.25
1969 2 0 ,0 00 495,858 313 ,085 63.1 4,051.1 0 .82 1.29

1968 1 5,000 491 ,513 296,701 60.2 3,749.2 0 .76 1.26

1967 15,000 448,709 261 ,149 58.2 3 ,485.5 0 .78 1.33

1966 15,000 401 ,096 234 ,150 58.4 3 ,252.0 0.81 1.39
1965 10,000 377 ,400 209 ,690 55.6 3 ,036.3 0 .80 1.45

1964 10,000 348,981 191,787 55.0 2,844.7 0 .82 1.48

1963 1 0,000 313 ,304 177,381 56.6 2 ,667.9 0 .85 1.50

1962 1 0,000 297 ,548 170,210 57.2 2 ,502.0 0 .84 1.47

1961 10,000 281,304 160,309 57.0 2 ,353.8 0 .84 1.47

1960 10,000 260 ,495 149,684 57.5 2,222.2 0 .85 1.48

1959 10,000 247,589 142,131 57.4 2,089.8 0 .84 1.47

1958 1 0,000 242 ,445 137,698 56.8 1,965.4 0.81 1.43

1957 10,000 225,507 127,055 56.3 1,850.5 0 .82 1.46
1956 1 0,000 219 ,393 121,008 55.2 1,742.1 0 .79 1.44

1955 10,000 212,226 116,380 54.8 1,639.6 0 .77 1.41

1954 10,000 203,195 110,973 54.6 1,542.7 0 .76 1.39

1953 10,000 193,466 105,610 54.6 1,450.7 0 .75 1.37

1952 10,000 188,142 101,841 54.1 1,363.5 0 .72 1.34

1951 10,000 178,540 96,713 54.2 1,282.2 0 .72 1.33

1950 10,000 167,818 9 1,359 54.4 1,243.9 0 .74 1.36

1949 5 ,000 156,786 76,589 4 8.8 1,203.9 0 .77 1.57

1948 5 ,0 0 0 153,454 7 5,320 49.1 1,065.9 0 .69 1.42

1947 5 ,0 0 0 154,096 76,254 49.5 1,006.1 0 .65 1.32

1946 5 ,0 0 0 148,458 7 3,759 49.7 1,058.5 0.71 1.44

1945 5 ,0 0 0 157,174 67,021 42.4 929.2 0 .59 1.39

1944 5 ,0 0 0 134,662 5 6,398 41.9 804.3 0 .60 1.43

1943 5 ,0 0 0 111,650 4 8,440 43.4 703.1 0 .63 1.45

1942 5 ,0 0 0 89,869 32,837 36.5 616 .9 0.69 1.88

1941 5 ,0 0 0 71,209 28,249 39.7 553 .5 0.78 1.96

1940 5 ,0 0 0 65,288 26,638 40.8 496 .0 0.76 1.86

1939 5 ,0 0 0 57,485 24,650 42.9 452.7 0 .79 1.84

1938 5 ,0 0 0 50,791 23,121 45.5 420 .5 0.83 1.82

1937 5 ,000 4 8,228 22,557 46.8 383.1 0 .79 1.70

1936 5 ,000 50,281 2 2,330 44.4 343.4 0.68 1.54

1935 5 ,000 4 5,125 20,158 44.7 306.0 0.68 1.52

193 4 3 5 ,000 4 0,060 18,075 45.1 291.7 0 .73 1.61

1 Starting in 1990 , deposits in insured banks exclude those deposits held by Bank Insurance Fund m embers that are insured by the Savings  

Association Insurance Fund and include those deposits held by Savings Association Insurance Fund m embers that are insured by the Bank

Insurance Fund.

3 Estim ated insured deposits reflect deposit information as reported in the fourth quarter FD IC  Quarterly Banking Profile.

Before 1991, insured deposits w ere estimated using percentages determined from the June 30 Call Reports.

3 Initial coverage was $ 2 ,500  from January 1 to June 3 0 ,1 9 3 4 .
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Income and Expenses, Savings Association Insurance Fund, by Year,
from Beginning of Operations, August 9,1989, through December 31,1998

(Dollars in Thousands)

Year

In c o m e E x p e n s e s  an d  L o s se s

Funding Transfer 
from the FSLIC 

Resolution Fund
Net Income/ 

(Loss)Total
Assessment

Income

Investm ent 
and Other 

Sources

Effective
Assessm ent

Rate Total

Provision
for

Losses

Interest 
& Other Ins. 

Expenses

Adm inistrative  

and Operating  
Expenses

Total $10,207,462 $8,534,451 $1,673,011 $511,383 $53,177 $741 $457,465 $139,498 $9,835,577

1998 583,859 15,352 568,507 0.002% 116,629 31,992 9 84,628 0 467,230
1997 549,912 13,914 535,998 0.004% 69,986 (1,879) 0 71,865 0 479,926
1996 5,501,684 5,221,560 280,124 0.204% (28,890) (91,636) 128 62,618 0 5,530,574
1995 1,139,916 970,027 169,889 0.234% (281,216) (321,000) 0 39,784 0 1,421,132

1994 1,215,289 1,132,102 83,187 0.244% 434,303 414,000 0 20,303 0 780,986
1993 923,516 897,692 25,824 0.250% 46,814 16,531 0 30,283 0 876,702
1992 178,643 172,079 6,564 0.230% 28,982 (14,945) (5) 43,932 35,446 185,107
1991 96,446 93,530 2,916 0.230% 63,085 20,114 609 42,362 42,362 75,723
1990 18,195 18,195 0 0.208% 56,088 0 0 56,088 56,088 18,195

1989 2 0 2 0.208% 5,602 0 0 5,602 5,602 2

FDIC- Insured Institutions Closed During 1998
(D ollars in Thousands)

Number
of FDIC Date of Receiver/

Bank Deposit Total Total Disburse Estimated Closing or Assum ing Bank
Name and Location Class Accounts Assets Deposits ments Loss1 Acquisition and Location

Bank Insurance Fund

Purchase and Assumption - All Deposits

Omni Bank SM 5,100 $38,319 $36,322 $36,575 $2,317 04/09/98 Shore Bank
River Rouge, Ml Detroit, Ml

Best Bank NM 5,500 $318,024 $285,657 $237,198 $171,586 07/23/98 Pueblo Bank and Trust Company
Boulder, CO Pueblo, CO

Q Bank SM 2,100 $14,057 $13,097 $12,313 $5,073 08/07/98 Heritage State Bank
Fort Benton, MT Fort Benton, MT

Savings Association Insurance Fund

No closings during 1998.

Codes fo r Bank Class: NM = State-chartered bank that is not a member of the Federal Reserve System.

SM = State-chartered bank that is a member of the Federal Reserve System.

1 Estimated losses are as of 12/31/98. Estimated losses are routinely adjusted with updated information from new appraisals and asset sales, which ultimately 
affect the asset values and projected recoveries.

Estimated Insured Deposits and the Savings Association Insurance Fund, December 31,1989, through 1998

(D o lla rs  in M ill io n s )

Est. Deposits  in Insured Institutions Insurance Fund as a Percentage of

Insurance Total Dom estic Insured* Percentage of Deposit Insurance Total Est. Insured

Y ear1 C overage Deposits Deposits Insured Deposits Fund Dom estic  Deposits Deposits

1998 $100,000 $751,413 $708,959 94.4 $9,839.8 1.31 1.39

1997 100,000 721,503 690,132 95.7 9,368.3 1.30 1.36

1996 100,000 708,749 683,090 96.4 8,888.4 1.25 1.30

1995 100,000 742,547 711,017 95.8 3,357.8 0 .45 0.47

1994 100,000 720,823 692,626 96.1 1,936.7 0.27 0.28

1993 100,000 726,473 695,158 95.7 1,155.7 0.16 0.17

1992 100,000 760,902 729,458 95.9 279 .0 0.04 0.04

1991 100,000 810,664 776,351 95.8 93.9 0.01 0.01

1990 100,000 874,738 830,028 94.9 18.2 0.00 0.00
1989 100,000 948,144 882,920 93.1 0.0 0.00 0.00

1 Starting in 1990, deposits in insured institutions exclude those deposits held by Savings Association Insurance Fund members that are insured by the Bank 

Insurance Fund and include those deposits held by Bank Insurance Fund members that are insured by the Savings Association Insurance Fund.
2 Estimated insured deposits reflect deposit information as reported in the fourth quarter FDIC Quarterly Banking Profile.

Before 1991, insured deposits were estimated using percentages determined from the June 30  Call Reports.
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Number, Assets, Deposits, Losses, and Loss to Funds of Insured Thrifts Taken Over or 
Closed Because of Financial Difficulties, 1989 through 1998 1

(Dollars in Thousands)

Year 2 Total Assets Deposits

Estimated 
Receivership 

Loss 3
Loss to 

Funds 4
Total 749 395,060,996 318,363,296 74,445,350 83,128,716

1998 0 0 0 0 0
1997 0 0 0 0 0
1996 1 32,576 32,745 17,501 17,501
1995 2 435,133 418,575 37,896 44,056
1994 2 136,815 127,508 11,552 14,679
1993 10 7,178,794 5,708,253 312,005 414,796
1992 59 44,196,946 34,773,224 3,185,539 3,902,863
1991 144 78,898,704 65,173,122 8,531,463 9,674,862
1990 213 129,662,398 98,963,960 16,213,405 19,625,597

1989 5 318 134,519,630 113,165,909 46,135,989 49,434,362

1 Prior to July 1, 1995, all thrift closings were the responsibility of the Resolution Trust Corporation 
(RTC). Since the RTC was terminated on December 31, 1995, and all assets and liabilities transferred 
to the FSLIC Resolution Fund (FRF), all the results of the thrift closing activity from 1989 through 
1995 are now reflected on FRF's books. The Savings Association Insurance Fund (SAIF) became 
responsible for all thrifts closed after June 30, 1995; there has been only one such failure.
Additionally, SAIF was appointed receiver of one thrift (Heartland FSLA) on October 8, 1993, because, 
at that time, RTC's authority to resolve FSUC-insured thrifts had not yet been extended by the RTC 
Completion Act.

2 Year is the year of failure, not the year of resolution.

3 The estimated losses represent the projected loss at the fund level from receiverships for unreimbursed subrogated 
claims of the FRF/SAIF and unpaid advances to receiverships from the FRF.

4 The Loss to Funds represents the total resolution cost of the failed thrifts in the SAIF and FRF-RTC funds, which 
includes corporate revenue and expense items such as interest expense on Federal Financing Bank debt, interest 
expense on escrowed funds, and interest revenue on advances to receiverships, in addition to the estimated losses 
for receiverships.

5 Total for 1989 excludes nine failures of the former FSLIC.
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Sources of Inform ation

Public Inform ation Center 
801 17th S treet, NW  
Washington, DC 2 0434

Phone: 800-276-6003 or
202-416-6940

Fax: 202-416-2076

E-mail: publicinfo@fdic.gov

FDIC publications, press releases, 
speeches and Congressional 
testimony, directives to financial 
institutions and other documents 
are available through the Public 
Information Center. These docu
ments include the Quarterly Banking 
Profile, Statistics on Banking and 
a variety of consumer pamphlets.

O ffice of the Ombudsman 
550  17th Street, NW  
W ashington, DC 20429

Phone: 800-250-9286 or 
202-942-3500 

Fax: 202-942-3040 or
202-942-3041 

E-mail: ombudsman@fdic.gov

The Office of the Ombudsman 
responds to inquiries about the 
FDIC in a fair, impartial and timely 
manner. It researches questions 
and complaints from bankers, the 
public and FDIC employees on a 
confidential basis. The office also 
recommends ways to improve 
FDIC operations, regulations and 
customer service.

Division of Compliance 
and Consumer A ffa irs  
550  17th S treet, NW  
W ashington, DC 20429

Phone: 800-934-3342 or 
202-942-3100 

TDD/TTY: 800-925-4618 or 
202-942-3414 

Fax: 202-942-3427 or
202-942-3098 

E-mail: consumer@fdic.gov

The Division of Compliance and 
Consumer Affairs responds to 
questions about deposit insurance 
and other consumer issues and 
concerns, such as the Year 2000, 
and offers a number of educational 
publications geared to consumers.

Home Page on the Internet: 
http://w w w .fdic.gov

A wide range of banking, consumer 
and financial information is available 
on the FDIC's Internet home page. 
Information includes the FDIC's 
Electronic Deposit Insurance 
Estimator— "EDIE"— which 
estimates an individual's deposit 
insurance coverage; the Institution 
Directory— financial profiles of 
FDIC-supervised institutions; 
Community Reinvestment Act 
evaluations and ratings for banks 
and thrifts supervised by the FDIC; 
a Web site designed to help detect 
potentially fraudulent Internet 
banking activity; a listing of banks' 
pending applications that are 
subject to public comment; and 
Call Reports— banks' reports of 
condition and income. Readers 
also can access a variety of 
consumer pamphlets, FDIC press 
releases, speeches and other 
updates on the agency's activities, 
as well as corporate databases 
and customized reports of FDIC 
and banking industry information. 
Readers will be interested in the 
FDIC's new Year 2000 Web site 
and the fully searchable text 
of "FDIC Law, Regulations and 
Related Acts."
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Di v i s i on  of Super v i s i on  (DOS] I / D i v i s i o n  of  Compl i ance  and Consumer  A f f a i r s (DCA)

A tlanta Dallas N ew  York

One Atlantic Center 1910 Pacific Avenue 20 Exchange Place
1201 West Peachtree Street, NE Suite 1900 New York, New York 10005
Suite 1600 Dallas, Texas 75201 917-320-2500
Atlanta, Georgia 30309 214-754-0098
404-817-1300 Delaware New York

Colorado Oklahoma District of Columbia Pennsylvania
Alabama South Carolina New Mexico Texas Maryland Puerto Rico
Florida Virginia New jersey Virgin Islands
Georgia West Virginia
North Carolina

Boston Kansas City San Francisco

15 Braintree Hill Office Park 2345 Grand Avenue 25 Ecker Street
Braintree, Massachusetts 02184 Suite 1500 Suite 2300
781-794-5500 Kansas City, Missouri 64108 San Francisco, California 94105

816-234-8000 415-546-0160
Connecticut New Hampshire
Maine Rhode Island Iowa Nebraska Alaska Montana
Massachusetts Vermont Kansas North Dakota Arizona Nevada

Minnesota South Dakota California Oregon
Missouri Guam Utah

Hawaii Washington
Idaho Wyoming

Chicago

500 West Monroe Street 
Suite 3500
Chicago, Illinois 60661 
312-382-7500

Memphis

5100 Poplar Avenue 
Suite 1900
Memphis, Tennessee 38137 
901-685-1603

Illinois
Indiana
Michigan

Ohio
Wisconsin

Arkansas
Kentucky
Louisiana

Mississippi
Tennessee

DOS:
Examines and supervises state-chartered banks that are 
not members of the Federal Reserve System. Provides 
information about sound banking practices.

DCA:
Examines FDIC-supervised banks for compliance with 
consumer protection laws and the Community 
Reinvestment Act. Informs bankers and the public about 
deposit insurance and other consumer protections.

Digitized for FRASER 
http://fraser.stlouisfed.org/ 
Federal Reserve Bank of St. Louis



Selected Testimony and M ajor Speeches

€

Acting Chairm an Hove

Congressional Testimony

Chairman Tanoue

Congressional Testimony Speeches

March 10, 1998
Before the Senate Committee 
on Banking, Housing, and Urban 
Affairs, on financial regulatory relief 
and economic efficiency.

April 29, 1998
Before the House Committee on 
Banking and Financial Services, on 
mergers in the financial services 
industry.

Speeches

March 3, 1998
To the Independent Bankers 
Association of America, on com
petitive challenges facing the bank
ing industry.

May 2, 1998
To the Conference of State Bank 
Supervisors, on mergers between 
large banks and mergers between 
banks and other financial service 
providers.

June 25,1998
Before the Senate Committee 
on Banking, Housing, and Urban 
Affairs, on financial modernization.

July 16, 1998
Before the House Committee 
on Banking and Financial Services' 
Subcommittee on Financial 
Institutions and Consumer Credit, 
on regulatory relief.

September 17, 1998
Before the House Committee on 
Banking and Financial Services, on 
addressing the Year 2000 date 
change.

October 1, 1998
Before the House Committee 
on Banking and Financial 
Services, on Long-Term Capital 
Management, L.P.

September 2, 1998
To the National Bankers Association, 
on challenges facing the FDIC.

September 27, 1998
To the American Bankers 
Association, on the risk-based 
premium system and risks to the 
insurance funds.

November 19, 1998
To the Community Bankers 
Association of New York State, 
on three deposit insurance-related 
issues: preparing computer systems 
for the Year 2000 date change, 
emerging risks, and refinements 
being considered for the risk-based 
premium system.

These and other statements are available from the Public 
Information Center listed on Page 127. Some of these 
statements are also available on the FDIC's Internet home 
page (www.fdic.gov).
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